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This financial report covers the consolidated  
entity comprising ImpediMed Limited (the “Par-
ent” or “Company”) with its wholly-owned subsid-
iaries (the “Group”). The Parent’s functional and 
presentation currency and the Group’s presenta-
tion currency is the Australian dollar (AUD or $). 
A description of the Group’s operations and of its 
principal activities is included in the operating 
and financial review in the Directors’ Report. The  
Directors’ Report is not part of the financial report.
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Scott Ward 
Chairman of the Board

On behalf of ImpediMed’s Board of Directors and 
Management, I am pleased to present the Annu-
al Report for ImpediMed Limited (ImpediMed or 
the Company) for the 2018 financial year. This 
has been a transformative year for the Company, 
as we began our evolution to a connected digital 
health platform through SOZO. The Company con-
tinued to execute on its strategy by achieving a 
number of important milestones during the year, 
which Richard Carreon will describe in detail in 
his CEO Letter.

Board Composition 

I was appointed Chairman of the Board following 
the retirement of Dr Cherrell Hirst AO at our No-
vember 2017 Annual General Meeting. Cherrell 
was a Member of our Board for over 12 years and 
she served as the Chair for six years. We are very 
grateful for Cherrell’s leadership, her many contri-
butions to ImpediMed and her extraordinary com-
mitment to improve the quality of care for breast 
cancer patients across the world. 

I am pleased that we have a strong Board of Di-
rectors at ImpediMed. Over the past two years, 
we have added several new Board Members with 
strong core competencies in business manage-
ment, finance, accounting, digital health, reim-
bursement and healthcare economics. In 2017, 
we announced the appointment of Professor 
Robert (Bob) Graham to the Board. As a leading 
cardiologist, Dr Graham will bring critical medical 
judgement and perspective to our organization.  
He has a wealth of experience in both the Austra-
lian and US cardiovascular markets, as an Execu-

tive Director at the Victor Chang Cardiac Research 
Institute in Sydney, Australia and over 17 years of 
experience in US healthcare.

Taken in total, our Board has the experience and 
skill necessary to assure sound governance while 
also providing effective support and guidance for 
management as, together, we build ImpediMed 
into a high growth, global medical technology 
company. 

ImpediMed’s Corporate Governance Statement, 
which accompanies the release of the Annual 
Report, outlines the corporate governance prac-
tices currently in place for the Company and also 
addresses the 3rd Edition of the ASX Corporate 
Governance Council’s Corporate Governance Prin-
ciples and Recommendations (ASX Recommen-
dations). The Board continues to review the gov-
ernance framework and practices of the Company 
to ensure they meet the interests of shareholders 
and other stakeholders.

Gratitude

On behalf of our entire Board, I would like to extend 
our gratitude to all of our ImpediMed employees 
for their dedication to our company and their pas-
sionate commitment to the patients that we serve. 
We also extend our thanks and congratulations 
to our Managing Director and CEO, Rick Carreon, 
and the Management Team. Under Rick’s leader-
ship, ImpediMed has transformed into a Mission 
driven, patient-centric company focused on the 
development and commercialization of SOZO 
bioimpedance spectroscopy for the treatment of 
lymphedema and chronic heart failure.  

And finally, thank you to our shareholders for 
your ongoing support. We look to the future with 
a sense of determination and great enthusiasm 
as we focus on driving adoption of our technology 
and building sustainable revenue growth through 
our subscription business model. As always, we 
look forward to engaging with you throughout the 
year and at our 2018 Annual General Meeting.  
  
Yours sincerely,

Scott Ward
Chairman
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Richard Carreon 
Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer 

Dear Shareholders,

It has been a very important and successful year 
for the organisation as we expanded our signifi-
cant body of clinical evidence, achieved multiple 
regulatory milestones, continued to focus on our 
reimbursement strategy, and began our initial 
launch of SOZO in the US, marking a transition to 
a subscription revenue business model.

As we enter the 2019 financial year, we enter our 
first full year with SOZO available in the US market. 
Based on feedback we have received from cus-
tomers thus far, we are very excited for the coming 
year as we expand our footprint in the US market 
and make a positive impact by improving the qual-
ity of life of the patients utilising our technology.

Financial Results
Revenue and Key Metrics

Total recognised revenue in the medical operating 
segment decreased by 27% year-over-year to $3.5 
million for the 2018 financial year (2017: $4.8 mil-
lion). The decrease in Medical Revenue occurred 
as we began transitioning the business to a sub-
scription revenue model in conjunction with the 
introduction of the SOZO Digital Health Platform.  

This transition to a subscription revenue model 
caused a shift in how the Group recognises rev-
enue. Under the capital equipment and consum-
able model, revenue was typically recognised upon 
shipment of tangible products. Under our updated 

model, revenue related to subscription services is 
recognised over the life of the contract. 

In our glossary of terms on page 26 of the Direc-
tors’ Report we provide detailed definitions of the 
key metrics that are likely to drive value under the 
Subscription Business Model. In Q4 of this year, 
subscription revenue accounted for 10% of the 
Group’s quarterly Medical Revenue, which was an 
increase from 3% in Q3, the first full quarter since 
initial lauch of SOZO.

We introduced SOZO to the US market in Q2 of the 
2018 financial year and in just over six months 
have built up a Contracted Revenue Pipeline of 
$3.5 million, equal to the recognised revenue for all 
of FY2018, and Annual Recurring Revenue of $1.3 
million. We are very encouraged by the positive 
reception to SOZO to date and with the early feed-
back we are receiving from clinicians using SOZO.

The SOZO Digital Health Platform gives us the abil-
ity to increase contract value for each customer 
over time by the addition of incremental SOZO 
units, new indications and new modules.

Cash on hand at 30 June 2018 was $31.3 mil-
lion and net cash used in operating activities 
was $23.5 million for the financial year. With the 
initial product development for SOZO hardware 
complete, regulatory clearances behind us, and 
a significant body of clinical evidence, the Group 
remains in a strong position to invest in the areas 
critical for sustained acceleration of revenue over 
the course of the 2019 financial year. We enter the 
2019 financial year with a Contracted Revenue 
Pipeline of $3.5 million from the initial support of 
SOZO and a continued focus on financial disci-
pline.

We will continue to update you on the progress 
and growth of our metrics and we look forward to 
having you join us in the 2019 financial year as we 
fully transition to our subscription revenue model.
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Investment Highlights  
and Key Milestones

The Cancer Survivorship and Chronic Heart  
Failure markets are both large and attractive mar-
kets, each representing market sizes of well over 
$1 billion per annum. With SOZO, we now have 
a highly disruptive, non-invasive technology for 
the clinical monitoring of tissue composition and 
fluid status that is capable of addressing these 
markets by way of accelerated and sustainable 
revenue streams.

Significant Body of Clinical Evidence

We continued to effectively build a significant 
body of clinical evidence, which will likely further 
drive adoption of our technology throughout the 
2019 financial year.

Multiple, independent, investigator-led clinical 
studies have reported significantly lower rates 
of clinical grade lymphoedema by monitoring 
patients with L-Dex® and intervening. The peer- 
reviewed publications have monitored over 1,400 
patients, utilising prospective screening and inter-
vention for breast cancer related lymphoedema. 

For ImpediMed’s multi-centre, prospective, ran-
domised controlled PREVENT Trial, the principal 
investigator released pre-specified interim analy-
sis at the end of the 2018 calendar year. The aim of 
the trial is to achieve a relative 20% improvement 
over the standard of care - a tape measure. Early 
results demonstrate a 67% relative improvement 
in progression to clinical grade lymphoedema in 
the L-Dex arm compared to tape measure arm. 

We have been working with world leading institu-
tions on Chronic Heart Failure (CHF) trials, with 
first data being presented at the World Congress 
of Heart Disease in the first quarter of the 2019 
financial year. In addition, peer-reviewed publi-
cations have monitored approximately 250 CHF 
patients in five separate studies. Data from these 
initial studies has led to the initiation of a larger 
multi-centre study of approximately 200 patients 
and this study will be the catalyst for initiating 
broad market adoption for CHF with SOZO.

Regulatory Pathway 

During the 2018 financial year, we continued to 
make tremendous progress in clearing the reg-
ulatory pathway for our technology. Since June 
2017, the Group has achieved numerous regula-
tory clearances:

JUNE 2017
CE Mark achieved for SOZO in Australia and  
Europe, covering multiple indications including 
fluid status monitoring for heart failure, L-Dex for 
lymphoedema monitoring and hydration monitor-
ing.

AUGUST 2017
SOZO cleared for assessment of unilateral lymph-
oedema in the US.

DECEMBER 2017
SOZO cleared for fluid monitoring for CHF.

APRIL 2018
SOZO cleared for assessment of bilateral lymph-
oedema in the US.

Reimbursement and Guidelines

In January 2015, a dedicated Category I CPT® Code 
for L-Dex came into effect at U$112 per test in the 
US market. In July 2018, a proposed increase to 
this Category I CPT® Code was announced, which 
is expected to increase the amount per test to 
U$146, effective January 2019.

The expansion of published industry guidelines 
will also be a catalyst for ImpediMed in the com-
ing year, with a number of key guidelines already 
in place:

• The National Comprehensive Cancer Network  
 (NCCN) requires that breast cancer patients be  
 monitored for lymphoedema. 

• American Society of Clinical Oncology (ASCO)  
 and American Cancer Society (ACS) have issued  
 joint guidelines on managing lymphoedema. 
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• The American Physical Therapy Association  
 (APTA) has developed guidelines for using L-Dex  
 to monitor breast cancer patients and published  
 an evidence-based, clinical practice guideline for  
 lymphoedema diagnosis and management. 

• The National Accreditation Program for Breast  
 Centers (NAPBC) accreditation now requires a  
 survivorship care plan.

As we continue to expand our clinical body of  
evidence and as L-Dex continues to be published 
in industry guidelines, we will aim to see payments 
extended to private payors. ImpediMed is build-
ing a compelling case for private payors to initiate 
payments in the 2019 financial year and we ex-
pect that the introduction of private payors would  
further drive acceleration of the business.

The reimbursement pathway for CHF is vastly dif-
ferent than our journey thus far with L-Dex. Our 
technology will look to leverage existing codes for 
CHF and home monitoring to remotely manage 
patients. Our model is a strong fit to the evolving 
US reimbursement environment, as a shift occurs 
away from fee-for-service related reimbursement 
and to value based medicine. In addition, there 
are current guidelines in place for daily monitoring 
Class III patients for fluid burden in the US. 

We believe SOZO is uniquely positioned to  
replace current monitoring methods through our 
precise, non-invasive and cost-effective technol-
ogy. We are excited to make significant progress 
in optimising outcomes for CHF patient manage-
ment in the coming financial year and look forward 
to having you join us on that journey.

Thank you

Thank you to our Shareholders for your continued 
support. We look forward to delivering on our mile-
stones and updating you on key metrics through-
out the coming year.

As always, my sincere thanks goes out to all our 
ImpediMed team members and their families. 

Yours sincerely,

Richard Carreon
Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer
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Judith Downes 
BA(Hons), DipEd, GradDipBus(Acct), FAICD, FCPA, 
FCA, Non-Executive Director

Judith Downes was appointed to the Board in 
April 2017, chairs the Audit and Risk Manage-
ment Committee and serves on the Nomination 
Committee.

Judith brings over 20 years of accounting and  
senior management expertise to the Board with a 
strong focus on financial management and audit 

and risk management, with large ASX listed com-
panies. During her executive career, she held the 
roles of CFO at Alumina Limited (ASX: AWC) and 
as CFO/COO of Institutional Division, ANZ Banking 
Group Limited (ASX: ANZ). 

Judith currently serves as Board Chairman of 
Bank Australia Limited, and as a member of The 
Financial Reporting Council of Australia. She is a 
Fellow of the CPA, Chartered Accountants Austra-
lia and New Zealand, and Australian Institute of 
Company Directors. Judith is an Honorary Fellow 
of the University of Melbourne’s Faculty of Busi-
ness and Economics and is also a past member of 
the University of Melbourne’s finance committee.

Judith has significant experience in corporate 
governance, debt and equity raisings, financial 
reporting and Australian listing rules.

Listed company directorships held since 1 July 2015:

April-17

January-13

-

January-16

ImpediMed Limited 

Devine Limited

Directors DirectorsAnnual Report 2018 ImpediMed Limited

Scott Ward 
MS, BSc, Non-Executive Chairman

Scott Ward was appointed Chairman on 15 No-
vember 2017 and serves on the Nomination Com-
mittee. Scott is the Chairman of the Board, Presi-
dent and CEO of Cardiovascular Systems Inc. and 
a Managing Director at SightLine Partners.

Scott has over 30 years of experience in the 
healthcare industry, including nearly 30 years at 
Medtronic, Inc. He was the Senior Vice President 
and President of the CardioVascular business of 
Medtronic Inc., responsible for all worldwide op-
erations of the CardioVascular Business including 

the Coronary, Peripheral, Endovascular, Structural 
Heart Disease and Revascularization and Surgical 
Therapies businesses. Previously, Scott served as 
Senior Vice President and President of Medtronic 
Neurological and Diabetes, with responsibility for 
the global Neurological, Neurologic Technologies, 
Diabetes, Gastroenterology and Urology business-
es; Vice President and General Manager of the 
Medtronic Drug Delivery Business; and Director of 
Medtronic NeuroVentures. Scott is also the Found-
er of Raymond Holdings, LLC a firm with activities 
in venture capital, strategy and transactional advi-
sory services. He holds a B.S. in genetics and cell 
biology and an M.S. in toxicology, both from the 
University of Minnesota.

Scott’s 35+ years of experience in the healthcare 
industry, including his significant leadership ex-
perience of public medical device companies and 
his prior service on the boards of public medical 
device companies, make him a valuable contrib-
utor to the Board.

Listed company directorships held since 1 July 2015:

Appointed

Appointed

July-13 

September-10 

November-13

Retired / Resigned

Retired / Resigned

- 

March-15 

-

Company Name

Company Name

ImpediMed Limited 

Surmodics Incorporated (i)

Cardiovascular Systems Incorporated (i)

(i) US-based publicly traded company.

Cherrell Hirst 
AO, FTSE, MBBS, BEdSt, DUniv, FAICD, 
Non-Executive Chairman

Dr. Hirst retired from her position on 15 November 
2017. Cherrell became a director of the Compa-
ny on 1 August 2005. Cherrell is a medical doc-
tor and was a leading practitioner in the area of 
breast cancer screening and diagnosis. Cherrell 
was appointed Deputy Chairman on 12 July 2011 
and Chairman on 8 November 2011. She is a Chair 

of Factor Therapeutics Limited, and a non-Exec-
utive director of Medibank Private Ltd, the Gold 
Coast Hospital and Health Service and RSLCare 
RDNS. Cherrell’s areas of experience include clin-
ical medicine with specific experience in clinical 
governance, broad experience in the medical/
biotechnology industry from R&D to clinical trials, 
research governance and corporate governance.

Listed company directorships held since 1 July 2015: 

August-05 

June-09 

December-09

November-17 

- 

August-17

ImpediMed Limited 

Factor Therapeutics Limited

Medibank Private Limited (i)

(i) Medibank Private Limited became publicity listed in December 2014.

Gary Goetzke 
Juris Doctorate
Non-Executive Director

Gary Goetzke has spent 15 years in senior man-
agement positions of three medical device com-
panies where he led efforts in pursuing global 
coverage and payment policy for a variety of 

medical device therapies in the areas of cardiolo-
gy, neurology, urology, pelvic health, wound care, 
orthopaedics, ENT and sleep. Gary is currently on 
the management committee of a global medical 
device company focused on the treatment of 
sleep apnea, in addition to serving as President 
and Chief Executive Officer of Compass Medical 
Advisors, LLC, an enterprise focused on develop-
ing regulatory, clinical and reimbursement-related 
mobile APPs for the medical device industry. Gary 
also serves as an Advisory Board Member for the 
Center for College Sleep.

Gary serves on the Remuneration and Nomination 
Committees.

Listed company directorships held since 1 July 2015:

August-16 -ImpediMed Limited

Appointed

Appointed

Retired / Resigned

Retired / Resigned

Company Name

Company Name
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Robert Graham 
AO, FAHMS, MBBS, MD, FRACP, FACP, FAHA 
Non-Executive Director 

Dr Graham was appointed to the board in Novem-
ber 2017 and serves on the Remuneration and 
Nomination Committees.

Robert received his medical training at the Uni-
versity of New South Wales where he is now the 
Des Renford Professor of Medicine, (UNSW). He 
has been the inaugural Executive Director, Victor 
Chang Cardiac Research Institute (VCCRI), Sydney, 
Australia, since returning to Australia in 1994 after 
17 years in the US working at the University of 
Texas Southwestern Medical School, Dallas; the 
Massachusetts General Hospital, Harvard Medical 
School; the Massachusetts Institute of Technolo-
gy, and the Cleveland Clinic Foundation and Case 
Western Reserve University School of Medicine. 
He maintains an active clinical practice as a con-
sultant physician in cardiorenal diseases.

A Fellow of the Australian Academy of Science, 
the Australian Academy of Health and Medical 

Sciences, and Foreign Member, Royal Danish 
Academy of Sciences and Letters, his research 
focuses on molecular cardiology, with emphasis 
on circulatory control mechanisms, hypertension, 
receptor signalling and cardiac hypertrophy, as 
well as cardiac regeneration and the application 
of stem cells for the treatment of heart diseases. 
He is a Fellow of the American Heart Association; 
Life Member, Heart Foundation of Australia (NSW 
Division), and Member, American Society for Clin-
ical Investigation; the Appointments and Promo-
tions Committees of the Queensland Institute of 
Medical Research; the Garvan Institute of Medical 
Research, and the Centre for Vascular Research, 
University of NSW.

Current and previous commercial/biotech experi-
ence: Founding board member and contributing 
scientist, EngeneIC Ltd and MirAcl Therapeutics, 
Ltd. (cancer therapeutics), Sydney; Chairman, Im-
munoCare Therapies, Inc., Nevada, USA; Chairman, 
VCCRI IP&C Committee; Member, Scientific Advi-
sory Boards of Mesoblast Ltd. (stem cells/regen-
erative medicines), Melbourne, and Zensun Ltd. 
(cancer and heart failure therapeutics), Shanghai; 
and Chairman, Scientific Advisory Board of The 
Bosch Institute, University of Sydney, and Board 
Member, VCCRI; Member, Board of Directors, Lowy 
Medical Research Institute (LMRI), and Board of 
Scientific Governors, LMRI MacTel Project (retinal 
vasculopathy).

Listed company directorships held since 1 July 2015:

Appointed

November-17

Retired / Resigned

-

Company Name

ImpediMed Limited

Amit Patel 
MBA, BEng, Non-Executive Director

Amit Patel was appointed to the Board in March 
2017 and serves on the Audit and Risk Manage-
ment and Nomination Committees.

Amit is a Co-Founder and CEO of Vios Medical, 
which has created an FDA-cleared patient man-
agement platform that integrates IoT-based mon-
itoring, remote care services, and big data analytics  
to alleviate gaps in patient vigilance across 
in-hospital and home environments. Through a 

value-based innovation model, Vios is initially 
commercialising a step-down monitoring solution 
across major hospital systems in India, and is now 
part of the TMCx program at Texas Medical Center 
to catalyse market entry in the US.  

Prior to founding Vios, Amit was with HeartFlow 
where he created a joint go-to-market strategy 
with GE Healthcare’s imaging division, managed 
the DeFACTO clinical study across multiple UK 
sites, and developed a health economic story 
for the NHS. Prior to HeartFlow, Amit was with 
Medtronic’s Corporate Development group and 
was responsible for acquisitions, minority invest-
ments, and joint ventures spanning existing busi-
nesses and strategic whitespace areas. Amit has 
a MBA from Stanford University and a Bachelors 
of Biomedical Engineering from the University of 
Minnesota.

Listed company directorships held since 1 July 2015:

Appointed

March-17

Retired / Resigned

-

Company Name

ImpediMed Limited
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Richard Carreon 
Executive Director

Richard Carreon was appointed to the Board as 
Executive Director in May 2015. Rick joined Imped-
iMed in July 2012 as President and CEO. Rick has 
more than 30 years of experience in management, 
sales and marketing, spanning the consumer prod-
ucts and medical technology industries. Rick has 
more than a decade of executive experience work-
ing for Medtronic, a leading global manufacturer 
of cutting-edge medical devices, and therapies. 
His roles at Medtronic included Vice President, US 
Cardiovascular Commercial Operations; Vice Pres-

ident of Sales – Structural Heart; Vice President of 
Sales and Marketing Medtronic Gastroenterology 
and Urology; and Vice President of Sales – The 
Americas. 

Rick has a strong sales background, extensive 
marketing strategy and execution experience, and 
a proven track record of success. He is renowned 
for building start-up and high-growth ventures, 
turning around strategic business units, pene-
trating new markets and delivering strong and 
sustainable profits, revenues and market share 
value. At Medtronic, Rick led strategic direction 
and tactical planning for several sales organiza-
tions within Medtronic’s $1.1B Cardiovascular  
Sector. Rick was handpicked to lead the start-
up of Medtronic Gastroenterology and Urology, 
a high-risk business venture, growing revenues 
threefold, and building that venture into the fast-
est growing business in Medtronic.

Listed company directorships held since 1 July 2015:

Appointed 

May-15

Retired / Resigned

-

Company Name

ImpediMed Limited

Directors DirectorsAnnual Report 2018 ImpediMed Limited

Donald Williams 
CPA, Non-Executive Director

Donald Williams was appointed to the Board in 
March 2017, chairs the Remuneration Committee 
and serves on the Audit and Risk Management 
and Nomination Committees.

Don has more than 35 years of experience pro-
viding strategic guidance and operational over-
sight as a Certified Public Accountant (CPA) and 
an accredited public company director. Don has 
significant experience assisting companies and 
management teams with initial public offerings, 

complex business challenges and analysis of  
financial reporting matters. His breadth of experi-
ence includes a diverse set of growing domestic 
and international companies including venture 
financings, public equity offerings, public debt of-
ferings, mergers and acquisitions, and interaction 
with the US Securities and Exchange Commission 
and Public Company Accounting Oversight Board.

While at both Ernst & Young and Grant Thornton, 
Don was focused on the Life Sciences Industry. 
For over 15 years, he directed Ernst & Young’s Ven-
ture Capital and Emerging Growth Markets in the 
Southeast Market and in the Pacific Southwest 
Market. During his seven years at Grant Thornton 
he was the National Leader of the United States 
Life Sciences Industry. His oversight of the Nation-
al Life Sciences Industry included setting strate-
gy, establishing the sales and marketing plan and 
oversight of industry operations.

Listed company directorships held since 1 July 2015:

Appointed

March-17 

June-16 

May-15

September-14

Retired / Resigned

- 

- 

-

-

Company Name

ImpediMed Limited 

Akari Therapeutics (i) 

Alphatec Holdings Inc (i)

Marina Biotech Inc (i)

(i) US-based publicly traded company.
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Leanne Ralph 
Company Secretary

Leanne Ralph was appointed to the position of 
Company Secretary in January 2015. Leanne has 
over 15 years’ experience in company secretarial 
roles for various publicly listed and unlisted enti-
ties and is a member of the Governance Institute 
of Australia and the Australian Institute of Com-
pany Directors. Leanne is the principal of Board-
worx Australia Pty Ltd, which supplies bespoke 
outsourced Company Secretarial services to a 
number of listed and unlisted companies.

Frank Vicini 
Chief Medical Officer

Morten Vigeland 
Chief Financial Officer

David Adams 
Senior Vice President Ventures,  
Licensing & Corporate 
Development

Catherine Kingsford 
Senior Vice President Medical 
Affairs

Shashi Tripathi 
Chief Technology Officer (i)

Dennis Schlaht 
Senior Vice President R&D 
and Technology

Interest in the Shares and Options of the Group and Related Body Corporate

As at the date of this report, the interests of the current Directors in ImpediMed Limited were:

Executives

Directors / Company Secretary Executives / Dividends / Principal ActivitiesAnnual Report 2018 ImpediMed Limited

Dividends
No dividends were paid or proposed to be paid to 
shareholders for the year ended 30 June 2018.

Principles Activities
ImpediMed is the world leader in the design and 
manufacture of medical devices employing bio-
impedance spectroscopy (BIS) technologies for 
use in the non-invasive clinical assessment and 
monitoring of tissue composition and fluid status. 

ImpediMed produces a family of FDA cleared and 
CE Marked medical devices, including SOZO® for 
multiple indications including heart failure and 
lymphoedema, sold in select markets globally.

The principal activities of the Group during the 
year were the development, manufacture and sale 
of bioimpedance instruments, consumables, and 
software and the sale of electronic test and mea-
surement devices.

(i)   Shashi Tripathi joined the Group on 2 July 2018 as Chief Technology Officer.

Title

Chairman

Non-Executive Director

Non-Executive Director

Non-Executive Director

Non-Executive Director

Non-Executive Director

Executive Director

Ordinary Shares

225,000

 82,600 

 14,100   

 -   

 -   

30,000   

 869,225 

Director

S Ward

J Downes

G Goetzke

R Graham

A Patel

D Williams

R Carreon

Company Secretary
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BIS Provides the  
Tools for Good Clinical 
Decision Making
•	 Historically,	it	has	been	difficult	to	detect	and	 
	 understand	the	changes	happening	inside	a	 
	 patient’s	body	over	time.

•	 The	commonly	used	measures	of	weight,	blood	 
	 preasure,	and	BMI	are	crude,	have	limited	infor- 
	 mation	value,	and	are	often	misleading.

•	 More	precise	tissue	measurements	(such	as	 
	 Dexa	or	CT	scanning)	are	expensive	and	not	 
	 suitable	for	routine	use	due	to	radiation	expo- 
	 sure.

•	 More	precise	fluid	(intracellular	and	extracellu- 
	 lar)	measurements	(such	as	deuterium	oxide	 
	 dilution)	are	costly	and	extremely	time	consum- 
	 ing.

•	 BIS	is	able	to	provide	accurate	and	informative	 
	 metrics	simply,	for	the	routine	monitoring	and	 
	 health-management	of	patients.

22 23

Milestones
IAC World Congress Poster Acceptance 
The abstract titled Utilisation of Bioimpedance 
Spectroscopy in lieu of Invasive Monitoring for Mon-
itoring Fluid Overload	was	accepted	for	presenta-
tion	in	the	Poster	Session	“Heart Failure: Diagnosis 
and Management”	for	the	Advanced	Scientific	Pro-
gram	for	Friday	July	27,	2018.	This	abstract	will	
be	published	in	the	online	journal	of	CARDIOLOGY	
following	the	meeting.		

ALA Presentation 

L-Dex®	featured	highly	at	the	12th	Australasian	
Lymphology	Association	(ALA)	conference	held	
in	Brisbane	from	17th	-	19th	May	2018.

ASBrS Presentation
Dr.	Lyndsey	Kilgore	from	The	University	of	Kansas	
Cancer	Center	made	an	oral	presentation	on	her	
work	-		Reducing Breast Cancer Related Lymphedema 
(BCRL) through Prospective Surveillance Monitoring 
Using Bioimpedance Spectroscopy (BIS) and Patient 
Directed Self-Interventions	at	the	American	Society	
for	Breast	Surgeons	(ASBrS)	in	Orlando,	Florida.	

PREVENT Interim Results 
Announced	that	the	PREVENT	prosective,	ran-
domized	trial	interim	analysis	has	demonstrated	
promising	results	in	preventing	Lymphoedema.	
The	analysis	was	performed	on	over	500	patients.

FDA 510(k) Clearance for SOZO
for Bilateral Lymphoedema  
Issuance	by	the	US	FDA	of	a	510(k)	clearance	to	
market	SOZO	as	an	aid	in	the	clinical	assessment	
of	bilateral	lymphoedema	in	adult	patient’s	arms	
or	legs.	This	new	clearance	reflects	the	SOZO	sys-
tem’s	ability	to	assess	patients	at	risk	of	bilateral	
lymphoedema,	where	a	patient	is	at	risk	in	either	
both	arms	or	both	legs.	This	clearance	greatly	
expands	the	available	market	for	our	technology.	

Sharp HealthCare Center of Excellence
ImpediMed	enters	into	a	multi-year	commercial	
agreement	with	Sharp	HealthCare	to	be	a	Centre	of	
Excellence	with	SOZO	with	L-Dex	for	their	cancer	
care	program.

FDA 510(k) Clearance for SOZO CHF
Issuance	by	the	US	FDA	of	a	510(k)	clearance	to	
market	SOZO	for	fluid	monitoring	of	patients	in	the	
US	living	with	chronic	heart	failure.

L-Dex Abstracts Presented at San Antonio 
Breast Cancer Symposium
Four	abstracts	were	presented	at	the	San	Antonio	
Breast	Cancer	Symposium	December	2017	further	
supporting	the	value	of	prospective	surveillance	
using	L-Dex	for	the	early	detection	of	subclinical	
lymphoedema	and	subsequent	reduction	in	chron-
ic	BCRL	rates.

Category I CPT Code Updated Rate
CMS	published	the	new	payment	amounts	for	CPT 
code	93702	beginning	on	1	January	2018.

Multi-year Exclusive Distribution 
Agreement 
ImpediMed	signed	Regional	Health	Care	Group	
as	its	exclusive	distribution	partner	for	SOZO	in	
Australia	and	New	Zealand.

Whitworth Study Published
Publication	of	major	study	in	a	leading	peer- 
reviewed	medical	journal	provides	mounting	
number	of	peer	reviewed	publications	on	positive	 
impact	of	L-Dex.

First Shipments of SOZO with L-Dex in US 
Commenced	in	October	2017.

New Study Clinical Outcomes L-Dex 

A	retrospective	analysis	was	published	in	the	jour-
nal	Breast	Cancer	Research	and	Treatment	by	Dr.	
David	I	Kaufman	to	examine	the	impact	of	a	pro-
spective	surveillance	protocol	utilising	BIS	to	de-
tect	BCRL	at	a	sub-clinical,	reversable	stage.	The	
patients	were	monitored	with	L-Dex.	The	study	re-
ported	dramatically	lower	rates	of	BCRL	than	have	
been	reported	in	contemporary	studies	where	pa-
tients	have	not	been	prespectively	evaluated	for	
the	development	of	BCRL.

US FDA 510(k) Clearance Issued 
for SOZO with L-Dex 

Issuance	by	the	US	FDA	of	a	510(k)	clearance	to	
market	SOZO	as	an	aid	in	the	clinical	assessment	
of	unilateral	lymphoedema.	This	clearance	put	Im-

pediMed	ahead	of	schedule	for	the	planned	mar-
ket	launch	of	SOZO	in	the	US.

First Patient Enrolled
Announced	first	patient	enrolled	in	the	initial	CHF	
trial	using	SOZO	at	Scripps	Health.	This	trial	is	de-
signed	to	measure	fluid	levels	in	New	York	Heart	
Association	(NYHA)	Class	III	CHF	patients.

L-Dex Recommended In Clinical 
Practice Guidelines
The	Oncology	Section	of	the	American	Physical	
Therapy	Association	(APTA)	has	developed	and	
published	an	evidence-based,	clinical	practice	
guideline	for	lymphoedema	diagnosis	and	man-
agement	and	recommends	L-Dex	for	patients	at	
risk	of,	or	with	early	stage,	lymphoedema	of	the	
arm.
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~60% 
OF THE HUMAN BODY
IS MADE UP OF WATER
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*	 This	graph	represents	a	diagram	depicting	a	percentage	 
	 scale	of	fluid	and	is	not	a	representation	of	the	distribution	 
	 of	fluid	in	the	human	body.

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



Group Overview

ImpediMed Limited was founded in Brisbane, Aus-
tralia in October 1999, and was listed on the ASX 
on 24 October 2007.

The Group consists of four entities:

• ImpediMed Limited, the Parent company operat- 
 ing in medical markets in regions outside the  
 US; incorporated in 1999 and listed on the ASX  
 on 24 October 2007.

• ImpediMed, Inc, a Delaware corporation operat- 
 ing in medical markets in North America.

• ImpediMed Hellas, a Kalamaria, Greece corpo- 
 ration operating in a research & development  
 and marketing capacity in Europe.

• XiTRON Technologies, Inc, a California corpo- 
 ration operating in power test and measurement  
 markets globally. XiTRON Technologies, Inc  
 was acquired by ImpediMed Limited on 1  
 October 2007.

Operating Results for the Year

Total comprehensive loss for the period was $26.3 
million (2017: $29.7 million). The loss from con-

tinuing operations after income tax was $27.2 
million (2017: $27.6 million) and the net loss for 
the year ended 30 June 2018 was $27.1 million 
(2017: $27.5 million). The decreased loss from 
continuing operations, when compared with the 
prior year, is primarily attributed to a reduction to 
Research and Development project costs associ-
ated with the completion of the SOZO I Hardware. 
This decrease was slightly offset by a decrease in 
revenue and an increase in the non-cash expense 
for share-based payments, when compared to the 
prior period.  

The decreased total comprehensive loss, when 
compared with the prior year, relates to a $0.9 
million gain on foreign currency translations of 
foreign subsidiaries, compared to a $2.2 million 
loss in the prior period. 

The initial commercial rollout of SOZO has great-
ly advanced the use of BIS technology. Over 140 
leading US cancer centres are now utilisiing the 
BIS technology.

The Group continued to make great strides in the 
advancement of its BIS technology as part of the 
initial commercial rollout of SOZO during the year. 
These achievements were marked by the growing 
and significant body of clinical evidence, multiple 
regulatory clearances, and advancements with 
reimbursement.

SOZO is the world’s first connected health plat-
form using the patented BIS technology, enabling 
early detection and better management of chronic 
disease in both clinic and at-home settings. The 
device is designed for use in hospitals, clinics, and 
in patient’s homes under a clinician’s direction. 
During the period, the Group recognised $0.9 mil-
lion in revenue related to this initial rollout of SOZO 
(2017: $0.1 million). 

In addition to revenue recognised during the peri-
od, the Group ended the 2018 financial year (FY18) 
with an additional $3.5 million in Contracted Rev-
enue Pipeline (CRP), of which $1.3 million was 
considered Annual Recurring Revenue (ARR). In 
the fourth quarter of the current period, the Group 
signed $1.9 million in Total Contract Value (TCV), 
which was a record quarter for SOZO TCV since 
the initial rollout. 

TCV, CRP and ARR are unaudited, non-IFRS financial 
metrics that do not represent revenue in accordance 
with Australian Accounting Standards. Please see 
page 26 of the report for a glossary of terms used 
by ImpediMed under the subscription revenue model.

The average exchange rate for the reporting period 
was US dollar (USD) $0.775 to Australian dollar 
(AUD) $1.00 (2017: USD $0.754). During 2018, the 
Group incurred unrealised mark-to-market foreign 
currency translation losses of less than $0.1 mil-
lion (2017: $0.1 million). The small loss in the cur-
rent period primarily relates to exchange rate fluc-
tuations in foreign denominated trade receivables 
and payables between the transaction date and 
settlement date. In the prior period, the small loss 
primarily related to exchange rate fluctuations in 
moving funds between entities for operations. 

• Lymphoedema - Peer Reviewed Publications of 1,460 patients in 5 studies
• CHF - Peer Reviewed Publications ~250 patients in 5 studies
• +400 Peer Reviewed Publications using BIS for Tissue and fluid monitoring  
 across many chronic diseases

• FDA Clearance for the clinical assessment of lymphoedema
• FDA Clearance for monitoring patients with CHF (clinical and at-home  
 monitoring)
• CE Mark for multiply indications including lymphoedema and CHF

• Category I CPT® Code for lymphoedema 
• Existing codes for CHF and home monitoring
• Our model fits the evolving US reimbursement environment (Fee-for- 
 Service to Value Based Medicine)
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Glossary of Terms used by IPD
Cost of sales for the current period were $1.6 mil-
lion, a increase of 7% (2017: $1.5 million). The in-
crease in cost of sales related to a larger percent-
age of sales in the medical segment stemming 
from the sale and placement of SOZO devices in 
the market, compared to the prior year. The gross 
margin for the Group decreased to 67% for the 
current period (2017: 74%), net of finance income. 
The gross margin related to the SOZO product seg-
ment is expected to increase over time as the rev-
enue streams from subscription services increase. 
This is reflective of the transition to the sale of 
SOZO as the main business segment of the Group.

* Refer to footnote 4 of the Financial Statements for details  
 on the Group’s Segment Reporting. 

Revenue related to goods and services for the year 
ended 30 June 2018 were $4.8 million (2017: $5.8 
million). On an operating segment basis, Medical 
Revenue was $3.5 million (2017: $4.8 million) 
and T&M Revenue was $1.3 million (2017: $1.0 
million).   

During the period, the Group sold its products 
through a mix of employed sales reps and inde-
pendent distributors. In the US market, the Group 
has an employed, direct sales force that focuses 
on the sale of the SOZO Digital Health Platform 
and its associated subscription services related 
to patient assessments. 

MEDICAL REVENUE BY TYPEKEY REVENUE COMPONENTS

Medical Revenue
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE

SOZO SUBSCRIPTION 
REVENUE MODEL

In the second quarter of the 2018 financial year, 
ImpediMed began transitioning the business to a 
Subscription Business Model in conjunction with 

the introduction of the SOZO Digital Health Plat-
form. Current Medical Revenue consists of lega-
cy products and consumables, as well as revenue 
from the SOZO platform, which primarily consists 
of device revenue and subscription services.

Q1 FY18 
SOZO 510(k)

Clearance
14 Aug

Medical Revenue Annual Recurring Revenue Contracted Revenue Pipeline

A$3,000,000

A$2,500,000

A$2,000,000

A$1,500,000

A$1,000,000

A$500,000

A$0

A$3,500,000

A$4,000,000

Q2 FY18

Subscription Business Model
FY18 REVENUE

SOZO begins shipping
to US customers

23 Oct

Q4 FY18
 510(k) Clearance

for Bilateral Lyphoedema
17 Apr

Q3 FY18

Subscription 
Business Model 

Introduced

~72%
GM (i)

+90%
GM (i)

Medical Revenue:

Total Contract 
Value (TCV) (i):

Contracted 
Revenue Pipeline 
(CRP) (i): 
 

Annual Recurring 
Revenue (ARR) (i):

The total revenue recognised during a given period related to the medical 
segment.

The total value of customer contracts including one-time and recurring revenue. 

The future period revenue amounts related to TCV that are yet to be reported 
as recognised revenue. Certain customer contracts that make up the Group’s 
CRP contain cancelation clauses related to services yet to be performed. The 
Contracted Revenue Pipeline assumes no churn, highlighting the importance 
of customer experience and satisfaction.  

The amount of revenue reasonably expected to be booked for the next 12-month 
period based existing signed contracts, and assuming installation upon sale. 

(i) TCV, CRP and ARR are unaudited, non-IFRS financial metrics that do not represent revenue in accordance with Australian  
 Accounting Standards

(i) GM = Gross Margin

2017

$4.8
million

2018

$3.5
million

Subscription Revenue 
and Consumables

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE

2017

$2.7
million

2018

$2.1
million

2017

$4.7
million

2018

$2.6
million

SOZO Revenue
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE

2018

$0.9
million

2017

$0.1
million

Legacy Revenue
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE
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Salaries and benefits decreased to $16.8 million, 
an decrease of 3% (2017: $17.4 million). The em-
ployee headcount at 30 June 2018 was 68 (2017: 
76). The decrease in salaries and benefits and 
employee headcount in the current year were  
primarily due to the decrease in headcount from 
the prior period. The decrease is reflective of stra-
tegic changes in order to best support the transi-
tions into a technology space with SOZO.

Research and development expenses decreased 
to $0.9 million, an decrease of 78% (2017: $4.0 
million). The decrease in research and develop-
ment expenses related to the transition from the 
development phase and into the commerciali-
sation phase of SOZO. Additionally, the Group  
began capitalizing new software development 
costs during the current year related to the devel-
opment of the SOZO v2.0 software.

Clinical Trial expenses increased to $2.1 million, a 
increase of 62% (2017: $1.3 million). The increase 
in direct clinical trial expenses occurred in line 
with the continued enrolment of patients in the 
post-approval clinical trial of L-Dex, Prevent. The 
trial features sites such as Macquarie University 
Cancer Institute out of Australia and Vanderbilt 
University, the Mayo Clinic Cancer Center, the 
University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center, 
the University of Kansas Cancer Center and other 
centres out of the US. The Group also progressed 
on the CHF clinical program, as a trial with Scripps 
Health saw full enrolment during the period.

Administrative and governance related expense in-
creased to $3.4 million, an increase of 31% (2017: 
$2.6 million). The increase in the current financial 
year relates to an increase in inventory impairment 
related to the Group’s legacy bioimpedance spec-
troscopy (BIS) measurement devices and compo-
nentry.

Consultants and professional fees increased to 
$3.2 million, an increase of 7% (2017: $3.0 mil-
lion). The increase in the current financial year 
was primarily due to additional activity relating 
to the support of the commercialisation of SOZO. 
Additionally the Group incurred higher consulting 
expenses related to remuneration than in the prior 
period.

Rent and property expenses increased to $0.8 
million, an increase of 60% (2017: $0.5 million). 
The increase in the current financial year relates 
to rent expense under the Group’s premises oper-
ating leases. The current financial year contains 
eleven-months of expense for an expansion to the 
Group’s US Headquarters, a full year of expense 
for the Group’s European research and devel-
opment office, as well as a one-time lump sum  
expense relating to the early termination of the 
lease for the US Regional office.

Non-cash share-based payment expense increa-
sed to $3.3 million, an increase of 27% (2017: 
$2.6 million). The increase primarily related to  
option and performance right grants issued to 
key management personnel (KMP) and new hires 
during the current financial year. 

Independent Clinical 
Evidence Continues to Expand

Multiple, indepedent, investigator-led clinical stud-

ies have reported significantly lower rates of clin-
ical grade lymphoedema by monitoring patients 
with L-Dex are intervening.

Investigator Percent 
Improvements

Number of
Patients

Duration Reported Outcomes

Total Patients Evaluated

Kilgore 
2018*

Whitworth 
2017

Kaufman 
2017

Laidley & 
Anglin 2016

Soran 
2014

• 34% identified elevated L-Dex followed  
 by intervention
• 6% progressed to clinical stage disease  
 versus reported incidence rate 20-40%

• 12% identified elevated L-Dex followed  
 by intervention
• 3% progressed to clinical stage disease  
 versus reported incidence rate 10-50%

• 10% identified elevated L-Dex followed  
 by intervention
• 0% progressed to clinical stage disease  
 versus reported incidence rate 20-53%

• 12% identified elevated L-Dex followed  
 by intervention
• 3% progressed to clinical stage disease  
 versus reported incidence rate 3.5-4.7%

• 33% identified elevated L-Dex followed  
 by intervention
• 4% progressed to clinical stage disease  
 versus reported incidence rate 36%

82%

 

75% 

100% 

75%

88%  

2014-2017

2010-2016

2010-2016

2008-2013

2010-2013

146

596

206

326

186

1,460

*  Kilgore Study Conclusion: “Our results demonstrated that early conservative intervention for breast cancer patients high  
 risk for BCRL who were prospectively monitored by utilizing BIS significantly lowers rates of BCRL. These findings support early  
 prospective screening and intervention for BCRL. Early detection with patient-directed interventions improves patient outcomes  
 and decreases the risk of persistent BCRL.”

SOZO Recurring Revenue relates to Subscription Revenue that has been recognised during the financial year. 
At the end of the fourth quarter of FY18, recurring Subscription Revenue accounted for 10% of the Group’s 
quarterly Medical Revenue.

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

10%

8%

6%

4%

2%

SOZO Recurring Revenue as % Total Medical Revenue

SOZO Recurring Revenue
FY18

2%

3%

10%
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IMPEDIMED’S SOZO:

Smarter Medical Technology
Medical technology today continues to evolve at an unprecedented pace. New advances are coming to the 
forefront to improve the lives of patients through smart technology. Cancer survivors today should not have 
to worry about sequelae such as lymphoedema or malnutrition. Early detection of lymphoedema is critical 
and may well prevent this horrible disease, yet lymphoedema continues to debilitate millions of cancer 
survivors despite available options. 

Patients living with heart failure should be able to easily and effectively monitor and manage their fluid 
status at home, yet millions end up back in the hospital shortly after they have been sent home. It is time to 
get smart and join the growing movement towards better, individualised healthcare. No patient should go 
untested who could benefit from our technology; SOZO is the proactive solution.

Annual Report 2018 ImpediMed’s SOZOImpediMed LimitedImpediMed’s SOZO
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SOZO’s Clinical and Commercial PresenceImpediMed LimitedSOZO’s Clinical and Commercial Presence

SOZO’s Clinical and 
Commercial Presence

NORTH AMERICA

EUROPE

ASIA

SOUTH AMERICA

AUSTRALIA

AFRICAF
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Memorial Radiation Oncology Chula Vista Radiation Oncology

Chula Vista Rehabiliation

SOZO Cloud

SOZOhub

Memorial Rehabiliation

Grossmont Radiation Oncology
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Customer Focus: Centre of Excellence Activities Affecting Operating ResultsAnnual Report 2018 ImpediMed Limited

Activities Affecting  
Operating Results
Prevent Trial-Pre Specified 
Interim Analysis

Trial Design

• Multi-centre, prospective, randomised controlled  
 trial
 - 1,100 patients enrolled
 - Followed 3 years

• 10 medical centres across the US and Australia
 - Majority National Cancer Institute designated  
   cancer centres

• To achieve a relative 20% improvement over the  
 standard of care - a tape measure

Primary Aim 
• To determine if subclinical detection of extracel- 
	 lular	fluid	accumulation	via	BIS	and	subsequent	 
 early intervention reduce the rate of progression 
 relative to rates seen using standard tape mea- 
 surements

Interim Data
•  Early results demonstrate 67% relative improve- 
 ment in progression to clinical grade Lymphoe- 
 dema in the L-Dex arm compared to tape mea- 
 sure arm

•	 Reflecting	what	others	are	seeing	in	their	clini- 
 cal practice

12 Months Interim Data from PREVENT Trial

Establishing Best Practices for SOZO 

as an Integrated Health System

Evolution and Acceleration of SOZO 

• 6 SOZO Digital Health Platforms installed across  
 3 hospitals

• Adding 9 SOZO Digital Health Platforms in the  
 coming months

• Developing reporting and protocol adoption 
 metrics

• Have agreed to integrate data into Electronic  
	 Health	Records	(EHRs)	with	physician	notifi-	
	 cations	(flags)

• Have expanded testing beyond lymphoedema,  
 >25% of all patient assessments are for Tissue  
 Analysis

“As	one	of	the	first	integrated	health	systems	to	use	SOZO,	Sharp	is	excited	to	bring	this	innovative	tech-
nology for measuring tissue composition to cancer care across diverse care settings and to all types of 
cancer. The opportunity to demonstrate simultaneous improvements in patient experience, care management 
and a reduction in the cost of care is expected to go well beyond the early detection and management of 
lymphedema,” stated Nancy Harris, VP Oncology Service Line at Sharp HealthCare.

Patients Analysed

Trial Arm

Trigger events
requiring intervention

Patients developing
Lymphoedema 
after intervention

n=500 / 1,100

CONTROL ARM
Monitor with tape measure

(n=~250)

67% Relative
Improvement

N=10
(14.7%)

N=2
(4.9%)

N=109
(21.8%)

TEST ARM
Monitor with L-Dex

(n=~250)

Cancer patients 
developing persistent 

Lymphoedema 
each day > 560

The possible future, 
<21 per day

N=68
(27.2%)

N=41
(16.4%)

Customer Focus:  
Centre of Excellence

Connected SOZO Systems
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consumables being purchased. The U400 device 
was available for oncology in Australia and in the 
United States for aid in the early assessment of 
secondary unilateral lymphoedema of the arm and 
leg in women and the leg in men.

Revenue was generated through the sale of devices 
and patient assessment consumables in both the 
oncology and tissue analysis (body composition) 
areas of the medical segment, as well as through 
device sales and service revenue from the test and 
measurement segment in XiTRON Technologies, 
Inc. 

As a predecessor BIS device, the U400 has pro-
vided the commercial proof-of-principle, clinical 
data and validation of the clinical benefits of mon-
itoring cancer survivors with L-Dex. Through the 
sale and placement of the U400 device under a 
capital equipment/disposable business model, 
the Group had over 120 hospitals and clinics us-
ing L-Dex. These customers were testing only a 
small sub-set of patients due to reimbursement 
and operation issues.

SOZO: Next Generation BIS Digital 
Health Platform

During the current financial year, the Group began 
transitioning its focus to the SOZO Digital Health 
Platform. SOZO combines the technology of the 
Group’s world renowned scientific and medical 
devices into a single digital health platform. The 
device is designed to easily integrate into current 
patient workflows, but it reduces testing time for 
patients down to as little as 30 seconds. The tech-
nology utilised under SOZO also allows for :

• Robust reporting capabilities 

• Protocol compliance capabilities 

• The ability to expand the clinical utility of the  
 platform through simple software upgrades and
 
•	 De-identified	data	collection	for	algorithm	
	 refinement

Since rolling out SOZO, the Group has focused on 
converting current customers while adding new 
targeted customers through multi-year contracts 
under the subscription business model. Under 
SOZO, customers are able to integrate patient  
assessments in to electronic health records (EHR) 

and receive real-time reporting. These enhance-
ments have led to hospitals and clinic customers 
testing a greater number of patients, substantial 
increases in revenue streams in converted hospi-
tals and clinics, and substantial increases in the 
number of devices ordered in converted hospitals.

In addition to revenue recognised during the peri-
od, the Group ended the 2018 financial year with 
an additional $3.5 million in Contracted Revenue 
Pipeline (CRP), of which $1.3 million was con-
sidered Annual Recurring Revenue (ARR). In the 
fourth quarter of the current period, the Group 
signed $1.9 million in Total Contract Value (TCV), 
which was a record quarter for SOZO TCV since 
the initial rollout. TCV, CRP and ARR are unaudited, 
non-IFRS financial metrics that do not represent 
revenue in accordance with Australian Accounting 
Standards. Please see page 26 of the report for a 
glossary of terms used by ImpediMed under the 
subscription revenue model.

SOZO revenue is generated through the sale of 
devices and subscription services related to SOZO 
software across multiple indications and disease 
states. During the year, the Group also generated 
revenue through its predecessor medical devices 
and through the test and measurement segment 
in XiTRON Technologies, Inc.

Significant  Events after 
the Balance Date
On 2 July 2018, the Group hired Shashi Tripathi as 
Chief Technology Officer.  

On 23 August 2018, PREVENT trial results pub-
lished with outstanding initial data. The authors 
from the PREVENT trial concluded that L-Dex is 
very sensitive in the assessment of sub-clinical 
lymphoedema in patients with a history of breast 
cancer. The paper also supports the recommen-
dation for an aggressive measurement protocol 
consisting of an L-Dex assessment every three 
months, especially during the first 6 to 12 months 
post-surgery to facilitate identification of sub-clin-
ical lymphoedema.
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Significant Changes  
in the State of Affairs
Review of Financial Condition -  
Liquidity and Capital Resources

Cash and cash equivalents were $31.3 million at 
30 June 2018, a decrease of 43% (2017: $54.9 
million). Net cash used in operating activities for 
the period was $23.5 million, a decrease of $2.1 
million (2017 $25.6 million). The decrease was 
due to the decreased activity in hardware related 
research and development as well as a decrease 
in salaries and benefits.

The Group maintains a significant portion of avail-
able funds in US dollars to match US dollar expen-
diture needs. The loss from continuing operations 
for the period before income tax includes a real-
ised foreign exchange loss arising from the oper-
ating expenses in the US. The spot exchange rate 
for the beginning of the reporting period was AUD 
$1.00 to USD $0.769, compared to USD $0.740 at 
the end of the reporting period. The spot exchange 
rate for the beginning and end of the comparative 
period ending 30 June 2016 was AUD $1.00 to 
USD $0.744 and USD $0.769, respectively.

Share Issues During the Year

Cash flow from financing activities generated was 
$0.3 million during the period (2017: $0.7 million). 
The following outlines the capital raised during the 
year ended 30 June 2018:

• $0.3 million, net of transaction costs, from July  
 2017 - June 2018 through the issue of 1,387,619  
 ordinary shares stemming from employees ex- 
 ercising options (2017: $0.7 million on 1,941,565  
 ordinary shares).

Issued capital increased to $219.7 million at 30 
June 2018 (2016: $219.5 million). Total equity  
decreased to $36.0 million at 30 June 2018 (2016: 
$58.8 million) due to the Loss from Continuing  
Operations during the period.

Dynamics of the Business

The Parent and its wholly owned subsidiary, Im-
pediMed, Inc., are a global provider of medical 
technology to measure, monitor and manage 
tissue composition and fluid status using bio-
impedance spectroscopy (BIS). These entities 
generate the BIS revenue for the Group through 
the sale of medical devices and the associated 
patient assessment consumables and subscrip-
tion services.

Using BIS, ImpediMed’s proprietary technology 
sends 256 unique frequencies through the body 
to assess both intra and extracellular fluid. By  
detecting small amounts of fluid changes, it can 
help health care providers better detect and man-
age chronic disease in patients and give individ-
uals medically meaningful information to better 
manage their health. BIS is able to provide high-
ly accurate and informative metrics to routinely 
monitor and manage the health of patients.

U400: Predecessor technology

In the previous financial year, the Group focused 
on the oncology market through the sale of the 
L-Dex U400 device and the associated patient 
assessment consumables. Customers would  
order patient assessment consumables based on 
their individual needs and pricing for customers 
would vary depending upon the purchase price of 
the device and the number of patient assessment

Cash and Cash Equivalents
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE

Net Cash Used in 
Operating Activities

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE

2017

$54.9
million

2017

$25.6
million

2018

$31.3
million

2018

$23.5
million
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On 24 August 2018, BIS and L-Dex suggested as 
new standard of care for cancer survivors at risk of 
developing lymphoedema at the first educational 
seminar to be presented by the Principal Investiga-
tor of the PREVENT trial – “Removing the Mystery 
Around Bioimpedance – Moving Towards a New 
Standard of Care”. The presentation was the first 
in a series of seminars to take place across the US 
and Australia and included top-line results from 
the interim analysis of the PREVENT trial.

Likely Developments  
& Expected Results
The following are areas of focus for the Group, as 
well as likely developments expected to impact 
the Group’s financial results in the near-term:

Cancer Survivorship and L-Dex 

Cancer and its treatments have a huge impact on 
the body that often affects the quality of life after 
the disease. There are 1.7 million new cases of 
cancer each year and over 15 million living can-
cer survivors in the US. An estimated one in three 
cancer survivors will develop lymphoedema as a 
result of their cancer treatment.

Lymphoedema is a leading post-surgical compli-
cation for many cancer patients and greatly im-
pacts quality of life. Simple and accurate measure-
ment of fluid in limbs allows early detection and 
intervention. L-Dex detects the onset of lymphoe-
dema very early. If detected early, the progression 
of lymphoedema can be prevented, and often re-
versed.

During the 2018 financial year, the Group achieved 
an FDA clearance in the US for the clinical assess-
ment of lymphoedema using SOZO.

Prior to the availability of SOZO, there were already 
over 120 major hospitals and clinics using L-Dex 
through the Group’s predecessor product, the 
U400. These customers have begun incorporating 
L-Dex in to their clinical work flow practices, but 
due to operational limitations of the predecessor 
product, most customers have only been testing 
a small sub-set of patients. 

The Group expects to continue the US Commercial 
launch of L-Dex, with a focus on actively convert-
ing current customers and adding new targeted 
customers to the SOZO digital health platform. 
The Group expects to convert a majority of the 
existing L-Dex users over the next 12 months.

The expanded clinical utility of SOZO in the current 
guidelines and the recent clinical studies are all 
drivers of increased usage by both existing cus-
tomers and new customers as they continue to 
expand testing to all patients. The Group will be 
focused on integrating L-Dex testing into clinical 
work flow practices and systems with the contin-
ued adoption of SOZO.

In addition, the Group continues to believe that Im-
pediMed is building a compelling case for private 
payors to initiate coverage in the 2019 financial 
year and expects that the introduction of private 
payors would further drive acceleration of the 
business.

The two main drivers of private payors are:

1. Global Clinical Trial Data

• ImpediMed’s own 1,100 patient post approval   
 PREVENT trial, led by 5 top 50 cancer centres 
 and 3 National Comprehensive Cancer Net- 
 work (NCCN) institutions, has now surpassed  
 1,100 patients enrolled

• Interim data of the PREVENT Trial demon- 
 strates a 67% relative improvement in progres- 
 sion to clinical grade lymphoedema in the  
 L-Dex arm compared to the tape measure arm

• Various independent trials are being conducted  
 worldwide

2. Published Industry Guidelines

• National Accreditation Program for Breast Cen- 
 ters (NAPBC) accreditation requires survivor- 
 ship care plan

• Lymphoedema introduced into NCCN guide-
 lines in July 2015

• L-Dex recommended in American Physical  
 Therapy Association Guidelines in July 2017  

Chronic Heart Failure

Chronic Heart Failure (CHF) is a chronic, progres-
sive and debilitating condition and it is among 
the most expensive diseases for the US health 
care system. CHF is a global pandemic affect-
ing at least 26 million people worldwide, with 
one in five people over the age of 40 expected 
to develop heart failure. The overall global eco-
nomic cost of heart failure in 2012 was estimated 
at $108 billion per annum. Assessing and moni-
toring fluid status is critical to the management of 
CHF patients, as a change in fluid status may sig-
nal the need to increase or decrease medication 
levels. By administering the appropriate medica-
tion levels, the length of hospital stays and read-
missions for patients can be significantly reduced. 

The Group believes that SOZO can play a vital role 
in optimising outcomes for CHF patient manage-
ment. Current monitoring methods have major 
shortcomings due to inaccuracy (weight scales) 
or due to their invasiveness and expense (implant-
ables). SOZO is uniquely positioned to replace 
current monitoring methods. The device provides 
the precision and accuracy of implantables at the 
cost of a scale. SOZO can detect small changes 
in fluid levels that typically pre-empt a major car-
diac event, which may be avoided by adjusting 
medication.

In December 2017, ImpediMed achieved an FDA 
510(k) clearance for fluid monitoring for CHF.

A case study and abstract, which will be present-
ed at the 23rd World Congress for Heart Disease, 
followed a patient with advanced heart failure, 
an implanted CardioMEMS device and multiple 
co-morbidities. BIS showed a greater than 88% 
correlation to changes in diastolic pulmonary 
artery pressure (CardioMEMS) in detecting fluid 
excess and impending congestion before hospital-
isation. The abstract, titled Utilisation of Bioimped-
ance Spectroscopy in lieu of Invasive Monitoring for 
Monitoring Fluid Overload, will be published in the 
online journal of CARDIOLOGY following the meet-
ing.

In addition, additional early results from studies 
show a strong correlation between BIS and echo-
cardiographic parameters used to monitor for fluid 
overload in CHF patients.

The Group expects to continue to make progress 
towards commercialisation of the heart failure 
program in the US. The initial focus will be on 
gathering clinical data for marketing purposes.  
Data from the initial CHF studies mentioned above 
has led to initiation of a larger multi-centre study, 
which is currently open for enrolment. The study 
will aim to enrol approximately 200 patients and 
will monitor fluid measurements during hospital-
isation for CHF, followed on by daily monitoring 
for 45 days after discharge (at-home). 

The Group expects that this study will be a major 
catalyst for initiating a broad market release.

EXPECTED RESULTS AND NEWS FLOW

The Group expects to continue to generate a net 
loss in the 2019 financial year while it focuses on 
the US Commercialisation of L-Dex and the rollout 
of SOZO for heart failure. The Group expects to 
have the ability to fund these losses with current 
cash and cash equivalents.

SOZO and L-Dex

During the 2018 financial year, a pre-specified in-
terim analysis of the 1,100 patient, multi-centre 
PREVENT trial was released. Early results related 
to this independent trial have demonstrated a 67% 
relative improvement in progression to clinical 
grade lymphoedema in the L-Dex arm compared 
to tape measure arm. The Group anticipates that 
additional data related to the PREVENT trial will 
be released during the 2019 financial year.

In addition, the Group expects to commence L-Dex 
educational seminars throughout the US in con-
junction with the anticipated publication of new, 
independent abstracts and presentations of fur-
ther clinical data supporting L-Dex. 

The Group begins the 2019 financial year with a 
focus on the continued strong growth in the SOZO 
subscription based business and is very encour-
aged by the positive reception to SOZO to date, 
as well as by the early feedback received from 
clinicians using SOZO. The Group expects that a 
successful transition to the subscription business 
model will result in accelerated revenues through 
a high margin, high growth business model.
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SOZO for Heart Failure

Initial adoption of SOZO for heart failure began at 
the end of the 2017 financial year in Europe and 
Australia, after the Group obtained a CE Mark in 
June 2017. The Group achieved a 510(k) clearance 
for fluid monitoring for CHF in December 2017 of 
this financial year.

The Group expects that additional CHF studies 
utilising SOZO will be released during the 2019 
financial year. The Group also anticipates the 
completion and results of a larger multi-centre 
marketing study in the coming year.

At the completion of additional studies for CHF, 
the Group anticipates it would immediately com-
mence the commercial expansion of CHF in se-
lected markets. 

Significant Risks
to the Business
The Group has a formal written Risk Management 
Policy that is published on ImpediMed’s website.

The identification and proper management of 
risk within the Group is an important priority for 
the Board and Management. The Board monitors 
risk within the Group to ensure high standards of  
operational quality and compliance with the 
Group’s approved strategies, policies and proce-
dures. It ensures the Board is aware of any mate-
rial risk issues and assesses the viability of the 
Group’s operations. 

The Group continues a proactive approach to 
risk management. Management, together with 
the Board and the Audit & Risk Management 
Committee, continually assess the key risks and 
their potential effect on the business. The Group  
undergoes, at minimum, an annual review of the 
risk management framework to determine wheth-
er there have been any changes in material busi-
ness risks faced by the entity.  

During the financial year, the Group identified the 
following risks as major risks to the business in 
the foreseeable future:

• The availability of capital resources

• The retention and hiring of key personnel

• The strength of the Group’s Intellectual Property  
 portfolio

• The progress and/or outcome of clinical trials

• The adoption of the Group’s technology

• The risk of not meeting continuous disclosu-  
 re obligations

• The progress of new product development

• The risk related to product liability and 
 cyber-security breaches

• The effective management of the Group’s  
 supply chain

These risks are not ranked in any order of impor-
tance or timeframe. The intention of the Group’s 
risk management framework is to identify risks 
to allow the Group to plan, assess and execute 
its strategies. Risk monitoring and assessment 
activities are designed to reduce, or otherwise 
manage, risk to levels that are acceptable to the 
Board and Management. The Board and Manage-
ment must be kept fully informed in relation to 
all risk to ensure that the correct decisions in the 
best interests of the Group are made and that its 
strategic plans are realised.

In assessing the availability of capital resourc-
es, the Group is continuing to manage its cash  
position carefully under its operating plan and lon-
ger-term strategic plan. The Group may find addi-
tional sources of financing and/or raise additional 
capital if needed.

In assessing the retention and hiring of key per-
sonnel, the Group is continuing to consult with 
remuneration consultants to review the competi-
tiveness of remuneration packages for current and 
future key management personnel. The Group may 
or may not be able to retain or hire key personnel 
based upon its remuneration structure. Details of 
retention and hiring policies of the Group are set 
out in the Remuneration Report. 

In assessing the strength of the Group’s Intellec-
tual Property, the Group continues to consult with 
IP attorneys on the landscape of the Group’s port-
folio. The Group uses patents or trademarks to 
protect its technology and applications from unau-
thorised use by third parties. The term of patents 
may expire or may be challenged, invalidated or 
circumvented. The Group is relying on its patents 
for commercial protection for its devices.

In assessing the progress and/or outcomes of 
clinical trials, the Group continuously monitors 
key clinical trials which have been published and 
evaluates potential areas of further research. The 
outcomes of clinical trials may or may not be fa-
vourable. 

In assessing the adoption of our technology, the 
Group is focused on developing a model for prac-
tice integration, in both L-Dex and future appli-
cations, for all existing and new accounts. This,  
together with evaluating the cost of the tech-
nology, fit of the technology, inclusion on guide-
lines, and reimbursement/payment levels for the 
technology, will all play a part in determining the  
future growth of the business.

In assessing continuous disclosure obligation 
risks, failure to disclose material information or 
to disclose incorrect information or correct infor-
mation in an incorrect manner is a potential risk. 
The Group continuously monitors the business for 
material information required to be disclosed and 
conducts regular Management and Board meet-
ings to discuss business progress and activities. 

In assessing the progress of new product and 
software development, the Group runs the risk 
of not meeting timelines or not making the right 
product that addresses customer and market 
needs. The Group follows a defined design con-
trol process and monitors projects to ensure that 
they are staffed correctly. In addition, the Group 
conducts usability studies to determine customer 
and patient needs.

In assessing the risk related to product liability, the 
Group conducts extensive safety testing of new 
and current technology and regularly reviews cus-
tomer complaints through its quality procedures 
and system. The risk is present that ImpediMed 
products could:

1) Cause harm or injury to users
2) Be used off label
3) Require a recall, or
4) Result in a breach to digital assets such as 
 cyber security data

In assessing the effective management of the 
Group’s supply chain, the Group must assess the 
risk of not having enough product to meet demand 
due to product shortages or supply chain issues. 

The Group manages the supply chain through 
sales and operation planning and sustaining  
engineering, as well as through long-term strate-
gic product pipeline planning.

The Board, in conjunction with Management, 
has established and implemented a system for 
identifying, assessing, monitoring and managing  
material risk throughout the organisation. The 
Board has identified what are believed to be the 
highest perceived risks to the business and will 
continue to monitor these risks to make decisions 
in the best interest of the Group.

Environmental  
Regulations and  
Performance
The Group’s activities are subject to licences and 
regulations under environmental laws that apply 
in the jurisdictions of its operations. These licens-
es specify limits for and regulate the management 
of moving to components free of hazardous sub-
stances. The Group is supporting the global move 
towards components free of hazardous substanc-
es in its device electronics and is working with its 
contract manufacturers to identify replacement 
parts, where necessary, to substitute into its de-
vice designs. 

There have been no significant known breaches 
of the license conditions or other environmental 
regulations.

ImpediMed has an environmental health and safe-
ty management system, which includes regular 
monitoring, periodic auditing and reporting within 
the Group. The system is designed to continually 
improve ImpediMed’s performance and systems 
with training, regular review, improvement plans 
and corrective action as priorities.

Share Options and
Performance Rights
Details of options granted to key management 
personnel and exercised during the year are set 
out in the Remuneration Report.

Annual Report 2018 ImpediMed Limited Likely Developments & Expected Results / Significant Risks to the Business Significant Risks to the Business  / Environmental Regulations and Performance / 
Share Options and Performance Rights
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Unissued Shares

As at the date of this report and the reporting date, there were unissued ordinary shares under options and 
performance rights as outlined below: 

30 Aug 2018 30 Jun 2018

18,216,070

14,009,968 

32,226,038

4,431,500

4,431,500

36,657,538

18,774,000

14,009,968

32,783,968

4,741,500

4,741,500

37,525,468

EIP Options 

ESOP Options

Total Options

EIP Performance Rights 

Total Performance Rights

Refer to Note 18 of the financial statements for 
further details of options and performance rights 
outstanding and the value of the share-based pay-
ments.

Option holders and performance right holders do 
not have the right, by virtue of the option or per-
formance right, to participate in any share issue 
of the Group or any related body corporate or in 
the interest issue of any other registered scheme.

During the financial year, 1,387,619 ESOP op-
tions (2017:1,823,254) and nil EIP options (2017: 
118,311) were exercised. In addition, 2,080,000 
performance rights (2017: nil) vested under the 
EIP plan. Refer to Note 18 of the financial state-
ments for further details of options exercised 
during the year.

During the financial year, 48,875 ESOP options 
(2017: nil) and 2,670,130 EIP options (2017: 
1,926,689) were forfeited; 101,365 ESOP options 
(2017: 30,151) and nil EIP options (2017: nil)  
expired. In addition, 509,500 performance rights 
(2017: 541,000) under the EIP plan were forfeited 
during the period. Refer to Note 18 of the financial 
statements for further details of options forfeited 
or expired during the year.

Shares Issued as a Result of the 
Exercise of Options

During the financial year, KMP exercised options 
to acquire 958,970 fully paid ordinary shares in Im-
pediMed Limited at a weighted average exercise 

price of $0.15 per share. The weighted average 
exercise price of all options exercised during the 
period was $0.19.

Indemnification and 
Insurance of Directors 
and Officers
The Group insured its Directors, Secretary and 
Executive Officers for the financial year ended 
30 June 2018 and bound coverage for financial 
year 2019. Under the Group’s Directors’ and Offi-
cers’ Liability Insurance Policy, the Group cannot 
release to any third party or otherwise publish  
details of the nature of the liabilities insured by the 
policy or the amount of the premium.     

To the extent permitted by law and subject to 
the restrictions in section 199A and 199B of the  
Corporations Act 2001, the Group indemnifies  
every person who is or has been an officer of the 
Group against any liability (other than for legal 
costs) incurred by that person as an officer of the 
Group where the Group requested the officer to 
accept appointment as Director or Executive.

To the extent permitted by law and subject to 
the restrictions in sections 199A and 199B of the  
Corporations Act 2001, the Group indemnifies  
every person who is or has been an officer of the 
Group against reasonable legal costs incurred in 
defending an action for a liability incurred by that 
person as an officer of the Group.

To the extent permitted by law, the Group has 
agreed to indemnify its auditors, Ernst & Young, as 
part of the terms of its audit engagement agree-
ment against claims by third parties arising from 
the audit (for an unspecified amount). No payment 
has been made to indemnify Ernst & Young during 
or since the financial year.

Employees
As at 30 June 2018, ImpediMed and its subsidiar-
ies had a total of 68 full and part-time employees 
(2017: 76 employees).

Diversity
The Group has a formal written Diversity Policy 
that is published on ImpediMed’s website.

The Board adopted an updated Diversity Policy on 
8 March 2017. The Board has the role of oversee-
ing the implementation of this policy and assess-
ing progress in achieving its objectives.

Diversity refers to characteristics that make indi-
viduals different from each other. Diversity encom-
passes differences in backgrounds and experienc-
es, and differences in approach and viewpoints. 
It includes factors such as gender, age, ethnicity, 
cultural background, language, disability and other 
areas of potential difference.

The diversity policy defines the initiatives which 
assist the Group with maintaining and improving 
the diversity of its workforce. To the extent prac-
ticable, the Group will address the recommenda-
tions and guidance provided in the ASX Corporate 
Governance Council’s Corporate Governance Prin-
ciples and Recommendations (ASX Principles).

ImpediMed’s Commitment 
to Workplace Diversity

The Group is committed to creating and ensur-
ing a diverse work environment in which every-

one is treated fairly and with respect and where 
everyone feels responsible for the reputation and 
performance of ImpediMed. The Board and Man-
agement of ImpediMed believe that ImpediMed’s 
commitment to this policy contributes to achiev-
ing corporate objectives and embeds the impor-
tance and value of diversity within the culture of 
the Group.

Details of the number of management level 
females of the Group as of:

Corporate Governance 
On 27 March 2014, the ASX Corporate Governance 
Council (CGC) released the third edition of their 
corporate governance principles and recommen-
dations, including ASX listing rule 4.10.3.

Details of ImpediMed’s corporate governance  
policies and procedures, including information 
about Board Committees and Corporate Charters, 
can be found on the Group’s website under the 
Investor Relations section: 

https://investors.impedimed.com/about/corpo-
rate-governance/

30 Jun 18 30 Jun 17Level

Female FemaleTotal Total

Board of Directors

Executives

Senior Managers

1

2

4

2

2

9

7

7

14

7

7

20

Indemnification 
of Auditors
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Remuneration Report 
(Audited)
This Remuneration Report outlines the remuner-
ation arrangements for the Key Management Per-
sonnel (“KMP”) of the Group in accordance with 
the requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 
(the Act) and its Regulations.  

The report is structured into the following sec-
tions:

SECTION 1

Introduction

ImpediMed is committed to establishing a remu-
neration strategy that effectively aligns executive 
compensation with shareholder value creation.  
The Board’s Remuneration Committee works to 
balance Australian corporate governance and 
remuneration best practices with the business’ 
need to provide remuneration that will attract,  
retain and motivate key US-based executive talent 
in a highly competitive market.    

ImpediMed’s strategy is to deliver medical tech-
nology to measure, monitor and manage fluid  
status and body composition. The Group is ad-
vancing the state of the art in BIS technology with 
our new SOZO® product platform and has expand-
ed into additional disease indications in 2018. The 
transformation to a high growth medical technol-
ogy company makes it critical to be able to retain 
and attract specialised talents, to now include 
highly sought after information technology skilled 
talent, necessary to achieve the important regula-
tory, clinical and commercial milestones on which 
the success of our strategy depends.

1.1. New Remuneration 
Components Implemented in 
the 2018 Financial Year

Performance-Based Remuneration

The remuneration arrangements for the 2018  
financial year remain broadly consistent with the 
previous period.  A key update to the remuneration 
structure of the Group is the increased weight-
ing of performance-based remuneration tied to 
long-term incentive (LTI) hurdles in the at-risk  
remuneration mix for executive KMP. This update 
increases the portion of KMP remuneration tied 
to performance hurdles (from 30% to 40%) that  
support the company’s long-term business strat-
egy and ultimately create shareholder value. The 
use of share-based remuneration is essential to 
retain and motivate key talent.  

Comparator Groups

During the 2017 financial year, the Remuneration 
Committee conducted a comprehensive review of 
the Group’s peer groups to ensure that the most 

relevant and appropriate companies are used to 
benchmark ImpediMed executive and board remu-
neration. In reviewing remuneration for the 2018 
financial year, the Committee, with the assistance 
of the Group’s independent remuneration consul-
tants, adopted a more refined approach to select-
ing comparator companies by reference to key 
characteristics including industry, financial size 
and labour market. This improved approach is also 
intended to better reflect ImpediMed’s geographic 
footprint, which includes a listing on the Austra-
lian Securities Exchange (ASX) and a significant 
presence in the US, as the majority of the Group’s 
Executives and NEDs reside in the US.

Board Remuneration

Fees have been introduced for members of the  
Audit and Risk Management Committee and the 
Remuneration Committee to provide a better 
level of remuneration for committee responsibil-
ities and time commitments, typical to Australia 
and US practices. Historically, only the Chair of a 
Committee received any additional board remu-
neration.

1.2. Key Developments Expected 
for the 2019 Financial Year

Performance-Based Remuneration

In the 2019 financial year, the Group will look 
to continue increasing the weighting of perfor-
mance-based equity in the LTI program. The pro-
portion of KMP equity grants that are subject to 
specified performance and service conditions will 
likely be increased in the 2019 financial year. The 
use of share-based remuneration is essential to 
retain and motivate key talent.

Board Remuneration

The remuneration structure among US life scienc-
es and medical technology companies typically 
includes a significantly weighted equity compo-
nent for board members. With a large majority of 
the ImpediMed Board being US based, the Board 
is evaluating the use of equity grants for NEDs in 
future years in order to retain and attract NEDs 
that have specific backgrounds (e.g. regulatory  
regime, reimbursement environment) in the highly 
competitive US healthcare industry.

CONTENTS
Section 1 / Introduction Page  47   

Section 2 / Key Management Personnel Page  48

Section 3 / Remuneration Governance Page  49

Section 4 / Consequences of Performance
  on Shareholder Value Page  51

Section 5 / Executive Remuneration 
  Philosophy and Strategy Page  51

Section 6 / Remuneration of Non-Executive 
  Directors (NEDs) Page  52

Section 7 / Remuneration of Executives Page  52

Section 8 / Executive Contractual 
  Arrangements Page  58

Section 9 / Managing Director and 
  CEO Remuneration Page  59

Section 10 / Statutory Tables Page  60

Section 11 / Executive Comparator Group List Page  68

ImpediMed LimitedRemuneration Report (Audited) Section 1 Introduction
F

or
 p

er
so

na
l u

se
 o

nl
y



Annual Report 2018

48 49

CORPORATE 
INFORMATION

CORPORATE 
INFORMATION

DIRECTORS’ 
REPORT

DIRECTORS’ 
REPORT

REMUNERATION 
REPORT

REMUNERATION 
REPORT

FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS 

FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS 

SECTION 2

Key Management Personnel

For the purposes of this report, the key manage-
ment personnel (KMP) of the Group are defined as 
those persons having authority and responsibility 

for planning, directing and controlling the major 
activities of the Group, directly or indirectly, includ-
ing any Director (whether executive or otherwise) 
of the Group. This information has been audited 
as required by section 308(3c) of the Act.

SECTION 3

Remuneration Governance 

3.1. Role of the Remuneration 
Committee

The Remuneration Committee of the Board of 
Directors of the Group is responsible for making 
recommendations to the Board on the remunera-
tion arrangements for each of the Non-Executive 
Directors (NED), Executive Directors (ED), the Man-
aging Director and Chief Executive Officer (MD & 
CEO) and executives reporting to the MD and CEO. 

The Remuneration Committee assesses the 
appropriateness of the nature and amount of 
remuneration of executives on a periodic basis 
by reference to relevant employment market con-
ditions, with the overall objective of maximising 
shareholder benefit through the attraction and 
retention of high-quality, high-performing execu-
tives. In determining the level and composition of 
executive remuneration, the Remuneration Com-
mittee may also engage external consultants to 
provide independent advice.  

As of the date of this report, the Remuneration 
Committee comprises the following Non-Execu-
tive Directors, all of whom are independent:    

• Donald Williams (Chair since November 2017) 
• Scott Ward (Chair through November 2017) 
• Gary Goetzke 
• Robert Graham 

The primary responsibilities of the Remuneration 
Committee are to:

• Recommend to the Board of Directors the  
 amount and form of compensation to be paid  
 to the CEO and the at risk component based 
 on his performance

• Review the CEO’s recommendations of the  
 amount and form of compensation to be paid  
 to the executives reporting to the CEO and the  
 at risk component based on their performance

• Exercise oversight of the remuneration philos- 
 ophy, plans and practices for all other employees

• Exercise oversight and recommend to the Board  
 of Directors any compensation pursuant to the  
 Group’s equity compensation plans

• Recommend to the Board of Directors the   
 amount of and form of compensation arrange- 
 ments for NEDs and EDs

Chairman

Former Chairman (Retired November 2017)

Non-executive Director 

Non-executive Director 

Non-executive Director (Appointed November 2017) 

Non-executive Director

Non-executive Director

Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer

Chief Financial Officer

Chief Technology Officer (Hired July 2018) (i)

Senior Vice President Ventures, Licensing and Corporate Development

Senior Vice President Medical Affairs

Senior Vice President R&D and Technology

Director

Scott Ward

Cherrell Hirst AO

Judith Downes

Gary Goetzke

Robert Graham

Amit Patel

Donald Williams

Richard Carreon

Executives (i)

Morten Vigeland

Shashi Tripathi

David Adams 

Catherine Kingsford

Dennis Schlaht

There were no other changes to KMP after the reporting date and before the date the financial report was 
authorised for issue.  

(i) Shashi Tripathi was hired in July 2018 and will be considered KMP in the 2019 financial year.
 Frank Vicini, MD, Chief Medical Officer, is not considered part of the KMP for financial statement purposes.
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SECTION 4

Consequences of Performance 
on Shareholder Value

ImpediMed Limited has operated as a listed pub-
lic company since October 2007 and was added 
to the S&P/ASX300 in March 2015. The Group 
is building revenue in its core medical business 

and has yet to achieve profitability. While the Re-
muneration Committee has regard to the items 
shown in the following table in respect of the cur-
rent and prior financial years, KMP remuneration 
is not directly linked to these items but rather to 
building the elements necessary to create share-
holder wealth through acceptance and use of the 
Group’s products.   

Amount $

Net loss attributable to equity holders 
of the parent entity (000’s)

Dividends paid

Share price at 30 June

Change in share price

Market Cap (millions)

2018

($27,174) 

nil

$0.395 

(47)%

$149.70 

2017

($27,571) 

nil

$0.75 

(21)%

$281.64 

2016

($25,980) 

nil

$0.95 

9%

$352.50

2015

($14,797) 

nil

$0.87 

358%

$253.70 

2014

($7,935)

nil

$0.19 

111%

$45.40 
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SECTION 5

Executive Remuneration 
Philosophy and Strategy

The Remuneration Committee reviews the re-
muneration philosophy and strategy and makes 
recommendations to the Board regarding the 
remuneration arrangements for Executive KMP. 
ImpediMed’s remuneration philosophy and strat-
egy are designed to attract, motivate and retain 
Executives of the required calibre by identifying 
and rewarding high performers and recognising 
the contribution of each Executive to the contin-
ued growth and success of the Group.  

The remuneration philosophy at ImpediMed tar-
gets fixed remuneration at the median of its US 
peers and variable compensation above the medi-
an for exceptional performance. In order to deter-
mine executive compensation, the Remuneration 
Committee uses benchmarking data from a peer 
group of comparable companies and reviews the 
pay plans and practices of other relevant compa-
nies. When considering companies for inclusion 
in ImpediMed’s peer group, the Remuneration 
Committee considers companies that are similar 
in size (i.e. revenue, market capitalisation and em-

ployee numbers), scope and complexity; operate 
in similar or related businesses to the Group (i.e. 
Med Tech); and that may compete with Impedi- 
Med for key talent (e.g., companies based in the 
US, including Southern California and the West 
Coast). The peer group is reviewed on a regular 
basis to ensure its composition remains appro-
priate for ImpediMed.

Other factors the Remuneration Committee may 
consider when setting remuneration include 
internal equity, individual performance, tenure, 
leadership skills and ability to impact company 
performance. In addition, while recruiting and 
retaining key executive talent, the compensation 
decisions may be determined based on negotia-
tions with such individuals and can reflect such 
factors as the amount of compensation that the 
individual would forgo by joining or remaining with 
the Group.

To this end, key objectives of the Group’s reward 
framework are to:

• Align remuneration with the Group’s business  
 strategy and compensation philosophy;

• Offer an attractive mix of remuneration bench 
 marked against the peer group;

OVERSEE & 
APPROVE

OVERSEE & 
APPROVE

INFORMED &
 RECOMMEND

INFORMED &
 RECOMMEND

SUPPORT & 
ADVICE

ENGAGE & 
OVERSEE

BOARD
Has overall responsibility for oversight of ImpediMed’s Remuneration Policy and its principles and processes.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
· Remuneration arrangements for NED, ED, the  
 MD & CEO and Executives reporting to the MD  
 & CEO;
· Remuneration Philosophy, Plans and Practices;
· Compensation pursuant to Group’s Equity 
 compensation Plans.

REMUNERATION 
CONSULTANTS & OTHER 
EXTERNAL ADVISORS
Where required, support the
Remunaration and Nomination
Committee by providing 
independent advice on matters
including:
·  Benchmarking data;
·  Legal and regulatory advice on  
 remuneration related issues for 
 Directors and Executives; and
·  Incentive Plans.

CEO
Reviews and recommends remuneration 
arrangements and outcomes of Performance 
Assessments to the Remuneration and Nomi-
nation Committee for senior Executives.

3.2. Services from Remuneration 
Consultants 

In December 2016, the Remuneration Committee 
engaged Willis Towers Watson (WTW) to provide 
remuneration consultation. The WTW consulting 
team to ImpediMed includes consultants based 
in the same geographies where concentrations of 
ImpediMed employees reside including Australia  
and the US. WTW was engaged to:

• Review the Group’s remuneration philosophy

• Recommend a peer group for pay benchmarking

• Review incentive plan designs to ensure the  
 plans are practical for a US company and sen- 
 sible to Australian governance standards

• Analyse share utilisation and equity usage

• Assist the Group with the preparation and review  
 of the 2018 Remuneration Report 

The engagement of WTW was undertaken directly 
by the Board, independent of Management, and 
is based on an agreed set of protocols governing 
the engagement developed by WTW and provided 
to the Board. The work undertaken by WTW in the 
2018 financial year did not constitute a remuner-
ation recommendation for the purposes of the 
Corporations Act 2001.
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marking data from peer groups of comparable 
companies and reviews the pay plans and prac-
tices of other relevant companies.   

In the financial year ended 30 June 2018, the re-
muneration structure for KMP and some employ-
ees consisted of the following elements:

Strategic Objectives  
and Link to Performance

•   Offer an attractive mix 
of remuneration bench-
marked against the ap-
plicable market’s region 
and country practices.

• Align remuneration with  
 the Group’s business  
 strategy

• Align the interests of  
 executives and share- 
 holders and share the  
 success of the Group  
 with the employees  

•  Provide strong linkage 
between individual and 
Group performance and 
rewards

•  To attract and retain the  
 key talent needed to   
 deliver on our corporate  
 objectives and strategic   
 plan

Performance  Measure

The fixed remuneration is not per-
formance related. It is set having 
regard for:

• Experience and qualifications 
 of the individual
• Responsibilities and criticality  
 of role
• Remuneration paid to similar  
 roles by US Comparator  
 Companies

Financial KPIs (40%):

• Total Revenue  
• EBITDA

Non-financial KPIs (60%):

• Corporate goals, including: 
 - Medical evidence milestones
 - The key new product develop- 
  ment milestone 
 - Regulatory Clearance milestone

• Time-based (60%): Options vest  
 subject to the participant  
 remaining in employment with  
 ImpediMed over a four (4) year  
 period.  
• Performance-based (40%): 
 Performance Rights vest  
 subject to achieving two (2)  
 equally weighted hurdles over a  
 three (3) year period:

-  CHF Pivotal trial or enrolment in  
 CHF Registry milestone 
- Revenue Growth milestone

Component

FIXED REMUNERATION:

Base salary, superannuation, 
employee health benefits and 
any salary sacrificed benefits.

SHORT TERM INCENTIVE 
(STI):

Cash based incentive awarded 
for the achievement of Imped-
iMed’s Operating Plan objec-
tives measured over a one-
year performance period.

LONG TERM INCENTIVE (LTI):

Equity based incentive, com-
prising a mix of Options and 
Performance Rights for Group 
performance over the long-
term.

ImpediMed LimitedSection 5 Executive Remuneration Philosophy and Strategy /   
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• Provide strong linkage between individual and  
 Group performance and rewards;

• Offer remuneration based on internal equity  
 with other employees and matching the role  
 requirements with the skills, experience and  
 responsibilities of individual executives;

• Align the interests of executives and sharehold- 
 ers and share the success of the Group with the  
 executives; and

• Support the corporate mission statement, 
 values and policies through the approach to  
 recruiting, organising and managing people.

SECTION 6

Remuneration of 
Non-Executive Directors (NEDs)
The Remuneration Committee considers the lev-
el of remuneration required to attract and retain 
highly qualified Non-Executive Directors with the 
necessary skills and experience for the Group’s 
board. This remuneration is reviewed annually 
with regard to market practice and NED duties, 
responsibilities and accountability. This remu-
neration was reviewed in 2018 relative to similar-
ly-sized ASX-listed companies in the healthcare 
sector, as well as medical technology companies 
in the US, given NED membership is currently 67% 
US and 33% Australian.

NED fees are determined within an aggregate 
Directors’ fee pool, approved by shareholders at 
the annual general meeting (AGM). The maximum 
aggregate remuneration approved in 2015 was 
$800,000.   

The sum of NED fees paid in 2018 was $586,931 
(2017: $457,419). The chairs of the Remunera-
tion and Audit & Risk Management Committees 
receive an additional fee and for the 2018 financial 
year, fees have been introduced for members of 
the Audit and Risk Management Committee and 
the Remuneration Committee.

A large majority of the Board members are based 
in the US where the healthcare industry is highly 
competitive and typically structures remunera-
tion with heavy weighting on equity. Consider-
ation is being given to providing a portion of NED  
remuneration in the form of equity with the aim of  
 

ensuring that NED remuneration is attractive in 
both Australia and the US. The Group’s current 
NED remuneration is positioned around the lower 
quartile of the US peer group. The lack of equity 
results in a lower competitive positioning.

An increase in NED remuneration would be con-
sidered in 2019 as the first increase to base  
remuneration in 6 years. It is anticipated that the 
increase would be in the form of an equity grant 
which would assist the company in managing its 
available cash resources. 

Table 10.1 shows individual Director fees paid 
during the year ended 30 June 2018.

Shareholding of Directors 

During 2016, a minimum shareholding for NEDs 
of one year’s post-tax Board fees was introduced. 
Prior to the introduction of that policy, NEDs  
voluntarily acquired shares on-market. Imped-
iMed NEDs have never been issued shares or  
options in the Group as part of any equity plan. 

Please see section 7.4 for the details on minimum 
shareholding requirements for NEDs. 

Table 10.4 shows the movement in ordinary 
shareholdings of Directors during the year end-
ed 30 June 2017. As of the date of this report, 
Gary Goetzke (appointed August 2016), Donald 
Williams (appointed March 2017), Amit Patel 
(appointed March 2017) and Robert Graham (ap-
pointed November 2017) have not yet meet those 
requirements but are all within five years of ap-
pointment to the Board.

SECTION 7

Remuneration of Executives
The majority of the Group’s executive KMP are 
based in the US and are remunerated accord-
ing to the laws and norms of that country, which  
differ in many important respects from Australian 
practice. 

As described in Section 5, the framework for 
executive remuneration at ImpediMed is based 
upon a remuneration philosophy and strate-
gy established by the Remuneration Commit-
tee and approved by the Board of Directors.   
The Remuneration Committee references bench- 

7.1. Fixed Remuneration 

Fixed remuneration consists of base salary,  
superannuation and other entitlement benefits 
that vary by state or country. Fixed remuneration 
is not “at risk” as it does not vary with the perfor-
mance of the Group. 

Fixed remuneration is not automatically increased 
but is reviewed annually, to ensure it remains com-
petitive.  

As described in Section 5, fixed remuneration 
for Executives is determined based upon bench-
marking data from a peer group of comparable 
companies. In addition to reviewing benchmarking 
survey data, when setting fixed remuneration for 
any given role, the Remuneration Committee has 
regard to the experience, qualifications and skill 
set of the individual, as well as the responsibilities 
and criticality of the role.
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Link to Improved  
Company Performance

Revenue growth is key to com-
pany performance and will lead 
to shareholder return. 

Given ImpediMed’s current 
stage of development, invest-
ments are needed for future 
growth, resulting in negative 
EBITDA in the near term.  
However, meeting corporate 
objectives, while controlling 
EBITDA based upon a set 
Operating Plan, is essential for 
short to medium-term success 
of the Group. 

These performance conditions 
were selected because their 
achievement in the defined 
time frame is critical to  

(a) Increased adoption of  
 L-Dex and private payer  
 reimbursement in the US; 
(b) enhanced product design  
 for increased sales and  
 utilisation and
(c) expansion in CHF and other  
 indications 

which will contribute to future 
revenue growth and sharehold-
er value.  

Weighting

20% 
 

20%

60%

Key Αchievements  
& KPI Οutcomes

Total Revenue decreased 
17% to $4.8M (2017: $5.8M).

The revenue component 
was measured based on the 
functional currency of each 
entity for the STI.

KPI Assessment: 
Not achieved.

The Group EBITDA was 
($27.3M). The Group made 
significant progress on key 
objectives within Operating 
Plan EBITDA.

The EBITDA component was 
measured based on the func-
tional currency of each entity 
for the STI.

KPI Assessment: 
Between threshold and 
at target performance 
achieved.

Enrolment of targeted 1,100 
patients in PREVENT trial 
completed  and interim re-
sults released; acceptance  
of heart failure study 
abstract for presentation. 
Enhancement of SOZO  
completed enabling transi-
tion to subscription model. 
510(k) clearance for bilateral 
Lymphodema assessment 
with SOZO, CHF montoring 
with SOZO and SOZO with 
L-Dex for unilateral  
Lymphodema achieved. 

KPI Assessment:  
Between at target and maxi-
mum performance achieved 
for the various objectives 
detailed above. 

KPI

Revenue

EBITDA

Corporate Strategic
Goals:

• Medical evidence  
 milestones
• The key new product  
 development  
 milestone
• Regulatory Clearance  
 milestone

7.2.1. STI Performance Conditions and Outcomes

The table below provides an overview of ImpediMed’s performance against the financial and non-financial 
KPIs applicable to Executive KMP.  

For the year ended 30 June 2018, all Executive KMP had common KPIs.

ImpediMed LimitedSection 7 Remuneration of Executives Section 7 Remuneration of Executives

7.2. Short-Term Incentive (STI)  

The STI plan is a cash based incentive which is 
awarded based on annual performance. In the  
financial year ended 30 June 2018, the STI Plan fo-
cused on both Group and Individual performance.  
The remuneration philosophy at ImpediMed tar-

gets variable compensation above the median 
for exceptional performance and the STI aims to 
encourage performance over and above what is  
expected as part of the ordinary course of busi-
ness. The key features of the STI plan for the 
financial year ended 30 June 2018 are outlined 
below:

Participants

Award Type

Opportunity

Performance Period

Performance
Conditions

KMP and other selected employees

Cash

The value of the target STI opportunity for FY18 has been expressed as a 
percentage of Total Fixed Remuneration (TFR) in the table below:

 
Actual STI payments awarded depend on the extent to which specific key 
performance indicator (KPI) targets are achieved, as follows:
• Threshold performance - 50% of target opportunity
• At target performance - 100% of target opportunity 
• Maximum performance - 150% of target opportunity for Executives; 200%  
 of target opportunity for MD & CEO

Threshold performance is the minimum level of performance required to 
earn any STI.

Targets are set with a level of ‘stretch’ built in, and therefore, maximum STI 
is only achieved in respect of exceptional performance.

The performance period is 12 months.

For the financial year ended 30 June 2018, the KPIs for KMP are included 
in the diagram below:

Additional detail is provided at section 7.2.1

KMP Target STI

MD & CEO  70%
CFO  40%
SVP Ventures, Licensing and Corporate Development   40% 
SVP Medical Affairs  40%
SVP R&D and Technology  40%

Corporate Goals 60%

60% 
Non-

Financial

40% 
Financial

Revenue 20%
EBITDA 20%F
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Opportunity

Performance 
Period

Performance 
Conditions

 

Treatment of  
Dividends on  
Unvested 
Awards

Leaver 
Provisions

Clawback 
Provisions

Change 
of Control

The value of the LTI awards has been expressed as a percentage of TFR in the 
table below: 

Performance Conditions are weighted equally at one third each with:
- Minimum Threshold - 50% of “Plan”
- Plan - 100% of “Plan”
- Maximum - 150% of “Plan” / MD & CEO 200% of “Plan”

For LTI awarded in the year ended 30 June 2018:
• Options vest annually in equal portions over a four (4) year period; and 
• Performance Rights vest based on performance over three (3) years.

For Performance Rights awarded in the year ended 30 June 2018, the Board as-
signed performance hurdles to increase the focus on supporting the Group’s 
long-term business strategy and shareholder value. The performance hurdles 
include a minimum of three strategic measures and require the achievement of 
key milestone objectives.     

Each Performance Right awarded in FY18 is subject to achieving LTI Hurdles 
related to the following objectives:

- CHF Pivotal trial or enrolment in CHF Registry milestone
- Revenue Growth milestone

These performance conditions were selected because their achievement in the 
defined time frame is critical to the company’s success and driving long-term 
value creation.

Due to the commercially sensitive nature of the specific performance metrics 
within these KPI’s, ImpediMed will provide further details in the annual report 
following the end of the performance period.

The LTI instruments do not carry dividend or voting rights prior to vesting.

Where a participant ceases employment prior to vesting, the award is forfeited 
unless the Board applies its discretion to allow vesting at, or post, cessation of 
employment.  

Provides the Board discretion to clawback variable pay of LTI participants in the 
event of serious misconduct or fraud by the employee or other specific events.

In a situation where there is likely to be a change of control of the Group, the 
Board may have the discretion to determine whether some, none or all of the LTI 
instruments will vest.

KMP LTI Opportunity 

MD & CEO  262%

CFO  110%

SVP Ventures, Licensing and Corporate Development   108%

SVP Medical Affairs  109%

SVP R&D and Technology  109%

ImpediMed LimitedSection 7 Remuneration of Executives Section 7 Remuneration of Executives

Participants

Award Type 

Executives, and other selected employees and consultants, at the discretion of 
the Board.

In order to balance the objectives of U.S. and Australian remuneration practices, 
the Options granted during the period continue to vest on a time-based sched-
ule (as is common in the U.S.) but a heavier mix of performance-based rights 
were granted to align with Australian practices.

LTI awards made after 30 October 2014 were issued under the Employee Incen-
tive Plan (EIP) in the form of Options and Performance Rights with a mix of 60% 
Options and 40% Performance Rights. 

Each Option entitles the holder to one fully paid ordinary share of ImpediMed 
Limited at an exercise price based on the five (5) day Volume Weighted Average 
Price (VWAP) at close of business when granted.

Each Performance Right is subject to achieving LTI Hurdles.

In fiscal year 2019, a greater portion of LTI grants will be performance based 
with a likely mix of 50% Options and 50% Performance Rights.

7.3. Long-Term Incentive (LTI)

The Board offers LTIs to reward the performance of Executives in alignment with shareholders’ interests 
and the long-term benefit of the Group.

The key features of the LTI plan are outlined below:

7.2.2. STI Outcomes

US-based Executives are paid in USD. Listed below are their USD payouts, as well as the AUD equivalents.

KMP

Richard Carreon 
MD & CEO

Morten Vigeland 
CFO

Dave Adams  
SVP Ventures,  
Licensing and Corp Dev

Catherine Kingsford 
SVP Medical Affairs

Dennis Schlaht   
SVP, R&D and 
Technology

%  
Achieved (i)

112.4%

94.9%

94.9%

 94.9%
 

94.9%

Target STI  
opportunity 

AUD (ii)

$452,684

$176,516
 

$158,536

 $133,120
 

$149,296

STI outcome 
AUD

$508,816 

$167,514
 

$150,450

 $126,331
 

$141,683

Target STI  
opportunity 

USD (i) 

$350,907 

$136,830
 

$122,892

 N/A
 

$115,730 

(i) CEO outcome based on 200% maximum performance, remaining KMP based on 150% maximum performance. 
(ii) US-based executives are paid in USD. The Target STI opportunity displayed in the above table is calculated based on the average  
 exchange rate for the year.

STI outcome 
USD

$394,419 

$129,852
 

$116,625

 N/A
 

$109,828

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



Annual Report 2018

58 59

CORPORATE 
INFORMATION

CORPORATE 
INFORMATION

DIRECTORS’ 
REPORT

DIRECTORS’ 
REPORT

REMUNERATION 
REPORT

REMUNERATION 
REPORT

FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS 

FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS 

SECTION 9

Managing Director 
& CEO Remuneration

Mr Carreon’s fixed remuneration at 30 June 2018 
was USD $501,295 (2017: USD $472,920) plus 
non-monetary health benefits. For the 2018 fi-
nancial year, the Board approved the Remunera-
tion Committee’s recommendation to increase Mr 
Carreon’s fixed remuneration based on his perfor-
mance and the external benchmarking undertaken 
during the year.  

Mr Carreon’s STI performance conditions and out-
comes have been detailed at section 7.2.1 and 
7.2.2. During the 2018 financial year, the Board 
issued 1,553,000 Options (2017: 872,000) to Mr 
Carreon at an exercise price of $0.81 per option 
under the EIP. During the 2018 financial year, 
the Board issued 1,262,000 Performance Rights 
(2017: 470,000) to Mr Carreon under the EIP.

The Options and Performance Rights were ap-
proved by shareholders at the 2017 AGM and 
subsequently granted on 15 November 2017.

The Options consisted of a mix of incentive stock 
options (ISO) and non-statutory stock options 
(NSO). Subject in all cases to continuous employ-
ment with the Group, the Options will vest over a 
four-year period with one-quarter of the number 
of total options granted vesting annually, on each 
one-year anniversary of the date of grant. Addi-
tionally, if in the opinion of the Board a Change of 
Control has occurred or is likely to occur, the Board 
may declare an Option to be free of any Vesting 
Conditions as detailed in Rule 5.3(b) of the Plan.

All options which have not vested shall automati-
cally lapse and be forfeited without consideration 
upon cessation of Mr Carreon’s employment with 
the Group unless otherwise determined by the 
Board.

The Performance Rights were issued for nil con-
sideration when the closing price of a share on 
ASX on the date of grant was $0.815. Subject in all 
cases to continuous employment with the Group, 
the Performance Rights will vest on the third anni-
versary of the date of grant to the extent that rele-

vant performance hurdles are satisfied. The extent 
to which a performance condition is satisfied will 
be determined by the Remuneration Committee, 
whose decision is final and binding on the Partic-
ipant. The Remuneration Committee may deter-
mine that a performance condition has been sat-
isfied at or between “minimum” and “maximum”, in 
which case the percentage of performance rights 
that vest will be determined by the Remuneration 
Committee. If any performance rights do not vest 
(as determined by the Remuneration Committee), 
those performance rights will lapse.

All Performance Rights which have not vested 
shall automatically lapse and be forfeited with-
out consideration upon cessation of Mr Carreon’s 
employment with the Group unless otherwise de-
termined by the Board.

The Board may declare that some, none or all out-
standing unvested Performance Rights are free 
of Performance Conditions and may vest on an 
accelerated basis immediately before a Change 
of Control Event. Without limiting the Board’s dis-
cretion, the Board may have regard to the degree 
to which the relevant Performance Conditions 
have been achieved prior to the Change of Con-
trol Event.

If the Participant ceases employment with the 
Company or any Group entity where such ces-
sation of employment is due to the Participant’s 
death, permanent illness or permanent physical 
or permanent mental incapacity (as certified by a 
medical practitioner who is approved in writing by 
the Board), the Board may, in its discretion, deter-
mine that the Performance Rights will vest (on the 
third anniversary of the Date of Grant) on the same 
basis as if the Participant was still employed by 
the Company or another Group entity.  

ImpediMed LimitedSection 7 Remuneration of Executives / Section 8 Executive Contractual Arrangements Section 9 Managing Director & CEO Remuneration

The Remuneration Committee aims to prudent-
ly manage dilution and the accounting cost of  
executive equity plans, while leveraging long-term 
incentives to maintain shareholder alignment and 
execution of the business strategy. Periodically 
the remuneration committee reviews capacity  
levels of LTI plans. The last time the capacity was 
increased was in November 2017.  
 

7.4. Minimum Shareholding 
Requirement

The Board introduced a minimum shareholding 
requirement in FY16 to ensure that Executives and 
NEDs build and maintain substantial sharehold-
ings in the Group to align their long-term interests 
with that of shareholders.

Executives are prohibited from disposing of Im-
pediMed shares acquired from equity-based share 
schemes (other than to fund the associated tax 
liability arising on vesting of the equity), unless 

immediately after that disposal they continue to 
hold ImpediMed shares with a value equal to or 
greater than the minimum shareholding require-
ment. The minimum shareholding requirement for 
Executives is equal to the value of their annual 
base salary after tax.

The minimum shareholding requirement for NED’s 
is equal to the value of one year’s base fee (exclud-
ing committee fees) after tax. ImpediMed NED’s 
are required to purchase ImpediMed shares, in  
accordance with the Group’s Share Trading Policy, 
to meet the minimum shareholding requirement 
within five years of appointment to the ImpediMed 
Board.  

As of the date of this report, Gary Goetzke (ap-
pointed August 2016), Donald Williams (appointed 
March 2017), Amit Patel (appointed March 2017) 
and Robert Graham (appointed November 2017) 
have not yet meet those requirements but are all 
within five years of appointment to the Board.

SECTION 8

Executive Contractual 
Arrangements

Remuneration arrangements for the KMP are for-
malised in employment contracts. Contracts are 
generally “at will” and outline the remuneration 

and other key provisions. At-will employment is 
a term used in US labour law for contractual rela-
tionships where an employee can be dismissed by 
an employer without cause and warning. Certain 
KMP have negotiated termination provisions as 
follows:

(i) Payments are made in lieu of notice only if employment comes to an end for reasons other than resignation or termination  
 with cause.
(ii) Employment through the end of the financial year is required for the award of STI incentives, unless changed at the discretion  
 of the Board.
(iii) Payment includes health and dental insurance coverage paid on his behalf during the notice period.

Managing Director

R Carreon

Executives

M Vigeland 

S Tripathi

D Adams 

C Kingsford

D Schlaht

Notice Period

12 Months

9 months

9 months

9 months

6 months

6 months

Payment in Lieu  
of Notice (i)

12 Months (iii)

9 months

9 months

9 months

6 months

6 months

Treatment of STI and LTI on  
Termination (ii)

Unvested awards forfeited

Unvested awards forfeited

Unvested awards forfeited

Unvested awards forfeited

Unvested awards forfeited

Unvested awards forfeited
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SECTION 10

Statutory Tables
10.1. Remuneration of KMP for the Υears Εnded 30 June 2018

30 June 18

Directors

Short-Term Benefits Post-
Employment

$ AUD $ AUDSTI AwardsSalaries & Fees Non-Monetary Super-
Annuation

S Ward (i) (ii)

C Hirst (iii)

J Downes (viii)

R Graham (iv)

G Goetzke (i)

A Patel (i)

D Williams (i)

R Carreon (i) (v) (vi)

Executives

M Vigeland (i) (v) (vi)

D Adams (i) (v) (vi) (vii)

C Kingsford (vi) (xv)

D Schlaht (i) (v) (vi)

129,313

 52,500 

 75,000 

 42,013 

 86,968 

 86,968 

 98,066 

 646,690 

 

441,290

396,339

  332,800

 373,242

2,761,189

-

-  

-   

-   

-   

-  

-   

508,816   

  

167,514

150,450

 126,331

 141,683

1,094,794

-

-  

-   

-   

-   

-  

-   

18,340  

21,225

23,717

  -

 23,366 

86,648

-

4,987

 7,125   

 3,991 

 - 

 -   

 -   

21,961   

    

 16,181

15,854

 42,706

 9,953

 122,758
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30 June 18  
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Directors

Long-Term 
Benefits

Share-Based 
Payments

TotalLong Service 
Leave

LTI Awards

S Ward (i) (ii)

C Hirst (iii)

J Downes (viii)

R Graham (iv)

G Goetzke (i)

A Patel (i)

D Williams (i)

R Carreon (i) (v) (vi)

Executives

M Vigeland (i) (v) (vi)

D Adams (i) (v) (vi) (vii)

C Kingsford (vi) (xv)

D Schlaht (i) (v) (vi)

 129,313 

 57,487 

 82,125 

46,004

86,968 

 86,968 

 98,066

 2,395,774

 

1,039,124 

 909,015

 856,445

858,692

 6,645,981

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

6,908 

-

6,908

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

1,199,967

392,914

322,655

347,700

310,448

2,573,684

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

50%

38%

35%

41%

36%

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

21%

16%

17%

15%

16%

Performance 
%

LTI
%
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ImpediMed LimitedSection 10 Statutory Tables Section 10 Statutory Tables

Performance Related

(i) Certain Directors and Executives are based in the US and are paid in USD. The total compensation is therefore translated 
 for financial reporting purposes to AUD on a monthly basis.Share-based compensation includes the expense during the 
 financial year of all awards regardless of the financial year awarded.
(ii) S Ward was appointed Chairman of the Board in November 2017.
(iii) C Hirst AO retired from the Board in November 2017.
(iv) R Graham was appointed to the Board in November 2017.
(v) Non-monetary benefits for US based employees include the payment of certain health and disability related insurance  
 premiums as is customary in the US market.
(vi) The fair value of the equity-settled share options granted under the EIP plan are estimated as at the date of grant using  
 the Black Scholes option valuation model, while share options granted under the ESOP schemes are estimated as at the  
 date of grant using either the Black Scholes option valuation model or the Monte Carlo Simulation (if there is a restriction  
 on the share price for exercisability of the option). The fair value of equity-settled performance rights granted under the EIP  
 plan are calculated at the date of grant using the share price from the close of business on the day prior to the date of grant.

(vii) D Adams retired from the Board and was appointed to an executive role in August 2016.
(viii) J Downes was appointed to the Board in April 2017.
(ix) E Gaines resigned from the Board in February 2017.
(x) M Panaccio resigned from the Board in August 2016.
(xi) A Patel was appointed to the Board in March 2017.
(xii) D Williams was appointed to the Board in March 2017.
(xiii) J Cosentino left the Group in January 2017.
(xiv) A Holder left the Group in July 2017 and was not considered KMP during the 2018 financial year.
(xv) C Kingsford transferred from a US-based office to the Brisbane office during the year, therefore part of her salary is based  
 in USD and translated to AUD for financial reporting purposes.

Refer to the Directors’ Report, details of key management personnel, for dates of new appointments and 
resignations.

The figures represent the amounts expensed in the relevant reporting period.
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SECTION 10

Statutory Tables 
10.1. Remuneration of KMP for the Years Ended 30 June 2017

Directors

C Hirst (iii)

D Adams (i) (vi) (vii)

J Downes (viii)

E Gaines (ix)

G Goetzke (i)

M Panaccio (x)

A Patel (i) (xi)

S Ward (i) (ii)

D Williams (i) (xii)

R Carreon (i) (iv) (v) 

Executives

M Vigeland (i) (v) (vi)

D Adams (i) (vi) (vii)

J Cosentino (xiii)

A Holder (vi) (xiv)

C Kingsford (vi) (xv)

D Schlaht (i) (v) (vi)

140,000

 8,151 

 17,188 

 44,688 

 71,641 

 6,304 

 25,299 

 99,671 

 25,299 

 627,465

436,405 

  288,124 

215,315

390,076 

 329,082

370,893

3,095,601

-

-  

-   

-   

-   

-  

-   

-   

-   

416,762

159,200

  105,108

 -   

142,300 

 116,736

148,357 

1,088,463

-

-  

-   

-   

-   

-  

-   

-   

-

20,363

16,586

23,276

16,423 

25,547 

 3,943 

 27,845

 133,983

13,300

 -   

 1,633 

 4,245 

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 20,405

14,547 

   10,922

2,816

14,953 

 27,830

 9,818

 120,469 

-

 -   

 -

 -

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 871,158

341,085

   153,856

-

301,873

 285,675

 238,328

2,191,975 
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Directors

C Hirst (iii)

D Adams (i) (vi) (vii)

J Downes (viii)

E Gaines (ix)

G Goetzke (i)

M Panaccio (x)

A Patel (i) (xi)

S Ward (i) (ii)

D Williams (i) (xii)

R Carreon (i) (iv) (v) 

Executives

M Vigeland (i) (v) (vi)

D Adams (i) (vi) (vii)

J Cosentino (xiii)

A Holder (vi) (xiv)

C Kingsford (vi) (xv)

D Schlaht (i) (v) (vi)

 153,300 

 8,151 

 18,821 

48,933 

 71,641 

 6,304 

 25,299 

 99,671 

 25,299 

 1,956,153

 

967,823 

 581,286 

551,688 

874,749 

 763,266 

795,241 

6,947,625 

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

- 

-

 -

 -

 -

- 

-

317,134

317,134

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

45%

35%

26%

-

35%

37%

30%

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

21%

16%

18%

-

16%

15%

19%
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30 June 17 Short-Term Benefits Post-
Employment

$ AUD $ AUDSTI AwardsSalaries & Fees Non-Monetary Super-
Annuation

30 June 17  Long-Term 
Benefits

Termination
/ Regnation 

Payments

Share-Based 
Payments

TotalLong Service 
Leave

SeveranceLTI Awards Performance 
%

LTI
%

Performance Related

(i) Certain Directors and Executives are based in the US and are paid in USD. The total compensation is therefore translated 
 for financial reporting purposes to AUD on a monthly basis.Share-based compensation includes the expense during the 
 financial year of all awards regardless of the financial year awarded.
(ii) S Ward was appointed Chairman of the Board in November 2017.
(iii) C Hirst AO retired from the Board in November 2017.
(iv) R Graham was appointed to the Board in November 2017.
(v) Non-monetary benefits for US based employees include the payment of certain health and disability related insurance  
 premiums as is customary in the US market.
(vi) The fair value of the equity-settled share options granted under the EIP plan are estimated as at the date of grant using  
 the Black Scholes option valuation model, while share options granted under the ESOP schemes are estimated as at the  
 date of grant using either the Black Scholes option valuation model or the Monte Carlo Simulation (if there is a restriction  
 on the share price for exercisability of the option). The fair value of equity-settled performance rights granted under the EIP  
 plan are calculated at the date of grant using the share price from the close of business on the day prior to the date of grant.

(vii) D Adams retired from the Board and was appointed to an executive role in August 2016.
(viii) J Downes was appointed to the Board in April 2017.
(ix) E Gaines resigned from the Board in February 2017.
(x) M Panaccio resigned from the Board in August 2016.
(xi) A Patel was appointed to the Board in March 2017.
(xii) D Williams was appointed to the Board in March 2017.
(xiii) J Cosentino left the Group in January 2017.
(xiv) A Holder left the Group in July 2017 and was not considered KMP during the 2018 financial year.
(xv) C Kingsford transferred from a US-based office to the Brisbane office during the year, therefore part of her salary is based  
 in USD and translated to AUD for financial reporting purposes.

Refer to the Directors’ Report, details of key management personnel, for dates of new appointments and 
resignations.

The figures represent the amounts expensed in the relevant reporting period.
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(B) PERFORMANCE RIGHTS

Granted Terms and Conditions of each Grant

Terms and Conditions for each Grant Vested Lapsed

Vested Fair Value

Executives

R Carreon

R Carreon 

R Carreon 

R Carreon

M Vigeland

M Vigeland

M Vigeland

M Vigeland

D Adams

D Adams

C Kingsford

C Kingsford

C Kingsford

D Schlaht

D Schlaht

D Schlaht 

D Schlaht

30 June 2018 Numbers Grant Date Value per Option at 
Grant date

Exercise Price per 
Option ($)

-

-

-

1,553,000

-

-

-

530,000

-

476,000

-

-

410,000

-

-

-

448,000

3,417,000

04-Dec-14

03-Nov-15

14-Nov-16

15-Nov-17

04-Dec-14

01-Jul-15

25-Oct-16

15-Nov-17

14-Nov-16

15-Nov-17

01-Jul-15

25 -Oct-16

15-Nov-17

04-Dec-14

01-Jul-15

25-Oct-16

15-Nov-17

0.3781

0.5906

0.9458

0,4963

0.3781

0.5240

1.0269

0,4963

0,9459

0.4963

0.5240

1.0269

0.4963

0.3781

0.5240

1.0269

0.4963

0.6900

1.0000

1.4600

0.8150

0.6900

0.8700

1.6600

0.8150

1.4600

0.8150

0.8700

1.6600

0.8150

0.6900 

0.8700

1.6600

0.8150

Executives

R Carreon

R Carreon

M Vigeland

M Vigeland

D Adams

A Holder 

A Holder

A Holder 

C Kingsford

C Kingsford

D Schlaht

D Schlaht

Granted Granted

30 June 2018 30 June 2018Number Grant Date Value per Perf Right at 
Grant Date ($)

-

1,262,000

-

322,500

289,500

-

-

-

-

249,000

 -

273,000

2,396,000

04-Dec-2014

15-Nov-2017

04-Dec-2014

15-Nov-2017

15-Nov-2017

01-Jul-2015

08-Dec-2015

25-Oct-2016

04-Dec-2014

15-Nov-2017

04-Dec-2014

15-Nov-2017

0.6900

0.8150

0.6900

0.8150

0.8150

0.8700

1.0200

1.6600

0.6900

0.8150

0.6900

0.8150
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10.2. Remuneration Awards: Granted, Vested, and Lapsed During the Year
(A) OPTIONS

Section 10 Statutory Tables
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04-Dec-21

01-Jul-22

14-Nov-23

15-Nov-24

04-Dec-21

01-Jul-22

25-Oct-23

15-Nov-24

14-Nov-23

15-Nov-24

01-Jul-22

25-Oct-23

15-Nov-24

04-Dec-21

01-Jul-22

25-Oct-23

15-Nov-24

Granted

Expiry Date for 
Option Vested 

Number of Options 
this Year (#)

Of Options Granted 
During Year ($)

30 June 2018

512,000

128,125

218,000

-

247,000

59,375

75,750

-

83,750

-

46,876

65,000

-

163,750

34,375

64,500

-

1,698,501

-

-

- 

770,719

-

-

-

263,027

-

236,228

-

-

206,777

-

-

-

222,332

1,699,083

Executives

R Carreon

R Carreon 

R Carreon 

R Carreon

M Vigeland

M Vigeland

M Vigeland

M Vigeland

D Adams

D Adams

C Kingsford

C Kingsford

C Kingsford

D Schlaht

D Schlaht

D Schlaht 

D Schlaht

04-Dec-2017

15-Nov-2020

04-Dec-2017

15-Nov-2020

15-Nov-2020

01-Jul-2018

08-Dec-2018

25-Oct-2019

04-Dec-2017

15-Nov-2020

04-Dec-2017

15-Nov-2020

Expiry Date for Perf Right 
vested during Year

Number of Perf 
Rights (#)

Of Perf Rights 
Granted During Year ($)

912,000

-

432,000

-

-

-

-

-

360,000

-

240,000

-

1,944,000

-

-

-

-

-

(150,000)

(100,000)

(109,500)

-

-

-

-

(359,500)

Executives

R Carreon

R Carreon

M Vigeland

M Vigeland

D Adams

A Holder 

A Holder

A Holder 

C Kingsford

C Kingsford

D Schlaht

D Schlaht
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10.3. Remuneration Awards: Awards Held by Key Management Personnel

(A) OPTIONS

(B) PERFORMANCE RIGHTS

30 June 2018

30 June 2018

Directors

Directors

Executives

Executives

Held at 
the Start of 
the Period

Held at 
the Start of 
the Period

Granted 
During 
Period

Granted 
During 
Period

Exercised 
During 
Period

Vested
During 
Period

Options of 
Other 

Changes

Perf Rights 
from Other 

Changes

Held at the 
End of the 

Period

Held at the 
End of the 

Period

Options 
Vested and 
Exercisable

R Carreon

R Carreon

M Vigeland

D Adams

A Holder

C Kingsford

D Schlaht

M Vigeland

D Adams

A Holder

C Kingsford

D Schlaht

No.

No.

No.

No.

No.

No.

No.

No.

No.

No.

No.

322,500

289,500 

-

249,000 

273,000

2,396,000

555,000

165,000 

359,000 

465,000

343,500  

3,269,500

(432,000)

-

-

(360,000)

(240,000) 

(1,944,000)

13,020,827

1,382,000

1,553,000

1,262,000

(139,367)

(912,000)

-

-

14,434,460

1,732,000

11,779,273

2,786,083 

335,000

771,000

2,405,084 

2,213,084 

21,531,078

530,000

476,000

-

410,000 

448,000 

3,417,000

(166,667) 

-

-

(316,468) 

(336,468)  

(958,970)

(25,000)

-

(771,000) 

-

-

(796,000)

3,124,416

811, 000 

-

2,498,616

2,324,616

23,193,108

2,174,395

83, 750 

-

1,734,554

1,561,137

17,333,109

(i) Performance rights from other changes include expired or lapsed options.
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445,500

454,500

- 

354,000

376,500

3,362,500

-

-

(359,500) 

-

-

(359,500)

ImpediMed Limited Section 10 Statutory Tables

30 June 2018

No.

Net change 
Other (i)

No.

Held at  
the Start  
of Period

Granted as
Remuneration

No. No.

On exercise  
of Options & 

Vesting of
Performance 

Rights

No.

Held at the 
End of Period

No.

Held 
Nominally

Director

S Ward 

C Hirst AO

J Downes

R Graham 

G Goetzke

A Patel 

D Williams

R Carreon

Executives

M Vigeland

D Adams

A Holder

C Kingsford

D Schlaht

225,000

1,216,924

82,600

-

-

-

-

452,858

437,691

159,000

68,000

308,173

431,723

3,381,969

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

1,051,367

598,667

-

-

676,468

576,468

2,902,970

-

(1,216,924)

-

-

14,100

-

30,000

(635,000)

(397,715)

-

(68,000)

(360,000)

(373,334)

(3,006,873)

225,000

-

82,600

-

14,100

-

30,000

869,225

573,667

159,000

-

507,717

634,857

3,096,166

225,000

-

82,600

-

14,100

-

30,000

869,225

638,643

159,000

-

624,641

634,857

3,278,066

(i) The shareholding movements during the period for G Goetzke and D Williams relate to shares purchased through the open  
 market and not through compensation. The shareholdings movements during the period for C Hirst AO and A Holder relate 
	 to	their	changes	in	classification	as	KMP	and	not	necessarily	to	the	sale	of	shares.	All	other	negative	shareholding	movements	 
 during the period related to covering immediate US tax liabilities arising from the exercise of options or vesting of performance  
 rights.

10.4. Shareholdings of Key Management Personnel

(A) SHAREHOLDINGS OF KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL

Exercise 
of Options

Exercise Price 
Weighted Average 

Exercise price $

Share Price 
Weighted  Average

on Exercise Date ($)

2018
Options  

Exercised

Total Value
on Exercise  

Dates ($)

R Carreon

M Vigeland

C Kingsford

D Schlaht

139,367 

166,667 

316,468 

336,468 

958,970

$ 0.1100

$ 0.1672

$ 0.1508

$ 0.1693

0.4800

0.6640

0.4926

0.5109

66,896

110,667

155,905

171,888

505,356

(B) SHARE ISSUED ON EXERCISE OF 
REMUNERATION OPTIONS

During	the	year	ended	30	June	2018,	1,387,619	
shares were issued (2017: 1,941,565) on the ex-

ercise of remuneration options and 2,080,000 
shares were issued (2017: nil) on the vesting of 
performance rights, including the following issu-
ance for KMP in place at the reporting date:

Directors

(i) Options from other changes include expired or lapsed options.
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10.5. Other Transactions and Balances 
with KMP and their Related Parties 

For the year ended 30 June 2018, no transactions 
with Directors or KMP occurred that would be con-
sidered related party transactions.
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SECTION 11

Executive Comparator Group List

The following companies were included in the 2018 financial year Peer Groups:

ImpediMed Limited Directors’ Meetings / Rounding

Directors’ Meetings
The number of meetings of directors (including the 
meetings of committees of directors) held during 

the year and the number of meetings attended by 
each director are detailed in the table below: 

Committee Membership

Rounding
The amounts contained in this report and in the 
financial report have been rounded to the nearest 
$1,000 (where rounding is applicable and where 

noted ($000)) under the option available to the 
ASIC Corporations (Rounding in Financial/Direc-
tors’ Reports) Instrument 2016/191. The Group is 
an entity to which the Class Order applies.

Directors (i)

# Meetings 
Eligible to 

Attend

# Meetings 
Eligible to 

Attend

# Meetings 
Attended

# Meetings 
Attended

Audit & Risk 
Management Committee

Remuneration
Committee

Board Meetings Remuneration 
Committee

Audit & Risk Management
Comittee

Nomination
Committee

Total

S Ward

C Hirst AO (ii)

J Downes

R Graham (iii)

G Goetzke

A Patel

D Williams

R Carreon

8

7

4

8

4

8

7

8

8

5

5

3

-

2

5

-

2

-

5

-

-

5

-

-

5

5

-

8

7

4

8

4

8

7

8

8

5

5

3

-

2

4

-

2

-

5

-

-

5

-

-

4

5

-

S Ward 

J Downes

G Goetzke

R Graham

A Patel

D Williams

R Carreon (ii)

-

Chair

-

-

Member

Member

-

Member

-

Member

Member

-

Chair

-

Chair

Member

Member

Member

Member

Member

-

(i)  A Directors’ attendance at a committee meeting is only included if the Director is a member of the committee.
(ii) C Hirst AO retired from the Board in November 2017.
(iii) R Graham was appointed to the Board in November 2017.

*  Denotes Peer Companies carried over from the prior year.
(i) As an Executive Director, R Carreon will not sit on any Committees.

Vesting of 
Perfomance 
Rights

Exercise Price 
Weighted Average 
Exercise Price ($)

Share Price 
Weighted  Average

on Exercise Date ($) 

2018
Performance Rights 

Vested

Total Value
on Exercise  

Dates ($)

R Carreon

M Vigeland

C Kingsford

D Schlaht

Anika Therapeutics, Inc.

Antares Pharma, Inc.

AtriCure, Inc.*

AxoGen, Inc.

Cerus Corporation*

ConforMIS, Inc.

Corindus Vascular Robotics, Inc.

Digirad Corporation*

Entellus Medical, Inc.

GenMark Diagnostics, Inc.*

IRadimed Corporation

LeMaitre Vascular, Inc.

Obalon Therapeutics, Inc.

Rockwell Medical, Inc.

STAAR Surgical Company*

Surmodics, Inc.*

Tandem Diabetes Care, Inc.

TransEnterix, Inc.

ViewRay, Inc.

Nanosonics Limited

Mesoblast Limited

Medical Developments International Limited

Starpharma Holdings Limited

Clinuvel Pharmaceuticals Limited

Viralytics Limited

SomnoMed Limited

Bionomics Limited

pSivida Corp.

OBJ Limited

912,000 

432,000 

360,000 

240,000 

1,944,000

- 

- 

- 

- 

0.9000

0.9000

0.9000

0.9000

820,800

388,800

324,000

216,000

1,749,600

Directors

CORPORATE 
INFORMATION

DIRECTORS’ 
REPORT

REMUNERATION 
REPORT

FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS 

CORPORATE 
INFORMATION

DIRECTORS’ 
REPORT

REMUNERATION 
REPORT

FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS 

ImpediMed - Executive 
Remuneration FY2018

ImpediMed - Non-Executive 
Remuneration FY2018

Peer Companies Peer Companies
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Auditor’s Independence 
Declaration and  
Non-Audit Services
The directors received the declaration on page 
71 from the auditor of the Company and have re-
solved the auditor is independent.   

Non-Audit Services

No non-audit services were provided.
 
 
Signed in accordance with a resolution of the 
Directors.
     
   

  

Scott Ward      Judith Downes
Chairman      Director

30 August 2018
 

Auditor’s Independence Declaration and Non-Audit Services

71
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the 
accompanying notes.

2018
$000

Notes 2017
$000

4,554

243

428

5,225

(1,596)

3,629

3,078

(16,823)

(2,979)

(3,351)

(3,192)

(444)

(930)

(769)

(1,552)

(3,255)

(544)

(27,132)

(42)

(27,174)

(27,174)

871

871

(26,303)

$

(0.07)

5,510

256

367

6,133

(1,489)

4,644

2,882

(17,367)

(5,336)

(2,589)

(2,951)

(255)

(1,195)

(499)

(1,726)

(2,585)

(554)

(27,531)

(40)

(27,571)

(27,571)

(2,157)

(2,157)

(29,728)

$

  (0.07)

Continuing Operations

Sales of Goods and Subscription Services

Rendering of Services

Finance Income

Revenue

Cost of Goods Sold

Gross Profit

Other income and Finance Costs

Salaries and Benefits

Research and Development

Administrative and Governance

Consultants and Professional Fees

Depreciation and Amortisation

Advertising and Promotion

Rent and Property Expenses

Travel Expenses

Share-based Payments

IT and Other Expenses

Loss from Continuing Operations before Income Tax

Income Tax

Loss from Continuing Operations after Income Tax

Net Loss for the Period

Other Comprehensive Income or Loss

Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss:

Foreign Currency Translations

Other Comprehensive Gain for the Period, Net of Tax

Total Comprehensive Loss for the Period

Basic and Diluted Loss Per Share
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

Consolidated Balance Sheet
AS AT 30 JUNE 2018

As at 
30 June 2018

$000

Notes As at 
30 June 2017

$000

8

9

10

10

11

12

12

13

14

14

15

16

31,345

4,306

1,811

338

37,800

95

368

1,055

2,449

3,967 

41,767

2,516

3,147

5,663

102

102

5,765

36,002

219,746 

20,652 

(204,396)

36,002

54,884

3,804

1,465

1,102

61,255

158

518

54

2,358

3,088

64,343

2,577

2,892

5,469

77

77

5,546

58,797

219,493 

16,526 

(177,222)

58,797

Assets

Current Assets

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Trade and Other Receivables

Inventories

Prepayments

Total Current Assets

Non Current Assets

Other Financial Assets

Property and Equipment

Intangible Assets

Goodwill

Total Non-Current Assets

Total Assets

Liabilities

Current Liabilities

Trade and Other Payables

Provisions

Total Current Liabilities

Non-Current Liabilities

Provisions

Total Non-Current Liabilities

Total Liabilities

Net Assets

Equity

Issued Capital

Reserves

Accumulated Losses

Total Equity

The above consolidated balance sheet should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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ImpediMed Limited Consolidated Balance Sheet

5

5

6

7

7

7

7

7

18

19
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
AS AT 30 JUNE 2018

The above consolidated cash flow statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

2018
$000

Notes 2017
$000

7

8

11

12

15

15

8

18

15

15

4,597

(30,960)

425

2,480

(23,458)

(155)

(1,060)

(1,215)

280

(24)

256

(24,417)

878

 54,884

31,345

5,460

(34,208)

374

2,808

(25,566)

(335)

(27)

(362)

751

(31)

720

(25,208)

(2,162)

 82,254

54,884

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Receipts from Customers 
(Inclusive of GST and US sales tax)

Payments to Suppliers and Employees 
(Inclusive of GST and US sales tax)

Interest Received

Other Receipts

Net Cash Flows Used in Operating  Activities

Cash Flows from Investing Activities 

Purchase of Property and Equipment

Purchase of Intangible

Net Cash Flows Used in Investing Activities

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Proceeds from Issue of Ordinary Shares

Transaction Costs from Capital Raising

Net Cash Flows Used in Financing Activities 

Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents

Net Foreign Exchange Differences

Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of Period

Cash and Cash Equivalents at the End of the Period

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018

Notes Issued  
Capital 

$000

Reserves 

$000

Accumulated 
Losses 

$000

Total 

$000

218,807

 -

-

-

- 
713 

  (27)

 219,493

-

-

-

-

272

 (19)

219,476

16,098 

-

(2,157)

(2,157)

 2,585
-

- 

16,526

-

871

 
871

3,255

-

-

20,652

(149,651) 

(27,571)

-

(27,571)

 
 -
-

- 

(177,222)

(27,174)

-

(27,174) 

-

-

-

(204,396)

85,254

  (27,571)

(2,157) 

 
(29,728) 

  
2,585

713 

    (27)

58,797

(27,174)

 871

(26,303)

3,255

272

(19)

 36,002

At 30 June 2016

Loss for the Period

Other Comprehensive Income

Total Comprehensive Loss for 
the Period

Equity Transactions:
• Share-based Payments
• Allotment of Ordinary Shares

• Costs of Capital Raising

At 30 June 2017

Loss for the Period

Other Comprehensive Loss

Total Comprehensive Loss for 
the Period

Equity Transactions:

• Share-based Payments

• Allotment of Ordinary Shares

• Costs of Capital Raising

At 30 June 2018

The above consolidated balance sheet should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 

ImpediMed Limited Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
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Notes to the Financial 
Statements
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018
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The following reflects the net loss attributable to 
ordinary equity holders and the weighted average 

number of ordinary shares used in the calcula-
tions of basic earnings per share:

There have been no transactions involving or-
dinary shares or potential ordinary shares that 
would significantly change the number of ordinary 
shares or potential ordinary shares outstanding 
between the reporting date and the date of com-
pletion of these financial statements. Diluted EPS 
is calculated by taking the net loss attributable 
to ordinary equity holders and dividing it by the 
sum of the weighted average number of ordinary 
shares and the weighted average number of con-
vertible instruments. For the financial year ended 
30 June 2018, diluted EPS is equal to basic EPS 
as the Group is currently in a loss position and 
any conversion of instruments to ordinary shares 
would have an antidilutive effect on earnings per 
share. 

As of the end of financial year 2018 there were 
32,226,038 (2017: 29,023,827) options and 
4,431,500 (2017: 3,638,000) performance rights 
on issue.  

Basic earnings per share is calculated as net profit 
attributable to members of the Parent, adjusted to 
exclude any costs of servicing equity (other than 
dividends) and preference share dividends, divid-
ed by the weighted average number of ordinary 
shares, adjusted for any bonus element. Diluted 
earnings per share, which is currently not appli-

cable to the Group due to the net loss, would be 
calculated as net profit attributable to members 
of the parent, adjusted for:  

• Costs of servicing equity (other than dividends)  
 and preference share dividends;

• The after tax effect of dividends and interest  
 associated with dilutive potential ordinary  
 shares that have been recognised as expenses;

• Other non-discretionary changes in revenues or  
 expenses during the period that would result  
 from the dilution of potential ordinary shares; 

• Divided by the weighted average number of  
 ordinary shares and dilutive potential ordinary  
 shares, adjusted for any bonus element

2. Dividends Paid and Proposed

There were no dividends paid or proposed during 
the current reporting period or in the prior year.

2018
$000

2017
$000

(27,174)

No.

377,041,819

$

(0.07)

(27,571)

No.

374,699,571

$

(0.07)

Net loss used in calculating basic and diluted earnings per share

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in calculating  
basic and diluted earnings per share

Basic and diluted loss per share

ImpediMed Limited 1. Earnings per Share (EPS) / 2. Dividends Paid and Proposed 

1. Earnings per Share (EPS)
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3. Going Concern

These financial statements have been prepared on 
a going concern basis, which assumes continuity 
of normal business activities, the realisation of as-
sets and the settlement of liabilities in the ordinary 
course of business. The Group had cash at its dis-
posal of $31.3 million at 30 June 2018 (30 June 
2017: $54.9 million) and had no borrowings from 
banks or other financial institutions at that date. 

Whilst the Group continues to generate operating 
losses and net cash outflows from operations, the 
Board approved operating plan and cash flow pro-
jections demonstrate that the Group will be able 
to pay its debts as and when they fall due for a 
period of 12-months from the date the financial 
report has been signed and that the going concern 
assumption can be used.

4. Segment Reporting 

(A) OPERATING SEGMENTS 

Identification of Reportable Segments 

The Group has identified its operating segments 
based on the internal reports that are reviewed 
and used by the Chief Executive Officer (whom is 
the Chief Operating Decision Maker) in assessing 
performance and in determining the allocation of 
resources.

The operating segments are identified by man-
agement according to the nature of the products 
and services provided, as the Group’s risks and 
returns are affected predominantly by differences 
in the products produced and services provided. 
Discrete financial information about each of these 
operating businesses is reported to the Chief Ex-
ecutive Officer on at least a monthly basis. 

The primary focus during the 2018 financial year 
for the Medical Segment was the initial launch of 
SOZO and the introduction of the new subscription 
revenue model, focused on building a high margin 
contracted revenue pipeline for strong recurring 
revenue growth in FY2019 and beyond. 

In the previous year, reporting for the medical seg-
ment was based on assessing the performance of 
distinct product lines through the sale of legacy 
products: Oncology and Other. The Oncology prod-
uct line was focused on selling devices and con-
sumables that aid in the subclinical assessment 
of individuals at risk of secondary lymphoedema. 
While the other medical product line captured 
all other medical device and consumable sales,  
primarily through devices focused on the monitor-
ing of body composition and hydration.

With the introduction of SOZO, the Group’s BIS 
technology is now on a single digital health plat-
form. The platform is used across multiple disci-
plines in hospital and clinician settings and the 
Group (and the Chief Operating Decision Maker) 
no longer assesses the performance of the med-
ical segment using reports based on the legacy 
product line information. It is now common for 
health systems to utilise the BIS technology to 
aid in the detection of multiple disease states, as 
diagrammed in the following pages. The Group’s 
resources are primarily allocated to the expansion 
of the SOZO product line, with minimal resources 
being allocated to the legacy product line. As a 
result, the Chief Operating Decision Maker now  
assesses the performance of the medical seg-
ment based on the SOZO platform and the recur-
ring revenue streams associated with the new 
subscription revenue model. This is a change to 
the segmenting from the prior year, with compar-
atives restated to the current year’s format.

Types of Products and Services

Medical

The Medical segment is a supplier of non-inva-
sive medical technology products and services to 
measure, monitor and manage tissue composition 
and fluid status using BIS. The Medical segment 
is the core business of the Group and is the main 
strategic operating segment.

Test & Measurement

The Test & Measurement segment is a supplier of 
power precision testing and measuring equipment 
(“T&M”).

3. Going Concern / 4. Segment Reporting
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Accounting Policies and 
Inter-Segment Transactions

Accounting Policies

The accounting policies used by the Group in re-
porting segments internally are consistent with 
the prior period.

An operating segment is a component of an entity 
that engages in business activities from which it 
may earn revenues and incur expenses (includ-
ing revenues and expenses relating to transac-
tions with other components of the same entity), 
whose operating results are regularly reviewed 
by the entity’s chief operating decision maker to 
make decisions about resources to be allocated to 
the segment and assess its performance and for 
which discrete financial information is available. 
Management will also consider other factors in 
determining operating segments such as the ex-
istence of a line manager and the level of segment 
information presented to the Board of Directors. 

Operating segments have been identified based 
on the information provided to the chief operating 
decision maker - being the Chief Executive Officer. 
The group aggregates two or more operating seg-
ments when they have similar economic charac-
teristics and the segments are similar in each of 
the following respects:

• Nature of the products and services

• Nature of the production processes

• Type or class of customer for the products 
 and services

• Methods used to distribute the products  
 or provide the services, and if applicable

• Nature of the regulatory environment 

Operating segments that meet the quantitative 
criteria as prescribed by AASB 8 are reported sep-
arately. However, an operating segment that does 
not meet the quantitative criteria is still reported 
separately where information about the segment 
would be useful to users of the financial state-
ments.  

Information about other business activities and 
operating segments that are below the quantita-
tive criteria are combined and disclosed in a sep-
arate category for “all other segments”.

Segment results, assets and liabilities include 
items directly attributable to a segment and 
certain allocated corporate charges. Corporate 
charges comprise non-segmental expenses such 
as general overhead, group insurance and office 
expenses. Corporate charges are allocated to 
each business segment on a proportionate basis 
linked to segment headcount and the allocation 
of employee time between each segment in order 
to determine a segmental result.

Inter-Segment Transactions

Inter-entity sales are recognised based on inter-
nally set transfer prices. All inter-entity sales are 
eliminated for the purposes of segment reporting. 
The prices aim to reflect what the business oper-
ation could achieve if they sold their output and 
services to external parties at arm’s length.

Segment loans are initially recognised at the con-
sideration received excluding transaction costs. 
All inter-entity loans are eliminated for the purpos-
es of segment reporting.

Major Customers

The Group has several customers to which it 
provides both products and services. In both the 
Medical and Test & Measurement segments, no 
one customer accounts for more than 10% of the 
Group’s revenues. The Group does not believe 
there is inherent risk for future financial years that 
would stem from reliance on revenue growth from 
any one customer.

ImpediMed Limited 4. Segment Reporting
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Segment Revenues and Segment Results

On a monthly basis, the Chief Executive Officer assesses the performance of each segment by analysing 
the segment’s revenues and net operating profit / (loss) before depreciation and amortisation, finance cost, 
and tax (EBITDA). Segment revenues, segment expense and segment results include transfers between 
business segments. Those transfers are eliminated upon consolidation.

Medical MedicalYear ended 30June 2018 Year ended 30 June 2017

Legacy

$000

Legacy

$000

SOZO

$000

SOZO

$000

595

1,969

58

2,622

1,861

2,742

69

4,672

Revenue

Device Revenue

Subscription Revenue and Consumables

Rendering of Services

Total Segment Revenue

Unallocated Revenue -  
Finance Income

Total Consolidated Revenue

Results

Segment Results

Depreciation and  
Amortisation Expenses

Finance Costs

Total Segment Loss Before  
Income Tax

Income Tax Expense

Unallocated Net Loss for the Period

Unallocated Results

Total Consolidated Net Loss 
for the Period

Assets Liabilities

Segment Assets

Unallocated Assets

Total Assets

Segment Liabilities

Unallocated Liabilities

Total Liabilities 

Other Segment Information

Capital Expenditure

Write Down in Value of Inventories

Inventory Provision Expense

Provision for Doubtful Debts

Revenue

Device Revenue

Subscription Revenue and Consumables

Rendering of Services

Total Segment Revenue

Unallocated Revenue -  
Finance Income

Total Consolidated Revenue

Results

Segment Results

Depreciation and  
Amortisation Expenses

Finance Costs

Total Segment Loss Before  
Income Tax

Income Tax Expense

Unallocated Net Loss for the Period

Unallocated Results

Total Consolidated Net Loss 
for the Period

Assets Liabilities

Segment Liabilities

Unallocated Liabilities

Total Assets

Segment Liabilities

Unallocated Liabilities

Total Liabilities 

Other Segment Information

Capital Expenditure

Write Down in Value of Inventories

Inventory Provision Expense

749

138

8

895

105

-

-

105

764

38

187

989

-

989

(873)

(34)

-

(907)

1,119

-

1,119

(190)

(190)

-

-

-

1,344

2,107

66

3,517

428

3,945

(27,017)

(418)

(1)

(27,436)

40,730

-

40,730

5,498

5,498

155

12

709

392

Total Medical 

$000

Total Medical 

$000

Test &  
Measurement 

$000

Test &  
Measurement 

$000

Total 

$000

Total 

$000

4. Segment Reporting
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2,412

2,142

243

4,797

428

5,225

(27,116)

(444)

(1)

(27,561)

(42)

(27,602)

428

(27,174)

41,767

-

41,767

5,765

-

5,765

155

12

709

399

2,730

2,780

256

5,766

367

6,133

(27,642)

(255)

(1)

(27,898)

(40)

(27,938)

367

(27,571)

64,343

-

64,343

(5,546)

-

(5,546)

355

10

556

1,966

2,742

69

4,777

367

5,144

(26,769)

(221)

(1)

(26,991)

63,224

-

63,224

(5,356)

(5,356)

355

10

556

1,068

35

177

1,280

-

1,280

(99)

(26)

-

(125)

1,037

-

1,037

267

267

-

-

-
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(B) GEOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION 

The following tables present revenue and profit / 
(loss) information and certain asset and liability 
information regarding geographical segments for 
the years ended 30 June 2018 and 2017. Revenue 
data is based on the location of the customer for 
geographical reporting purposes. 

Australia / Rest of World (ROW)

Australia is the corporate home office of the Group 
and the main domicile of its research and product 
development activities, contract manufacturing 
of devices and corporate services. The Australia 
/ ROW geographical segment primarily sells and 
ships Medical segment products to customers 
and distributors located in Australia, Europe and 
the rest of the world excluding the US.     

North America

The Group’s North American office in Carlsbad, 
California serves as the operational hub for the 
Medical segment and the domicile of its main 
assets and executive personnel. This office sells 
and ships Medical segment products to custom-
ers located in the US. 

The operational hub for the Test & Measurement 
segment is in San Diego, California and it sells and 
ships test and measurement products and ser-
vices to customers located throughout the world.

North America
$000 

North America
$000 

Australia / ROW 
$000 

Australia / ROW 
$000 

Year Ended 30 June 2018

Year Ended 30 June 2017

Total
$000 

Total
$000 

Revenue

Device Revenue

Consumable and Rental Revenue

Service Revenue

Total Segment Revenue

Unallocated Revenue

Total Consolidated Revenue

Other Segment Information

Non-current Assets

Revenue

Device Revenue

Consumable and Rental Revenue

Service Revenue

Total Segment Revenue

Unallocated Revenue

Total Consolidated Revenue

Other Segment Information

Non-current Assets

1,555

1,875

197

3,627

2,803

1,237

2,514

199

3,950

2,794

857

267

46

1,170

1,164

1,493

266

57

1,816

294

2,412

2,142

243

4,797

428

5,225

3,967

2,730

2,780

256

5,766

367

6,133

3,088
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Revenue is recognised and measured at the fair 
value of the consideration received or receivable 
to the extent that it is probable that the economic 
benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue can 
be reliably measured. The following specific rec-
ognition criteria must also be met before revenue 
is recognised:

Sale of Goods - Device 
and Consumable Revenue

Revenue from the direct sales of devices and con-
sumables is recognised when there is persuasive 
evidence, usually in the form of a purchase order 
or an executed sales agreement at the time of 
shipment of goods to the consumer indicating 
that there has been a transfer of risks and rewards 
to the customer, no further work or processing is 
required, the quantity and quality of the goods has 
been determined, the price is fixed and generally 
title has passed (for shipped goods this is the bill 
of lading date).  

Subscription Services - Subscription Revenue

Revenue related to subscription services with a 
contract is accounted for on a straight-line basis 
over the life of the contract, net of any revenue 
allocated to the sale of tangible goods.

Rendering of Services

Revenue from the repair of instruments is rec-
ognised when the service has been performed and 
the obligation is due from the customer. 

When the contract outcome cannot be estimated 
reliably, revenue is recognised only to the extent 
of the expenses recognised that are recoverable.

Interest Revenue

Revenue is recognised as interest accrues using 
the effective interest rate method. This is a meth-
od of calculating the amortised cost of a financial 
asset and allocating the interest income over the 
relevant period using the effective interest rate, 
which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated 
future cash receipts through the expected life of 
the financial asset to the net carrying amount of 
the financial asset.
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2018 
$000 

2017
$000 

Sale of Goods and Subscription Services

Device Revenue

Subscription Revenue and Consumable (i) (ii)

Total Sales of Goods

Finance Income

Interest income - Bank Deposits 

Interest Income - Term Deposits

Total Finance Income

2,412

2,142

4,554

 

425

3

428

2,730

2,780

5,510

 

305

62

367

ImpediMed Limited 5. Revenue

(i) In conjunction with the introduction of the SOZO Digital Health Platform during the period, the Group began transitioning  
 the business to a subscription revenue model. This replaces the previous model utilised with the Group’s legacy product, which  
 involved the sale of capital equipment and the associated consumables. Contract Revenue related to the Subscription Model  
 and Consumable sales of legacy product both directly relate to patient assessments conducted. For comparative purposes,  
 these items have been classified together as the Group transitions to the subscription revenue model.
(ii) The decrease in Contract Revenue and Consumables in the current period is a result of this transition to the subscription  
 revenue model. Under the previous model, revenue was recognised upon the shipment of consumables, whereas under the  
 subscription model, revenue related to subscriptions is recognised over the length of the contract. The Group ended the 2018  
 financial year with an additional $3.5 million in Contracted Revenue Pipeline (CRP), of which $1.3 million was considered  
 Annual Recurring Revenue (ARR). Please refer to our Glossary of Terms for additional information related to CRP and ARR. 

5. Revenue
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Impact of AASB 15 Revenue from 
Contracts with Customers

The Australian Accounting Standards Board® 
(“AASB”) issued AASB 15 Revenue from Con-
tracts with Customers (“AASB 15”), which replaces 
AASB118 Revenue and sets out the requirements 
for recognizing and measuring revenues arising 
from contracts with customers. AASB 15 requires 
that, to recognize revenue, a company shall apply 
the following five step model:

Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with the customer
Step 2: Identify the performance obligations
Step 3: Determine the transaction price
Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to each  
 performance obligation based on the rel- 
 ative standalone selling prices of each  
 good or service promised in the contract
Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) a perfor- 
 mance obligation is satisfied

AASB 15 increases disclosure requirements about 
the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of rev-
enues and cash flows arising from contracts with 
customers. For the Group, AASB 15 shall be ap-
plied for the annual period beginning 1 July 2018. 
 
The Group has completed its assessment of the 
impact adoption of the standard will have. This 
assessment has been focused on reviewing the 
contractual terms of the Group’s various revenue 
streams (in particular the revenue streams asso-
ciated with the new SOZO subscription revenue 
model) under the five-step model, and highlighting 
anticipated differences in the recognition and dis-
closure of revenue.
 
The Group has determined that the primary per-
formance obligations related to SOZO contracts 
are the right to use software during the license 
period (“Software”) and the sale of the tangible 
hardware (“Hardware”).

Revenue recognition on devices under the new 
standard will remain broadly consistent with pre-
vious accounting policies. In the majority of cas-
es once the revenue associated with that perfor-
mance obligation is recognized, monthly Software 
fees will be recognised over the contract period on 
a straight-line basis. 
 
For the period ended 30 June 2018, the Group has 
assessed that on transition to AASB 15, it will like-
ly have an impact of $0.1 - $0.2 million. 

5. Revenue 
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7. Expenses

(i) During the previous financial year, the Group focused on the development of SOZO. Initial development of the device was  
 completed during FY2017, with the Group obtaining a CE Mark in June 2017.
(ii) During the financial year the Group supported a trial through the Scripps Institute focusing on utilising biompedence spec- 
 troscopy in the monitoring of Chronic Heart Failure.  

(i) Proceeds from Tax Refunds and Grants include amounts received for an Export Market Development Grant (EMDG).  
 Reasonable assurance related to the receipt of funds for EMDG was established in financial year 2018. The income for the  
 2018 financial year includes the 2017 grant received as well as an estimate for income related to the 2018 financial year. 

2018 
$ 000 

2017
$000 

Salaries and Benefits

Research and Development

Wages and Salaries

Performance & Sales Bonus

Superannuation

Annual Leave & Long Service Leave

Employee Benefits

Other Employee Costs (i)

Sub-Total Salaries and Benefits

Share-based Payments to Employees

Total Salaries and Benefits

Product Development (i)

Other Reseach and Development

Sub-total Research and Development

Oncology Clinical Trials

Cardiology and Other Clinical Trials (ii)

Sub-total Clinical Trials

Total Research and Development

11,491

3,288

465

246

969

364

16,823

3,243

20,066

873

15

888

1,238

853

2,091

2,979

11,169

3,380

443

423

960

992

17,367

2,572 

19,939

3,942

66

4,008

1,213

115

1,328

5,336

6. Other Income and Expenses / 7. Expenses

Tax Incentive Revenue and Grant Revenue

The Australian Taxation Office (ATO) provides 
certain Research and Development (R&D) tax 
incentives and concessions under the AusIndus-
try R&D Tax Incentive program. The program is 
a broad-based entitlement program that aims to 
promote innovation within Australia for eligible 
R&D activities.
 

The Group accrues for amounts when there is 
reasonable assurance of receipt. Whilst there is 
a judgment involved in when there is reasonable 
assurance, the Group now has a past history of 
successful lodgings and receipt with the ATO. Any 
difference between the amount accrued and the 
actual cash received will be recognised in the year 
of receipt. 

6. Other Income and Expenses

2018 
$000 

2017
$000 

R&D Tax Incentive

Proceeds from Tax Refunds and Grants  (i)

Proceeds or Loss from Other Rebates

Other Income and Finance Costs

2,848

102

128

3,078

2,893

-

(11)

2,882
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(i) Directors Fees include Company Secretary Fees, but are net of Superannuation payments. Superannunation payments to     
 Directors have been included in Employee Expenses.
(ii)	 Administrative	expenses	during	the	current	financial	year	include	a	provision	related	to	doubtful	debts	on	certain	aged	 
 receivables of $394,000.

(i) The Group incurred consulting expenses of approximately $494,000 related to support of SOZO, which included product  
 development, customer support, marketing and branding in the US.

2018 
$000 

2018 
$000 

2017
$000 

2017
$000 

Administrative and Governance Fees

Consulting and Professional Fees

Directors Fees (i)

Governance and Regulatory Fees

Insurance

Administrative Expenses (ii)

Foreign Currency Loss / (Gain) on Transactions

Total Adminstrative and Governance Fees

Professional Fees

Consulting Fees (i)

Patent and Trademark Fees

Total Consulting and Professional Fees

628

812

490

1,406

15

3,351

606

2,018

568

3,192

498

821

385

857

28

2,589

563 

1,471

917

2,951

(i) During the year, the Group capitalised certain costs related to the development of SOZO software in accordance with AASB 138  
	 Intangible	Assets,	as	the	future	economic	benefits	attributable	to	certain	project	costs	could	be	reasonably	determined.	 
 These intangible assets have been determined to have a four-year useful life based on the expected economic life of the  
 assets and are amortised using the straight-line method.
(ii) Under certain customer agreements, the Group maintains ownership of devices and receives revenue on the purchase of  
 consumable products by the customer. This depreciation has been included in costs of goods sold.

2018 
$000 

2017
$000 

Depreciation and Amortisation included  
in Statement of Comprehensive Income

Depreciation of Property and Equipment

Depreciation of Demo and Loan Devices

Amortisation of Leasehold Improvements

Amortisation of Patents and Licenses

Amortisation of Software License Costs

 Amortisation of Software Development (i)

Depreciation of Operating Lease Devices (ii)

Total Depreciation and Amortisation

260

76

9

2 

76

 20

443

16

459

152

73 

17

2 

11

0

 255

17

272 

7. Expenses

91

CORPORATE 
INFORMATION

DIRECTORS’ 
REPORT

REMUNERATION 
REPORT

FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS 

ImpediMed Limited

8. Current Assets - Cash and Cash Equivalents

2018 
$000 

2017
$000 

Salaries and Benefits

Cash at Bank and in Hand

Short Term Deposits

Cash and Cash Equivalents

3,046

28,299

31,345

7,668

47,216

54,884

RECONCILIATION FROM NET LOSS AFTER TAX TO NET CASH FLOW FROM OPERATIONS

2018 
$000 

2017
$000 

Salaries and Benefits

Net Loss After Tax

Adjustments	For:

Depreciation and Amortisation Expense

Share-based Payment Expense

Amounts Set Aside for Provisions

Unreleased Foreign Currency (Gain) / Loss

Changes in Net Assets and Liabilities: 

Decrease	/	(Increase)	in	Assets:

Inventories

Fixed Assets

Receivables (i)

Other Current and Non-current Assets (ii)

(Decrease) / Increase in Liabilities

Current Payables

Other Current and Non-current Liabilities

Net Cash Used in Operating Activities

(27,174)

444 

3,255

808

(22)

(764)

(70)

(891)

737

(62)

281

(23,458) 

(27,571)

255 

2,585

624

(31)

(721)

(26)

(287)

(624)

(22)

252 

(25,566) 

Cash and cash equivalents in the balance sheet comprise cash at bank and in hand and short-term deposits 
with an original maturity of approximately three months or less that are readily convertible to known amounts 
of	cash	and	which	are	subject	to	an	insignificant	risk	of	changes	in	value.

8. Current Assets - Cash and Cash Equivalents

(i) The increase for the current period is attributable to an increase in the amount accounted for as receivable related to the R&D  
 Tax Credit for the year ended 30 June 2018 compared to the prior year by approximately $400,000. Additionally the Group has  
 approximately $200,000 related to the deferred reduction of revenue related to SOZO. This represents the amount of rev- 
 enue that was recognised upon shipment of SOZO devices and will be recovered as the monthly recurring SOZO usage  
 fee is billed.
(ii)	 The	decrease	for	the	current	period	is	due	to	two	factors:	(1)	in	the	prior	period,	the	Group	elected	to	pre-pay	the	 
 corporate insurance premiums; whereas in the current period the Group elected not to pre-pay the corporate insurance pre- 
 miums (2) the Group had a prepaid deposit balance at 30 June 2017 of approximately $272,000 for inventory build and $70,000  
 for a clinical trial that had not commenced until FY2018.
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9. Current Assets - Trade and Other Receivables

2018 
$000 

2018 
$000 

2017
$000 

2017
$000 

Trade Receivables (i)

Allowance for Impairment Loss (ii)

Interest Receivable

Tax and Other Receivables

Total Trade and Other Receivables

At July 1

Charge for the Year (ii)

Amounts Reversed

Amounts Written Off

Foreign Exchange Translation

At June 30

1,453

(396)

41

3,208

4,306

6

394

-

 (6)

2

396

1,233

(6)

38

2,539

3,804

16

-

-

(9)

 (1)

6

Allowance for Impairment Loss 
on Current Assets

Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are 
generally on 30-90 day terms, based upon each 
customer’s credit terms. A provision for impair-

ment loss is recognised when there is objective 
evidence that an individual trade receivable is 
impaired.

Movements in the provision for impairment loss 
were as follows:

The remaining receivables past due, but not con-
sidered impaired, are actively assessed by man-
agement and viewed as recoverable.

As at 30 June, the ageing analysis of trade receiv-
ables is as follows:

264

20

58

120

141

443

<30 Days 30-60 Days >61 Days (i)

Total Neither Past Due Nor 
Impaired

Past Due but Not Impaired

2018

2017

1,057

1,227

594

644

9. Current Assets - Trade and Other Receivables
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Fair Value and Credit Risk

Due to the short-term nature of these receivables, 
the carrying value is assumed to approximate its 
fair value. The maximum exposure to credit risk 
is the fair value of the receivables. 

Trade receivables, which generally have 30-90 day 
terms, are recognised at fair value less an allow-
ance for impairment.

Collectability of trade receivables is reviewed on 
an ongoing basis at an operating unit level. Indi-
vidual debts that are known to be uncollectable 
are written off when identified. An impairment 
provision is recognised when there is objective 
evidence that the Group will not be able to col-
lect the receivable. Financial difficulties of the 
debtor, default payments or debts more than 90 
days overdue are generally considered objective 
evidence of impairment. 

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the report-
ing date is the higher of the carrying value or fair 
value of each class of receivables. No collateral 
is held as security.

Financial assets in the scope of AASB 139 Finan-
cial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement 

are categorised as either financial assets at fair 
value through profit or loss, loans and receivables, 
held-to-maturity investments, or available-for-sale 
financial assets. The classification depends on the 
purpose for which the investments were acquired.  
Designation is re-evaluated at each financial year 
end, but there are restrictions on reclassifying to 
other categories.  

When financial assets are recognised initially, they 
are measured at fair value plus, in the case of as-
sets not at fair value through profit or loss, directly 
attributable transaction costs.

Subsequent Measurements - 
Loans and Receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial 
assets with fixed or determinable payments that 
are not quoted in an active market. Such assets 
are carried at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method. Gains and losses are recognised 
in profit or loss when the loans and receivables are 
de-recognised or impaired. These are included in 
current assets, except for those with maturities 
greater than 12 months after balance sheet date, 
which are classified as non-current.  

10. Current Assets - Inventories and Prepayments
Inventories 

2018 
$000 

2017
$000 

Raw Materials (at cost) (i)

Sub-assemblies (at cost)

Finished Goods (at cost) (i)

Provision for Obsolete Inventory (ii) (iii)

Total Inventories at the Lower of Cost and Net Realisable Value

605

354

2,197

(1,345)

1,811

1,082

437

873

(927)

1,465

(i) During the period, the Group contracted a build of SOZO devices to meet the operating needs of the Group for FY2019  
 resulting in the increase in Finished Goods inventory and a reduction in Raw Materials for the componentry owned by the  
 Group.
(ii) During the period, the Group recognised a provision for approximately $709,000 related to medical segment inventory. 
(iii) Due to the nature of many of the test & measurement division products, there are both custom and catalogue components  
 in the product bills of materials that need to be purchased in minimum lot sizes that may be held in component inventory for  
 extended periods of time. While the parts are still currently used, the Group has reviewed the usage of each part and provided  
 an obsolescence provision against those parts that have minimal usage rates. The catalogue components do typically have  
 value on the electronics parts clearance markets, and it is possible that the Group may liquidate some of the slow-moving  
 excess in the test and measurement division inventory at an amount at or above the carrying value.  

9. Current Assets - Trade and Other Receivables  / 10. Current Assets - Inventories and Prepayments

(i) The Group has $193,000 of deferred receivables, which represents the amount of revenue that was recognised upon shipment  
 of SOZO devices under certain contracts with bundled pricing. These amounts will be amortised over the life of contracts as  
 the customers are billed.
(ii) The Group recognised an impairment of $394,000 in the current year relating to the balance of aged receivables for several  
 European customers and distributors.

(i) The Group reviews trade receivables based on aging and makes an assessment on whether balances over 61-days past  
 due are impaired. The remaining balance over 61-days past due as at 30 June 2018 has either been received subsequent to  
 the balance date or is expected to be received and is therefore not provided for.
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2017
$000 

General Payments (i)

Insurance Prepayments (ii)

Total Prepayments

268

70

338

642

460

1,102

(i)	 Prior	to	the	end	of	the	2017	financial	year,	 the	Group	made	prepayments	related	to	 legacy	 inventory	builds.	These	 
	 builds	were	subsequently	completed	in	the	current	period	and	no	further	deposits	or	prepayments	were	required	in	the	 
	 current	financial	year.
(ii)	 In	the	2017	financial	year,	the	Group	elected	to	prepay	for	the	entirety	of	its	annual	corporate	and	directors	and	officers	 
	 (D&O)	insurance	program.	This	balance	was	amortised	over	the	life	of	the	coverage.	During	the	current	year,	the	Group	 
	 elected	 to	 finance	 the	 annual	 insurance	 program	 through	 an	 insurance	 premium	 funding.	 Total	 fees	 and	 interest	 
	 charges	under	the	agreement	are	$12,000.	The	coverage	will	be	expensed	on	a	monthly	basis	as	incurred.
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11. Non-Current Assets - Property and Equipment

RECONCILIATION OF CARRYING AMOUNTS AT THE BEGINNING AND END OF THE PERIOD

39

  -

(27)

 -

 (9)  

1 

 4 

179

(175)

 4

36

  20

- 

 -

 (17)  

- 

 39  

215 

(176)

 39

At 1 July 2017 Net of  
Accumulated Depreciation

Additions

Disposals

Transfers	from	Inventory

Depreciation	Charge	for	the 
Year

Effect	of	Foreign	Exchange

At 30 June 2018 Net of  
Accumulated Depreciation

At 30 June 2018

Cost

Accumulated Depreciation

Net Carrying Amount

At 1 July 2016 Net of  
Accumulated Depreciation

Additions

Disposals

Transfers	from	Inventory

Depreciation	Charge	for	the 
Year

Effect	of	Foreign	Exchange

At 30 June 2017 Net of  
Accumulated Depreciation

At 30 June 2017

Cost

Accumulated Depreciation

Net Carrying Amount

131

  -

(23) 

 78

(93) 

 9

102

 

919

(817)

102

160

  -

(31) 

 81

(88) 

 9

131

 

876

(745)

131

159

  40

- 

-
  

(94) 

3

108

 

592

(484)

108

136

  136

- 

-
  

(107) 

(6)

159

 

537

(378)

159

189

  149

(19) 

 -
  

(165)

-  

154

672

(518)

 154

64

  171

- 

 -
  

(46)

-  

189

544 

(355)

 189

Total
 

$000

Total
 

$000

Leasehold  
Improvements

$000

Leasehold  
Improvements

$000

Computer 
Equipment

$000

Computer 
Equipment

$000

Leased, Demo 
& Loan Devices

$000

Leased, Demo 
& Loan Devices

$000

Property & 
Machinery

$000

Property & 
Machinery

$000

Year Ended 30 June 2018

Year Ended 30 June 2017

518

  189

(69)

78 

 (361) 

 13 

368 

 

2,362 

(1,994)

 368

396

  327

(31)

81 

 (258) 

 3 

518 

 

2,172 

(1,654)

 518

ImpediMed Limited 11. Non-Current Assets - Property and Equipment

Prepayments

Inventories	are	valued	at	the	lower	of	cost	and	net	
realisable	value.	Inventory	write-downs	recognized	
as	an	expense	in	cost	of	sales	totaled	$12,000	
(2017:	$10,000)	for	the	Group.

Costs	incurred	in	bringing	each	product	to	its	
present location and condition is accounted for 
as	purchase	cost	on	a	first-in,	first-out	basis.	The	
cost of purchase comprises the purchase price in-
cluding	import	duties	and	other	taxes	(other	than	
those	subsequently	recoverable	by	the	entity	from	

the	taxing	authorities),	if	applicable.	Volume	dis-
counts	and	rebates	are	included	in	determining	
the	cost	of	purchase.

A	provision	for	inventory	obsolescence	is	record-
ed	when	it	is	determined	the	net	realisable	value	
of	inventory	is	lower	than	its	cost.	Factors	con-
templated	in	determining	net	realisable	value	are	 
expected	future	usage,	sales	volumes	and	price	
and	the	age	and	nature	of	the	inventory	held.
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Equipment is stated at historical cost less ac-
cumulated depreciation and any accumulated 
impairment losses. Such cost includes the cost 
of replacing parts that are eligible for capitalisa-
tion when the cost of replacing the parts is in-
curred. Similarly, when each major inspection is 
performed, its cost is recognised in the carrying 
amount of the plant and equipment as a replace-
ment only if it is eligible for capitalisation. All other 
repairs and maintenance are recognised in profit 
or loss as incurred.

Depreciation is calculated on a straight line or di-
minishing value basis over the estimated useful 
life of the specific assets as follows:

Plant, Machinery and Equipment 1 - 10 years

Devices under lease, PSA or loan 3 years

Leasehold improvements 2 - 5 years

The assets’ residual values, useful lives and am-
ortisation methods are reviewed, and adjusted if 
appropriate, at each reporting date.

Certain assets classified as Plant, Machinery and 
Equipment during the year have been determined 
to have a one-year useful life based on the expect-
ed economic life of the assets and are amortised 
using the straight-line method.

Certain Leasehold improvements capitalised by 
the Group were calculated to have useful lives that 
mirror their respective premise leases.

De-Recognition

An item of property and equipment is de-rec-
ognised upon disposal or when no further future 
economic benefits are expected from its use or 
disposal.

11. Non-Current Assets - Property and Equipment
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12. Non-Current Assets - Intangible Assets and Goodwill

RECONCILIATION OF CARRYING AMOUNTS AT THE BEGINNING AND END OF THE PERIOD

-

 984

(20)

-

964 

984

(20)

964

- 

-

-

-

- 

-

-

-

36

115

(76)

(1)

74 

461

(387)

74

20

27

(11)

-

36

336

(300)

36

At 1 July 2017 Net of Accumulated  
Amortisation & Impairment

Arising During the Year

Amortisation

Effect of Foreign Exchange

At 30 June 2018 Net of Accumulated  
Amortisation & Impairment

At 30 June 2018

Cost (Gross Carrying Amount)

Accumulated Amortisation & Impairment

Net Carrying Amount

At 1 July 2016 Net of Accumulated  
Amortisation & Impairment

Arising During the Year

Amortisation

Effect of Foreign Exchange

At 30 June 2017 Net of Accumulated  
Amortisation & Impairment

At 30 June 2017

Cost (Gross Carrying Amount)

Accumulated Amortisation & Impairment

Net Carrying Amount

2,358

 -

-

90

2,448 

2,448

-

2,448

2,436

-

 -

(78)

2,358 

2,358

-

2,358

18

 -

 (2)

1

17

34

(17)

 17

21

 -

 (2)

(1)

18

33 

(15)

 18 

Total
 

$000

Total
 

$000

Software & 
Development

$000

Software & 
Development

$000

Software 

$000

Software 

$000

Goodwill 

$000

Goodwill 

$000

Patents & 
Licenses 

$000

Patents & 
Licenses 

$000

Year Ended 30 June 2018

Year Ended 30 June 2017

2,412

1,099 

(98)

90

3,503 

3,927

(424)

3,503

2,477

27

 (13)

(79)

2,412 

2,727

(315)

2,412

Description of the Group’s 
Intangible Assets and Goodwill 

Accounting Policies for Intangible Assets

Intangible assets acquired separately or in a 
business combination are initially measured at 
cost. The cost of an intangible asset acquired in 
a business combination is its fair value as at the 
date of acquisition. Following initial recognition, 
intangible assets are carried at cost less any ac-
cumulated amortisation and any accumulated im-
pairment losses. Internally generated intangible 
assets, excluding capitalised development costs, 

are not capitalised and expenditure is recognised 
in profit or loss in the year in which the expendi-
ture is incurred.

The useful lives of intangible assets are as-
sessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangi-
ble assets with finite useful lives are amortised 
over the useful life and tested for impairment 
whenever there is an indication that the intan-
gible asset may be impaired. The amortisation 
period and the amortisation method for an in-
tangible asset with a finite useful life are re-
viewed at least at each financial year-end.  

ImpediMed Limited 12. Non-Current Assets - Intangible Assets and Goodwill
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Changes in the expected useful life or the ex-
pected pattern of consumption of future eco-
nomic benefits embodied in the asset are ac-
counted for prospectively by changing the 
amortisation period or method, as appropriate,  
which is a change in accounting estimate. The 
amortisation expense on intangible assets with  
useful lives is recognised in profit or loss in the 
expense category consistent with the function of 
the intangible asset.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are 
tested for impairment annually either individual-

ly or at the cash generating unit level consistent 
with the methodology outlined for goodwill below. 
Such intangibles are not amortised. The useful 
life of an intangible asset with an indefinite life 
is reviewed each reporting period to determine 
whether indefinite life assessment continues to 
be supportable. If not, the change in the useful life 
assessment from indefinite to finite is accounted 
for as a change in an accounting estimate and is 
thus accounted for on a prospective basis.

A summary of the policies applied to the Group’s 
intangible assets is as follows:

Gains or losses arising from de-recognition of an 
intangible asset are measured as the difference 
between the net disposal proceeds and the car-
rying amount of the asset and are recognised in 
profit or loss when the asset is de-recognised.

Expenditures on advertising and promotional ex-
penses are recognised in the statement of com-
prehensive income when the Group has either 
the right to access the goods or has received the 
services.

Software 

The Group’s software intangible primarily includes 
the Group’s investment in its Quality Management 
System (QMS), Enterprise Resource Planning 
(ERP) system and Customer Relationship Man-
agement (CRM) system.

Software costs are carried at cost less accumu-
lated amortisation and accumulated impairment 

losses. The intangible asset has been assessed 
as having a finite life and is amortised using the 
straight-line method over a period of three or four 
years. The amortisation has been recognised in 
the statement of comprehensive income in the 
line item “depreciation and amortisation”. If an 
impairment indication arises, the recoverable 
amount is estimated and an impairment loss 
is recognised to the extent that the recoverable 
amount is lower than the carrying amount.

Development Costs

The Group capitalises certain costs related to the 
development of medical technology software in 
accordance with AASB 38 Intangible Assets.

Research costs are expensed as incurred. An in-
tangible asset arising from development expendi-
ture on an internal project is recognised only when 
the Group can demonstrate:

12. Non-Current Assets - Intangible Assets and Goodwill
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• The technical feasibility of completing the intan- 
 gible asset so that it will be available for use or  
 sale.

• Its intention to complete and its ability to use or  
 sell the asset.

• How the asset will generate future economic  
	 benefits.

• The availability of resources to complete the  
 development.

• The ability to measure reliably the expenditure  
 attributable to the intangible asset during its  
 development.

Following initial recognition, the cost model is ap-
plied requiring the asset to be carried at cost less 
any accumulated amortisation and accumulated 
impairment losses. Any expenditure capitalised 
is amortised over the period of expected benefit 
from the related project.

Intangible assets related to development costs 
have been assessed as having a finite life and are 
amortised using the straight-line method over a 
period of three or five years, based on the expect-
ed economic life of the assets. The amortisation 
has been recognised in the statement of compre-
hensive income in the line item “depreciation and 
amortisation”. If an impairment indication arises, 
impairment testing is undertaken.

The carrying value of an intangible asset arising 
from development expenditure is tested for im-
pairment annually when the asset is not yet avail-
able for use or more frequently when an indication 
of impairment arises during the reporting period.

Patents and Licenses

The Group holds three licences and numerous 
patents. All patents and licences are carried at 
cost less accumulated amortisation and impair-
ment losses. These intangible assets have been 
determined to have a finite life and are amortised 
using the straight-line method over a useful life of 
between five and twenty years. The amortisation 
has been recognised in the statement of compre-
hensive income in the line item “depreciation and 
amortisation”. Patents and licences are subject 
to impairment testing whenever there is an indi-
cation of impairment. 

No impairment loss has been recognised for the 
years ended 30 June 2018 or 2017.

Goodwill

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is 
initially measured at cost of the business com-
bination being the excess of the consideration 
transferred over the fair value of the Group’s net 
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities as-
sumed. If this consideration transferred is lower 
than the fair value of the net identifiable assets 
of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is rec-
ognised in profit and loss.

Following initial recognition, goodwill is measured 
at cost less any accumulated impairment losses.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill 
acquired in a business combination is, from the 
acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s 
cash generating units, or groups of cash gen-
erating units, that are expected to benefit from 
the synergies of the combination, irrespective of 
whether other assets or liabilities of the Group 
are assigned to those units or groups of units. 
Each unit or group of units to which the goodwill 
is allocated represents the lowest level within the 
entity at which goodwill is monitored for internal 
management purposes, and is not larger than an 
operating segment determined in accordance with 
AASB 8. The goodwill of the Group is allocated to 
the Medical cash generating unit.

Impairment is determined by assessing the re-
coverable amount of the cash generating unit 
or group of cash generating units to which the 
goodwill relates.

The Group performs its impairment testing as at 
30 June each year and more frequently if indica-
tors of impairment exist, using a value in use, dis-
counted cash flow methodology. Further details 
on the methodology and assumptions used are 
outlined in Note 12.

When the recoverable amount of the cash-gener-
ating unit or group of cash generating units is less 
than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is 
recognised.

ImpediMed Limited 12. Non-Current Assets - Intangible Assets and Goodwill

Software & Patents and Licenses Development Costs

Finite

Amortised over the period of 
expected future benefit from the 
related project on a straight-line 
basis

Acquired

When an indication of
impairment exists

Useful Lives

Method Used

Internally Generated / Acquired

Impairment Test /
Recoverable Amount Test

Finite

Amortised over the period 
of expected future benefit 
from the related project on a 
straight-line basis

Internally generated

When an indication of 
impairment exists
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Impairment losses recognised for goodwill are not 
subsequently reversed. When goodwill forms part 
of a cash generating unit or group of cash gener-
ating units and an operation within that unit is dis-
posed of, the goodwill associated with the opera-
tion disposed of is included in the carrying amount 
of the operation when determining the gain or loss 
on disposal of the operation. Goodwill disposed of 
in this manner is measured based on the relative 
values of the operation disposed of and the por-
tion of the cash generating unit retained.

Impairment Tests for Goodwill and In-
tangible Assets with Indefinite Useful 
Lives

Description of the Group’s Cash Generating 
Units (CGUs) 

For the purposes of impairment testing, the 
Group has allocated the goodwill to the Medical 
CGU which comprises the business supplying 
bioimpedance and bioimpedance spectroscopy 
devices for use by clinicians and allied health 
professionals. During the current period, the key 
focus of the Medical CGU was the sale of devices 
for the subclinical assessment of lymphoedema 
in cancer survivors, though it also takes in devices 
used in body composition, and other areas of fluid 
status measurement. The Medical CGU is the core 
business of the Group and the part of the business 
forecasting substantial growth. There was no im-
pairment in financial years 2018 and 2017.

Relationship of the Intangible Assets with the 
CGUs

The only intangible asset in the Group with an in-
definite useful life is goodwill.

The goodwill has been allocated to the Medical 
CGU and arose from the acquisition of a subsidi-
ary in 2007. The goodwill is aligned to the objec-
tives of the acquisition which were to eliminate 
the risk of legal action for infringement of patents 
and to establish a base in the US for the Medical 
CGU to service and support the Group’s medical 
business.

Therefore, in undertaking impairment testing, it is 
the Medical CGU which has been assessed.

Details of Impairment Testing 

Impairment testing has been performed by calcu-
lating the value in use of the CGU. This has been 
prepared using a discounted cash flow forecast 
for the CGU for a ten-year period and analysing the 
net present value (NPV) of cash flows, noting no 
impairment is required.

A ten-year forecast is an appropriate measure to 
reflect the value of the Medical CGU, while creat-
ing new markets and working through commer-
cialisation milestones. Over the ten-year forecast 
a year-over-year average revenue growth rate of 
approximately 30% (2016: 30%) is calculated.

The calculation of value in use for the Medical 
CGU is most sensitive to:

1) Increased revenue arising from the following  
 factors / considerations:

 • Product acceptance and rate of adoption (by  
   hospitals and clinicians), particularly in the  
   US;

 • Progress in completing clinical trials  
   for SOZO in the US, in relation to additional  
   indications such as CHF;

 • Progress in having US customers adhere to  
   the clinical practice guidelines, such as the  
   NCCN Guidelines and NAPBC accreditation  
   requirements, to ensure cancer patients are  
   monitored for lymphoedema and referred for  
   lymphoedema management as needed; 

 • The continuation of an environment where  
   there are no cleared competitive products in  
   the US lymphoedema clinical assessment  
   market; and to some extent

 • Progress in having a Category I CPT reim- 
   bursement code accepted by US healthcare  
   payers to reimburse physicians for the use of  
   the L-Dex test;

2) Ability to sell products at amounts in excess of  
 both cost of sales and general operating costs;  
 and

3) The ability of the Group to have cash funding  
 sufficient to execute the current business plan.

12. Non-Current Assets - Intangible Assets and Goodwill
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All assumptions used in the calculation are based 
on budgets and forecasts and consider the size 
of markets available to the Group. Management 
believes that no reasonably possible change in 
any of the above key assumptions would cause 
the carrying value of the unit to materially exceed 
its recoverable amount.

In calculating the value in use, a discount rate of 
12.5% pre-tax has been used in the 2018 finan-
cial year (2017: 12.5%). In order to calculate the 

discount rate for use in the NPV calculation, the 
Group used a weighted average cost of capital 
(WACC) method. The Company currently has very 
little debt and has created equity by relying upon 
capital raises for its operating funds.

In addition, it is noted the market capitalisation 
of the Group at 30 June 2018 was approximately 
$150 million, which exceeded the net assets re-
corded (including goodwill) by approximately $114 
million.

ImpediMed Limited 12. Non-Current Assets - Intangible Assets and Goodwill / 13. Current Liabilities - Trade and other Payables

13. Current Liabilities - Trade and Other Payables

2018 
$000 

2017
$000 

Trade Payables and Accruals (i)

Deferred Revenue (ii)

Employee Related Payables (iii)

Sales Tax and Other Payables

Carrying Amount of Trade and Other Payables

1,765

270

317

164

2,516

2,142

58

221

156

2,577

(i) The Group has elected to combine trade payables and accruals as one line item (Trade payables and accruals) for all  
 current liabilities that are known and due. Other current liabilities that are based on accounting estimates are listed as  
 Sales tax and other payables.
(ii) Deferred revenue is recognised on certain SOZO contracts related to customers that elect to prepay for recurring  
 monthly usage fees, typically for up to one-year.
(iii) Employee related payables include expense reimbursements, commissions due to sales related personnel, and other  
 employee related payables due and payable within twelve months.

 

Trade payables and accruals are unsecured and 
non-interest bearing and normally settle on 30-
90 days terms.  Sales tax and other payables are 
non-interest bearing and normally have longer pay-
ment terms.

Trade payables and other payables are carried at 
amortised cost and, due to their short-term nature, 
are not discounted. They represent liabilities for 
goods and services provided to the Group prior to 
the end of the financial year that are unpaid and 
arise when the Group becomes obliged to make  
future payments in respect to the purchase of these 
goods and services. 

Fair Value

Due to the short-term nature of these payables, their 
carrying value is assumed to approximate their fair 
value.

Interest Rate, Foreign Exchange and  
Liquidity Risk

Information regarding interest rate, foreign ex-
change and liquidity risk exposure is set out in note 
26.F
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ImpediMed Limited

2018 
$000 

2017
$000 

Current

Employee Entitlements (i)

Warranty Provision

Office Lease - Make Good Provisions

Total Current Provisions

Non-Current

Employee Entitlements 

Deferred Rent Liability

Office Lease - Make Good Provisions

Total Non-Current Provisions

3,114

29

4

3,147

11

57

34

102

2,857

31

4

2,892

13

31

33

77

(i) The provision for current employee benefits primarily relates to the estimate for employee short-term incentives  
 related to that financial year, as well as a provision for accrued employee annual leave.

14. Provisions

The short-term incentive plan is a cash based 
incentive which is awarded based on annual per-
formance. For the financial year ended 30 June 
2018, the incentive plan focused on both Group 
and individual performance.

Significant Movements in Provisions

During the year, the Group utilised approximate-
ly $2.2 million (2017: $2.1 million) in short-term 
incentives related to the prior year accrual. This 
movement was offset by the 2018 financial year 
accrual of $2.1 million (2017: $2.2 million), net of 
foreign exchange differences.

Nature and Timing of Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a 
present obligation (legal or constructive) as a re-
sult of a past event, it is probable that an outflow 
of economic benefit will be required to settle the 
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of 
the amount of the obligation.

When the Group expects some or all of a provision 
to be reimbursed, for example under an insurance 
contract, the reimbursement is recognised as a 
separate asset but only when the reimbursement 

is virtually certain. The expense relating to any 
provision is presented in the statement of compre-
hensive income net of any reimbursement.

Provisions are measured at the present value of 
management’s best estimate of the expenditure 
required to settle the present obligation at the re-
porting date using a discounted cash flow meth-
odology. The risks specific to the provision are fac-
tored into the cash flows and as such a risk-free 
government bond rate relative to the expected life 
of the provision is used as a discount rate. The in-
crease in the provision resulting from the passage 
of time is recognised in finance costs.

Employee Entitlements

Employee entitlements comprise accrued enti-
tlements for annual leave, performance pay and 
superannuation contributions (all current) and for 
long service leave (non-current).  

Employee entitlements expected to be settled 
within 12 months of the reporting date are rec-
ognised in respect of employees’ services up to 
the reporting date. Expenses for non-accumu-
lating sick leave are recognised when the leave 
is taken and are measured at the rates paid or 
payable.

14. Provisions / 15. Contributed Equity

2018 
$000 

2017
$000 

Ordinary Shares Fully Paid

Total Ordinary Shares

219,746 

219,746

15. Contributed Equity

Ordinary Shares

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremen-
tal costs directly attributable to the issue of new 
shares or options are shown in equity as a deduc-
tion, net of tax, from the proceeds.

Ordinary shares fully paid include transaction 
costs of $19,000 (2017: $27,000) pertaining to the 

cost of capital from the exercise of options and 
performance rights during the current reporting 
period. Fully paid ordinary shares carry one vote 
per share and carry the right to dividends.

219,493 

219,493

Retirement Benefit Obligation

Contributions to superannuation plans are rec-
ognised as an expense when they become pay-
able. The Group contributes to various defined 
contribution superannuation funds in respect 
to all employees and at various percentages of 
their salary, including contributions required by 
the Superannuation Guarantee Charge. These 
contributions are made to external superannua-
tion funds and are not defined benefits programs. 
Consequently, the Group’s legal or constructive ob-
ligation is limited to these contributions.

Long Service Leave

The liability for long service leave is recognised 
and measured as the present value of expected 
future payments to be made in respect of services 
provided by employees up to the reporting date. 
Consideration is given to expected future wage 
and salary levels, experience of employee depar-
tures, and periods of service. Expected future 
payments are discounted using market yields at 
the reporting date on Australian corporate bond 
market discount rates with terms to maturity that 
match, as closely as possible, the estimated fu-
ture cash outflows.

Warranty Provision

A provision for warranty is recognised for expect-
ed warranty claims on products sold during the 
last year, based on experience of the level of re-
pairs and returns and on the one-year warranty 
period that is generally given for products sold. 
It is expected that these costs will be incurred 
during the next financial year.

Deferred Rent

A provision for deferred rent is recognised for fixed 
increases in office leases and for rent-free periods 
for the term of the leases at the Group’s four office 
locations.

Make Good Provision

To comply with office lease agreements, the Group 
must restore leased premises to the original con-
dition at the end of each premise’s respective 
lease term. Because of the nature of the liability, 
the greatest uncertainty in estimating the provi-
sion is the cost that will ultimately be incurred. 
The provision for each premise has been calculat-
ed using pre-tax discount rates of 1-8%, depending 
on the location of the premise.
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ImpediMed Limited 16. Reserves / 17. Key Management Personnel (KMP)

Capital Management

There are no externally imposed capital require-
ments on the Group. When managing capital, Man-
agement’s objective is to ensure that the entity 
continues as a going concern, as well as to main-

tain optimal returns and benefits to shareholders 
and other stakeholders. The Group will, from time 
to time, evaluate the Group’s capital structure with 
a view to optimising its cost of capital.

Number of 
Shares

2018 
$000 

$000 

2017
$000  

At 1 July 2016 

Issued During the Period as a Result of:

Issue of Ordinary Shares

Transaction Costs

At 30 June 2017

Issued During the Period as a Result of:

Issue of Ordinary Shares

Transaction Costs

At 30 June 2018

Total Borrowings (i) 

Less Cash and Cash equivalents

Net Debt 

Total Equity

Total Capital

Net Debt to Equity Ratio

373,584,471

1,941,565

-

375,526,036

3,467,619

-

378,993,655

2,515

(31,345)

(28,830)

36,002

7,172

N/A

218,807

713

(27)

219,493

272

(19)

219,746

2,577

(54,884)

(52,307) 

58,797

6,490

N/A

(i) The Group has no outstanding borrowings (2017: nil). Trade and other payables are included in Total Borrowings on this  
 table in order to reflect the net cash available to the Group after current payables are settled.

16. Reserves

Movements in Other Reserves

1,114

-

733

1,847

-

1,113

2,960

At 1 July 2016

Foreign Currency Translation

Share-based Payment

At 30 June 2017

Foreign Currency Translation

Share-based Payment

At 30 June 2018

5,916

(2,157)

- 

3,759

871

-

4,630

9,068

-

1,852

10,920

-

2,142

13,062

Total
 

$000

Performance Share 
Reserve

$000

Foreign Currency 
Translation 

$000

Share Options 
Reserve

$000

16,098 

(2,157) 

2,585 

16,526

871

3,255 

20,652

The Group currently maintains two long-term in-
centive plans for share-based payments. All op-
tions issued under the long-term incentive plans 
must be issued with an exercise price no less than 
fair market value. The actual exercise price will be 
determined by a committee of Directors, which is 
generally determined to be the Parent’s volume 
weighted average stock price over the five days 
prior to the option grant. No options or perfor-
mance rights provide dividend or voting rights to 
the holders.

Further details on share-based payments are pro-
vided in Note 18. 

At 30 June 2018, there were 36,657,538 (30 June 
2017: 32,661,827) unissued ordinary shares in re-
spect of 32,226,038 (30 June 2017: 29,023,827) 
unlisted options, 4,431,500 (30 June 2017: 
3,638,000) performance shares and nil (30 June 
2017: nil) listed options.

Nature and Purpose of Reserves

Share Option Reserve and Performance 
Share Reserve

The share option and performance share reserves 
are used to record the value of share-based pay-
ments provided to employees and participants, in-
cluding KMP, as part of their remuneration. Refer 
to Note 18 for further details of these plans.

Foreign Currency Translation Reserve

The foreign currency translation reserve is used 
to record exchange differences arising from the 
translation of the financial statements of foreign 
subsidiaries.

17. Key Management Personnel (KMP)

2018 
$

2017
$

Employee Benefits (i)

Post-employment Benefits

Severance Benefits

Share-based Payments

Total Compensation (ii)

3,949,539 

122,758 

-

2,573,684

6,645,981

4,318,047

120,469

317,134

2,191,975

6,947,625

(i) Short-term employee benefits include salaries and wages, short-term incentives earned during the period, other one-time  
 short-term incentives, long service leave, and non-monetary benefits such as insurance benefits. 
(ii) The majority of KMPs are based in the US and are paid in USD. The total compensation is therefore translated for finan- 
 cial reporting purposes to AUD monthly.

For additional detail related to the compensation of key management personnel please refer to the accom-
panying Directors’ Report. 
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ImpediMed Limited 18. Share-Based Payment Plans

Interests Held by Key Management Personnel

Share options and performance rights held by KMP, under the EIP and ESOP to purchase ordinary shares, 
have the following expiry dates and exercise prices:

2018Exercise PriceExpiry DateGrant Type

148,332

1,819,304

635,000

100,000

1,852,839

331,500

2,396,000

100,000

874,072

4,526,000

1,075,000

7,252,561

821,000

335,000

872,000

3,417,000

26,555,608

$0.18-0.6818

$0.11-0.4618

$0.00

$0.18

$0.11-.21

$0.00

$0.00

$0.18

$0.21

$0.69

$0.87-1.00

$0.35

$1.66

$1.46

$1.46

$0.82

31-Dec-18

30-Jun-19

14-Nov-19

31-Dec-19

30-Jun-20

25-Oct-20

15-Nov-20

31-Dec-20

30-Jun-21

4-Dec-21

1-Jul-22

8-Jul-22

25-Oct-23

13-Nov-23

14-Nov-23

15-Nov-24

Share Options

Share Options

Performance Rights

Share Options

Share Options

Performance Rights

Performance Rights

Share Options

Share Options

Share Options

Share Options

Share Options

Share Options

Share Options

Share Options

Share Options

18. Share-Based Payment Plans
Recognised Share-Based Payment Expenses

The expense recognised for share-based payments during the year is shown in the table below:

2018 
$000 

2017
$000  

Expense Arising from Equity-settled share-based Payment  
Transactions - Employees (i)

Expense Arising from Equity-settled share-based Payment  
Transactions - Consultants (i)

Expense Arising from Equity-settled Performance 
Rights Payment Transactions - Employees (ii)

Total Expense Arising from Share-based Payment Transactions

2,130

12

1,113

3,255

1,838

13

734

2,585

(i) Share option grants to employees and consultants that were expensed during the year were valued under either the  
 Black Scholes Model or the Monte Carlo valuation method. Under both valuation methods, a higher share price at the  
 date of grant will often lead to a higher value per option. Options granted to employees and consultants during the year  
 had a grant date pricing range of $0.64 to $.815, whereas in the prior year the range was $0.74 to $1.66. 
(ii) Performance rights granted during the period were valued using the fair value of the share price on the date of issue.  
 During the year, the Group continued to increase the ratio of performance related grants for KMP and certain employees.

Equity-Settled Transactions

The Group provides benefits to employees (in-
cluding key management personnel (KMP)) and 
certain consultants in the form of share-based 
payments, whereby employees and consultants 
render services in exchange for shares or rights 
over shares (equity-settled transactions). 

There are currently three types of plans in place 
to provide these benefits:   

• The Employee Incentive Plan (EIP), which pro- 
	 vides	benefits	in	the	form	of	shares,	options	or	 
	 performance	shares	to	employees	and	consul- 
	 tants,	 including	the	CEO.	This	plan	has	a	 
	 US	Sub-Plan	established	as	an	appendix	to	 
	 the	EIP.

• The Employee Share Option Plans (ESOP),  
	 which	provides	benefits	to	employees	and	con- 
	 sultants,	including	the	CEO	if	he	or	she	is	not	a	 
	 member	of	the	Board	of	Directors.	This	Group	 
	 has	two	(2)	ESOPs	-	one	for	US	based	employ- 
	 ees	and	one	for	Australian	based	employees.	

•	 The	CEO	Option	Plan.

Further details of the share-based payment plans 
are described below. During the current financial 
year, the Group continued to operate under the 
Employee Incentive Plan (EIP).

Stakeholders and industry participants expect 
that the Group’s remuneration framework should 
provide competitive and appropriate remuneration 
so that the company can attract and retain skilled 
employees and motivate them to improve Group 
performance. For all financial year 2018, the Group 
operated under the Employee Incentive Plan for 
issuing and maintaining employee share option 
schemes.  

Under the EIP, participants are eligible to receive 
Shares, Options or Performance Rights, which will 
help to align the interests of employees (partici-
pants) with those of the Group and its Members.

No share options schemes were issued under the 
ESOP during the year. Outstanding options that re-
side under the ESOPs remain under that plan, but 

any outstanding options under the ESOPs that are 
cancelled or forfeited do not become available un-
der the EIP nor return to the available option pool. 

(A)	TYPES	OF	SHARE-BASED	 
PAYMENT PLANS

Employee Incentive Plan (EIP) 

On 30 October 2014, the Board resolved to estab-
lish the Employee Incentive Plan and the corre-
sponding US Sub-Plan as a means of providing 
incentives to employees, consultants and execu-
tive or non-executive directors of the Group.

Purpose of the EIP and the US Sub-Plan

The purpose of the EIP is to provide a long-term 
incentive for employees to work with commitment 
toward enhancing the value of the Group and the 
shares for the benefit of shareholders, as well as 
to retain and attract employees whose contribu-
tions are, or may be, beneficial to the growth and 
development of the Group.

Issue of Options Excluded from Group’s 15% 
Limit under ASX Listing Rule 7.1

Under ASX Listing Rule 7.1, subject to certain ex-
ceptions, a company must not issue more than 
15% of the company’s total issued capital without 
shareholder approval.  An exception is provided in 
ASX Listing Rule 7.2 (exception 9) where holders 
of ordinary securities approve the issue of secu-
rities under an employee incentive scheme as an 
exception to ASX Listing Rule 7.1.

Limits on Incentives to be Issued Under 
the Plan

The Board will not issue incentives which, once 
exercised or vested, result in Shares being issued 
under this Employee Incentive Plan, including any 
sub-plan, which comprise more in aggregate than 
5% of the Group’s issued capital at the issue date.
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EIP Plan Terms and Conditions

Incentives under the EIP include a Share, an Op-
tion, or a Performance Right. Incentives are grant-
ed to eligible employees of and collaborators with 
(collectively known as Participants) the Group at 
the discretion of the Board of Directors.

In granting the incentives, which are issued for 
nil consideration, the Directors evaluate potential 
participants with respect to their abilities, expe-
rience, responsibilities and their contribution to 
the Group.

Unless otherwise determined by the Board, an op-
tion incentive held by a Participant will lapse upon 
the first to occur of:

• Its expiry date;

• The Participant failing to meet the Incentive’s  
 vesting conditions with the prescribed period;

• If the Participant ceases to be employed by the 
 Group due to resignation or retirement:

 • For vested options, 30 days after the date of  
  cessation of employment (or such longer pe- 
  riod as the Board determines);

 • For unvested Incentives, the date of cessation  
  of employment (or such longer period as the  
  Board determines)

• If the Participant ceases to be employed by the  
 Group due to retrenchment, or the Participant’s  
 death, permanent illness or permanent physical  
 or mental incapacity (as certified by a medical  
 practitioner who is approved in writing by the  
 Board):

 • For vested options, 12 months after the date of  
  cessation of employment (or such longer period  
  as the Board determines); and

 • For unvested Incentives, the date of cessation  
  of employment (or such longer period as the  
  Board determines)

• If the Participant ceases to be employed by the  
 Group for any other reason:

 • For vested incentives, 30 days after the date  
  of cessation of employment (or such longer  
  period as the Board determines); and

 • For unvested incentives, the date of cessation  

  of employment (or such longer period as the  
  Board determines)

• A determination by the Board that the partici 
 pant:

 • Has been dismissed or removed from office as  
  an employee or Director of the Group for any  
  reason which entitles the Group to dismiss the  
  Participant without notice, or 

 • Acted fraudulently, dishonestly or in breach of  
  the participant’s obligations tothe Group.

If at any time or times prior to the exercise by 
the participant or vesting of any outstanding In-
centives, there is any reconstruction (including a 
consolidation, subdivision, reduction, cancellation 
or return) of the issued capital of the Group, the 
terms of Incentives and the rights of the partici-
pant will be amended by the Board to the extent 
necessary to comply with the ASX Listing Rules 
at the time of the reconstruction.

An Incentive is personal to the Participant to 
whom it was granted, and the Participant may 
not sell, assign, transfer or otherwise dispose of, 
or make a declaration of trust in respect of, an In-
centive except to an Associate of that Participant.  
This does not prevent the exercise of the Incentive 
by the estate of a deceased Participant.

The contractual life of each Incentive granted 
is specified by the participant’s Incentive agree-
ment. There are no cash settlement alternatives. 
The Incentive issued under the plan cannot be 
transferred and are not quoted as tradeable in-
struments on the ASX.

US Sub-Plan

The US Sub-Plan is effective for a period of ten 
years from the date of its adoption by the Board, 
unless terminated earlier by the Board. 

The maximum number of Shares which may 
be issued under the US Sub-Plan is 15 million 
Shares. However, as stated above, the Board 
will not issue Incentives under this plan which, 
once exercised or vested, result in Shares be-
ing issued which comprise more than 5% of 
the Group’s issued capital at the issue date. 

ImpediMed Limited 18. Share-Based Payment Plans

The exercise price of an Option will not be less 
than the fair market value of a Share on the date 
of grant of the Option. 

The Group’s obligation to issue securities under 
the US Sub-Plan is subject to any restrictions in 
the Corporations Act or the ASX Listing Rules.

Share Options

Share options are issued to eligible participants 
under the EIP. The Group issued 7,410,200 (2017: 
4,213,000) share options to participants under the 
EIP during the current year.

For new and existing employees and consultants, 
share options issued during the period generally 
vest on the one-year anniversary of the date of 
grant or of employment in an amount equal to the 
product of one-fourth multiplied by the number of 
total options granted.

In a situation where there is likely to be a change 
of control of the Group, the Board may have the 
discretion to determine whether some, none or all 
of the LTI instruments will vest.

Performance Shares

Performance shares (or Performance Rights) are 
issued to eligible participants under the EIP in rec-
ognition of their contribution to the performance 
of the Group and are often subject to meeting in-
dividual performance hurdles. The Group issued 
3,383,000 (2017: 1,419,000) performance rights to 
employees under the EIP during the current year. 

All performance rights are issued at the discretion 
of the Board of Directors and are issued for nil 
consideration. The performance rights granted 
during the year vest in full on the third anniversary 
of the grant date. In the event of a change of con-
trol, all outstanding unvested performance rights 
may vest on an accelerated basis immediately.

If the participant ceases employment with the 
Group where such cessation of employment is 
due to the participant’s death, permanent illness 
or permanent physical or permanent mental inca-
pacity (as certified by a medical practitioner who 
is approved in writing by the Board), the perfor-
mance rights will fully vest on the third anniver-
sary of the date of grant.

Performance rights which have not vested shall 
automatically lapse and be forfeited without con-
sideration upon cessation of the participant’s em-
ployment with the Group.

The fair value of performance shares is measured 
by using the stock price for ImpediMed Limited 
as of the close of business on the day prior to 
the grant date multiplied by the number of eligible 
shares. The number of eligible shares is measured 
using a combination of the probability of future 
service and the achievement of specific goals.

Employee Share Option Plan (ESOP)

The Group has two schemes under the ESOP it 
operated, one for eligible Australian participants 
and one for eligible US participants. The only out-
standing grants for the ESOP were issued prior to 
30 October 2014, as no additional awards were is-
sued under the ESOP after the creation of the EIP.

5% Limit under ASIC Class Order 03/184

The ESOP for the Australian employees follows 
the 5% limit under the ASIC class order 03/184 
in relation to the total amount of shares that may 
be issued to Australian employees. One of these 
conditions is that the number of options offered 
to an eligible employee in Australia, when added 
to the number of securities previously issued un-
der any employee incentive scheme (including 
options previously issued under the option plan 
and shares under an employee share plan) to 
Australian employees over the last five years (but 
excluding options that have since lapsed), is less 
than 5% of the total number of shares on issue 
at the time of the offer (5% limit). The class order 
also sets out a number of exceptions where the 
issue of securities in certain circumstances are 
excluded from the 5% limit calculation.  

One relevant exception to the 5% limit calculation 
is the offer or issue of securities to persons out-
side Australia at the time they receive the offer. 
Accordingly, options offered to employees in the 
US under the Group’s US ESOP are excluded from 
the 5% limit calculation.
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Issue of Options Excluded from Group’s 15% 
Limit under ASX Listing Rule 7.1

At the Group’s November 2013 AGM, sharehold-
ers approved the issue of options under both the 
Australian ESOP and the US ESOP for the next 
three years for the purpose of exception 9 of ASX 
Listing Rule 7.2.

ESOP Schemes Terms and Conditions

Share options are granted to eligible employees of 
and collaborators with the Group at the discretion 
of the Board of Directors. In granting the options, 
which are issued for nil consideration, the Direc-
tors evaluate potential participants with respect 
to their abilities, experience, responsibilities and 
their contribution to the Group.

When a participant ceases to be eligible to contin-
ue participating in the plan prior to vesting their 
share options, the unvested share options are 
forfeited. The participant has 30 days to exercise 
vested options after cession of employment. 

In the event of a change of control of the Group, at 
the discretion of the Board of Directors, all options 
vest immediately.  

The contractual life of each option granted is 
specified by the stock option agreement not to 
 

exceed ten years from the date of grant. There are 
no cash settlement alternatives. The options is-
sued under the plan cannot be transferred and are 
not quoted as tradeable instruments on the ASX.

Chief Executive Option Plan

There were no options issued under the chief Ex-
ecutive option plan during the current or prior year. 
All CEO option grants are subject to approval by 
the shareholders. 

Options issued to the CEO were issued under the 
EIP or ESOP, except for the issuance of 7,252,561 
options upon hiring. Those options were issued 
outside of any existing option schemes upon 
shareholder approval at the 2012 AGM. For ad-
ditional information on option grants, refer to the 
Managing Director and CEO Remuneration section 
of the Remuneration Report.

B) SUMMARY OF OPTIONS AND  
PERFORMANCE RIGHTS

Employee Incentive Plan (EIP)

The following table illustrates the number of 
shares (Number) and weighted average exercise 
price (WAEP) of share options under the EIP plans:
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111

CORPORATE 
INFORMATION

DIRECTORS’ 
REPORT

REMUNERATION 
REPORT

FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS 

ImpediMed Limited 18. Share-Based Payment Plans

13,476,000

7,410,200

(2,670,130)

-

18,216,070

7,324,236

11,308,000

4,213,000

(1,926,689)

(118,311)

13,476,000

5,024,683

0.97

0.80

1.02

-

0.89

0.81

0.78

1.44

0.88

0.72

0.97

0.73

Balance at the Beginning of the Year

Granted During the Year (i)

Forfeited During the Year

Exercised During the Year (ii)

Balance at the End of the Year

Exercisable at 30 June (iii)

 Number  NumberWAEP $ WAEP $

2018 2017

SHARE OPTIONS

PERFORMANCE RIGHTS

3,638,000

3,383,000

(509,500)

(2,080,000)

4,431,500

-

2,760,000

1,419,000

(541,000)

-

3,638,000

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Balance at the Beginning of the Year

Granted During the Year

Forfeited During the Year

Exercised During the Year

Balance at the End of the Year

Exercisable at 30 June 

 Number  NumberWAEP $ (iv) WAEP $

2018 2017

(i) All incentives granted during the current financial year were granted under the Employee Incentive Plan.
(ii) Employees and LTI participants of the Group exercised options during the year. The weighted average share price of  
 all options exercised was nil (2017: $0.34).
(iii) All options granted in the 2017 financial year vest on an annual basis. All options granted in the 2018 financial year vest  
 on an annual basis.
(iv) Weighted average exercise price is nil as performance rights are issued for nil consideration.

Employee Share Option Plan (ESOP)

The following table illustrates the number of shares (Number) and weighted average exercise price (WAEP) 
of share options under the ESOP schemes:

15,547,827

-

(48,875)

(1,387,619)

(101,365)

14,009,968

14,009,968

17,401,232

-

(1,823,254)

(30,151)

-

15,547,827

15,547,827

0.27

-

0.14

0.19

0.39 

0.28

0.28

0.28

-

0.34

0.59

-

0.27 

0.27

Balance at the Beginning of the Year (i) (ii)

Granted During the Year (ii)

Forfeited During the Year

Exercised During the Year (iii)

Expired During the Year

Balance at the End of the Year

Exercisable at 30 June

 Number  NumberWAEP $ WAEP $

2018 2017

(i) Following the 2012 rights issues all outstanding options were re-priced pursuant to ASX Listing Rule 6.22 resulting in a  
 reduction in exercise price of all outstanding options by approximately 1.8 cent per option. 
(ii) Incentives granted before 30 October 2014 were granted under the ESOP. After 30 October 2014, no additional incentives  
 have been granted under that plan.
(iii) Employees and LTI participants of the Group exercised options during the year. The weighted average share price of all  
 options exercised was $0.20 (2017: $0.34).

 

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



Annual Report 2018

112

CORPORATE 
INFORMATION

DIRECTORS’ 
REPORT

REMUNERATION 
REPORT

FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS

18. Share-Based Payment Plans

113

CORPORATE 
INFORMATION

DIRECTORS’ 
REPORT

REMUNERATION 
REPORT

FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS 

ImpediMed Limited 18. Share-Based Payment Plans

Exercise Price ($) (i)Number of Options Expiry Date

$ 0.99
$ 0.93
$0.46
$0.46
$0.46
$0.46
$0.46
$0.46
$0.46
$0.46
$0.46
$0.46
$0.46
$0.46
$0.69
$0.46
$0.46
$0.46
$0.46
$0.46
$0.85
$0.46
$0.46
$0.87
$0.46
$0.46
$0.46
$0.46
$0.46
$1.03
$0.46
$0.89
$1.32
$1.66
$1.47
$1.46
$1.46
$0.73
$0.74
$0.64
$0.82
$.068

11,000
35,070
50,000

4,167
4,167
4,166 
4,167
4,167
4,166
4,167
4,167
4,166
4,167
4,167

5,638,000
4,166
4,167
4,167
4,166
4,167

50,000
4,167
4,166

1,590,000
4,167
4,167
4,166
4,167
4,167

400,000
4,166

425,000
200,000
821,000
725,000
335,000
872,000
206,000
120,000
309,000

6,022,000
306,000

18,215,070

14-Jul-18
15-Jul-18

15-Dec-20
15-Jan -21
15-Feb -21
15-Mar-21
15-Apr-21

15-May-21
15-Jun-21
15-Jul-21

15-Aug-21
15-Sep-21
15-Oct-21
15-Nov-21
04-Dec-22
15-Dec-21
15-Jan-22
15-Feb-22
15-Mar-22
15-Apr-22

08-May-22
15-May-22
15-Jun 22
01-Jul-22
15-Jul-22

15-Aug-22
15-Sep-22
15-Oct-22
15-Nov-22
08-Dec-22
15-Dec-22
18-May-23
01-Aug-23
25-Oct-23
04-Nov-23
13-Nov-23
14-Nov-23
06-Mar-24
28-Apr-24
13-Sep-24
15-Nov-24
27-Apr-25

Employee Incentive Plan (EIP)

The year-end balance is represented by:

SHARE OPTIONS

PERFORMANCE RIGHTS

Exercise Price ($) (i)Number of Rights Expiry Date

-

-

-

-

-

-

635,000

3,128,000

57,000

100,000

331,500

180,000

4,431,500

14-Nov-19

15-Nov-20

04-Nov-20

31-Jul-19

25-Oct-20

27-Apr-21

(i) Exercise price is nil as performance rights are issued for nil consideration.

(i) Following the 2012 rights issues all outstanding options at that time were re-priced pursuant to ASX Listing Rule 6.22  
 resulting in a reduction in exercise price of all outstanding options by approximately 1.8 cents per option.
(ii) At 30 June 2018, 51,066 options with an expiry date of 30 June 2018 are pending exercise and will be exercised once the  
 trading window is re-opened.

Employee Stock Option Plan (ESOP)

The year-end balance is represented by:

SHARE OPTIONS

Exercise Price ($) (i)Number of Options (ii) Expiry Date

$ 0.11

$ 0.18-0.6818

$ 0.11-0.5818

$ 0.18

$ 0.11-0.44

$ 0.18

$ 0.21-0.44

$ 0.44

$ 0.35

51,066

251,331

2,352,174

175,000

2,478,749

100,000

1,224,087

125,000

7,252,561

14,009,968

36,656,538

30-Jun-18

31-Dec-18

30-Jun-19

31-Dec-19

30-Jun-20

31-Dec-20

30-Jun-21

30-Jun-22

08-Jun-22

Chief Executive Option Plan

There were no options issued under the Chief Ex-
ecutive Option Plan during the current year. Op-
tions issued to the Chief Executive Officer during 
the current year were issued under the Employee 
Incentive Plan and during prior years were issued 
under the Employee Incentive Plan and the Em-
ployee Share Option Plan. 

(C) WEIGHTED AVERAGE REMAINING 
CONTRACTUAL LIFE

Employee Share Option Plan (ESOP)

The weighted average remaining contractual life 
for share options outstanding as at 30 June 2018 
is 2.9 (2017: 3.6) years.
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ImpediMed Limited 18. Share-Based Payment Plans

Employee Incentive Plan (EIP)

The weighted average remaining contractual life 
for share options outstanding as at 30 June 2018 
is 3.7 (2017: 5.2) years. The weighted average re-
maining contractual life for performance rights 
outstanding as at 30 June 2018 is 2.2 (2017: 1.3) 
years.  

(D) RANGE OF EXERCISE PRICES

Employee Share Option Plan (ESOP) 

The range of exercise prices for options outstand-
ing as at 30 June 2018 is $0.11-0.68 (2017: $0.11-
1.66).

Employee Incentive Plan (EIP)

The range of exercise prices for options outstand-
ing as at 30 June 2018 is $0.46-1.66 (2017: $0.46-
$1.05). The performance rights are issued at nil 
exercise price.

(E) WEIGHTED AVERAGE FAIR VALUE

Employee Incentive Plan (EIP)

The weighted average fair value of options grant-
ed during the year was $0.87 (2017: $0.87).

(F) OPTION PRICING MODEL

The fair value of the equity-settled share options 
granted under the EIP and ESOP schemes is es-
timated as at the date of grant using either the 
Black Scholes option valuation model or the Mon-
te Carlo Simulation if there is a restriction on the 
share price for exercisability of the option – taking 
into account the terms and conditions upon which 
the options were granted.

The following table lists the inputs in the models 
used for the financial years ended 30 June 2018 
and 30 June 2017:

75.9%

1.9%

7

$0.64 - $0.82

$0.66 - $0.82

$0.37 - $0.53

75.9%

1.9%

7

$0.73 - $1.66

$0.69 - $1.68

$0.38 - $1.09

Expected Volatility (%)

Risk Free Interest Rate (%)

Expected Life of Option (Years)

Option Exercise Price ($)

Stock Price at Grant Date ($)

Calculated Fair Value at Grant Date  ($)

 EIP 
Issue 2018

EIP 
Issue 2017

(G) ACCOUNTING POLICIES FOR  
EQUITY-SETTLED TRANSACTIONS

The cost of equity-settled transactions is mea-
sured by reference to the fair value of the equity 
instruments at the date they are granted. The fair 
value is determined by a Black-Scholes model, 
details of which are given in Note 18.

In valuing equity-settled transactions, no account 
is taken of any vesting conditions, other than con-
ditions linked to the price of the shares of Imped-
iMed Limited (market conditions) if applicable.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is rec-
ognised, together with a corresponding increase 
in equity, over the period in which the performance 
and/or service condition are fulfilled (the vesting 
period), ending on the date on which the relevant 
employees become fully entitled to the award (the 
vesting date).

At each subsequent reporting date until vesting, 
the cumulative charge to the statement of com-
prehensive income is the product of:

• The grant date fair value of the award

• The current best estimate of the number of  
 awards that will vest, taking into account such  
 factors as the likelihood of employee turnover  
 during the vesting period and the likelihood of  
 non-market performance conditions being met;   
 and 

• The expired portion of the vesting period.

The charge to the statement of comprehensive 
income for the period is the cumulative amount 
as calculated above less the amounts already 
charged in previous periods. There is a corre-
sponding entry to equity.

Equity-settled awards granted by the Parent to 
employees of subsidiaries are recognised in the 
Parent’s separate financial statements as an ad-
ditional investment in the subsidiary with a corre-
sponding credit to equity.  As a result, the expense 
recognised by ImpediMed Limited in relation to 
equity-settled awards only represents the expense 
associated with grants to employees of the par-
ent. The expense recognised by the Group is the 
total expense associated with all such awards.

Until an award has vested, any amounts recorded 
are contingent and will be adjusted if more or few-
er awards vest than were originally anticipated to 
do so. Any award subject to a market condition is 
considered to vest irrespective of whether or not 
that market condition is fulfilled, provided that all 
other conditions are satisfied.

If the terms of an equity-settled award are modi-
fied, as a minimum an expense is recognised as 
if the terms had not been modified. An additional 
expense is recognised for any modification that 
increases the total fair value of the share-based 
payment arrangement, or is otherwise beneficial 
to the employee, as measured at the date of mod-
ification.

During the prior period, certain options of the MD 
& CEO were modified to amend the terms of the 
grant. The amendment removed the market based 
exercise conditions of the options. Under AASB 
2, this change is viewed as a modification which 
must be accounted for. Specifically, AASB 2 re-
quires both the option using the original terms 
and the option with the modified terms to be fair 
valued at the modification date. The difference 
between the valuations is recorded in the profit 
and loss to the extent the fair value of the modified 
options is greater. Based on the work performed 
in the current financial year, no additional expense 
was recorded for the modification of the MD & 
CEO’s options, given the fair value of the modi-
fied option was not deemed to be greater than the 
existing option.

The fair value of performance shares is measured 
by using the stock price for ImpediMed Limited 
as of the close of business on the day prior to 
the grant date multiplied by the number of eligible 
shares.

The dividend yield for all tranches was nil. The 
weighted average share price for all tranches at 
grant date was $0.81 in financial year 2018 (2017: 
$1.56).

The effects of early exercise have been incorporat-
ed into the calculations by using an expected life 

for the option that is shorter than the contractual 
life based on management’s expectation of exer-
cise behaviour, which is not necessarily indicative 
of exercise patterns that may occur in the future.

The expected volatility rate was determined using 
a sample of industry averages based on histori-
cal share prices. The resulting expected volatility 
therefore reflects the assumption that the indus-
try averages are indicative of future trends, which 
may not necessarily be the actual outcome.
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19. Income Tax  
Income Tax Expense
The major components of income tax are:

2018 
$000 

2017
$000  

Current Income Tax

Current Income Tax Benefit/(Expense)

Prior Year Over/Under Provision

Deferred Income Tax

Related to Originiation and Reversal of Temporary Differences

Prior Year Over/Under Provision

Income Tax Benefit/(Loss) Reported in the Consolidated 
Statement of Comprehensive Income

(42)

-

(42)

-

-

(42)

(40)

-

(40)

-

-

(40)

Tax Losses

The Group has tax losses in Australia of approxi-
mately $64.8 million (2017: $59.0 million) and tax 
losses in the US of approximately USD $83.8 mil-
lion (2017: USD $70.0 million) that are available 

for offset against future taxable profits of the com-
panies in which the losses arose, subject to satis-
fying the relevant income tax loss carry forward 
rules. No deferred tax asset has been recorded in 
relation to these tax losses.

Statement of Comprehensive Income Disclosure

A reconciliation between tax expense and the accounting profit
before income tax multiplied by the Group’s applicable tax rate is 
as follows:

Group’s Applicable Tax Rate is as Follows:

Accounting Profit/(Loss) Before Tax from Continuing Operations

Accounting Profit/(Loss) Before Income Tax

At Australia’s Statutory Income Tax Rate of 27.5% (2017: 27.5%)

Adjustment for Current Income Tax of Previous Years

Expenditure Not Allowable for Income Tax Purposes

Other Assessable Income

Non Assessable Income

Other Deductible Expenses

Foreign Tax Rate Adjustment

Tax Losses Not Recognised

Income Tax Reported in the Consolidated Statement 
of Comprehensive Income (i)

(27,531)

(27,531)

(7,571)

2,652

-

(796)

23

(1,991)

7,723

40

(i) ImpediMed Hellas, the Greece-based subsidiary of the Group, was established during the previous financial year as a limited  
 liability Idiotiki Kefalaiouhiki Eteria (“IKE”). The Greece-based subsidiary primarily provides Research & Development and  
 Marketing related services to the Parent entity and had taxable income during the 2018 and 2017 financial years.  
 Transactions undertaken between the Parent entity and the foreign-related party give rise to several international taxing  
 provision under Australian law. All transactions undertaken between the entities were carried out at an arm’s length  
 basis.

(27,132)

(27,132)

(7,461)

2,365

25

(810)

128

(4)

5799

42

2018 
$000 

2017
$000  

Deferred Tax Disclosures
Deferred Income Tax at 30 June Relates to the Following:

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current 
and prior periods are measured at the amount ex-
pected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation 
authorities based on the current period’s taxable 
income. The tax rates and tax laws used to com-
pute the amount are those that are enacted or 
substantially enacted by local jurisdictions as of 
the reporting date.

Deferred income tax is provided on all temporary 
differences at the reporting date between the tax 
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying 
amounts for financial reporting purposes. De-
ferred income tax liabilities are recognised for all 
taxable temporary differences except:

• When the deferred income tax liability aris- 
 es from the initial recognition of goodwill or of  
 an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a  
 busin combination and that, at the time of  
 the transaction, affects neither the accounting  
	 profit	nor	taxable	profit	or	loss;	or

• When the taxable temporary difference is a 
 ssociated with investments in subsidiaries and  
 the timing of the reversal of the temporary dif- 
 ference can be controlled and it is probable that  
 the temporary difference will not reverse in the  
 foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for all 
deductible temporary differences, carry-forward of 
unused tax assets and unused tax losses, to the 
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will 
be available against which the deductible tempo-
rary differences and the carry-forward of unused 
tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, 
except:

• When the deferred income tax asset relating to  
 the deductible temporary difference arises from  
 the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a  
 transaction that is not a business combination  
 and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither  
	 the	accounting	profit	nor	taxable	profit	or	loss;		
 or

• When the deductible temporary difference is  
 associated with investments in subsidiaries in 
 which case a deferred tax asset is only rec- 
 ognised to the extent that it is probable that the  
 temporary difference will reverse in the fore- 
	 seeable	future	and	taxable	profit	will	be	avail- 
 able against which the temporary difference can  
 be utilised. 

Deferred Tax Assets

Doubtful Debts

Employee Entitlements

s40-880 Costs

Patents and License Costs

Sundry Creditors and Accruals

Losses Available for Offset Against Future Taxable Income

Revenue Received in Advance

Inventory and Other Provisions

Unrealised Foreign Exchange Losses

Deferred Tax Liabilities

Income not Derived for Tax Purposes

Deferred Tax Assets not Recognisable  

Net Deferred Tax Balance Per Accounts

106

238

551

268

97

46,237 

22

395

  (3,728)

(27)

44,159

(44,159)

-

2

321

911

432

92

51,426 

22

304

(2,161)

(2)

51,347

(51,347)

-

2018 
$000 

2017
$000  
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ImpediMed Limited 20. Parent Entity Information / 21. Related Party Disclosure  

The carrying amount of deferred income tax as-
sets is reviewed at each reporting date and re-
duced to the extent that it is no longer probable 
that sufficient taxable profit will be available to 
allow all or part of the deferred income tax asset 
to be utilised. 

Unrecognised deferred income tax assets are 
reassessed at each reporting date and are rec-
ognised to the extent that it has become probable 
that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax 
asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured 
at tax rates that are expected to apply to the year 
when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, 
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been 
enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting 
date.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are 
offset only if a legally enforceable right exists to 
set off current tax assets against current tax lia-
bilities and the deferred tax assets and liabilities 
relate to the same taxable entity and the same 
taxation authority.

Other Taxes

Revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities are rec-
ognised net of the amount of GST except:

• Where the GST incurred on a purchase of goods  
 and services is not recoverable from the taxa- 
 tion authority, in which case the GST is rec- 
 ognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the  
 asset or as part of the expense item as applica- 
 ble; and

• Receivables and payables in current assets,  
 which, in general, are stated with the amount of  
 GST included.

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or pay-
able to, the taxation authority is included as part 
of receivables or payables in the balance sheet.

Cash flows are included in the Cash Flow State-
ment on a gross basis and the GST component of 
cash flows arising from investing and financing 
activities, which is recoverable from, or payable to, 
the taxation authority, are classified as operating 
cash flows.

Commitments and contingencies are disclosed 
net of the amount of GST recoverable from, or 
payable to, the taxation authority.

The Group is subject to sales taxation in the US in 
various state jurisdictions. Sales tax has several 
components:

• On revenue, the Group collects sales tax from  
 customers and remits it to state governments.

• For expenses and assets, the Group pays sales  
 tax on the purchase of goods that are used in  
 the course of business. Sales tax is recognised  
 as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or  
 as part of the expense item as applicable.  
 Receivables and payables are stated with the  
 amount of sales tax included.

Receipts from customers are included in the Cash 
Flow Statement including sales tax amounts col-
lected which are payable to the taxation authority. 
These amounts are offset by payments made to 
taxation authorities during each period in the Cash 
Flow Statement. Cash flows on expenses and as-
sets are included in the Cash Flow Statement on 
a gross basis and are classified as operating, in-
vesting or financing cash flows as appropriate.

20. Parent Entity Information

2018 
$000 

2017
$000  

Current Assets

Total Assets

Current Liabilities

Total Liabilities

Issued Capital

Accumulated Losses

Performance Share Reserve

Share Option Reserve

Total Shareholders’ Equity

Loss of the Parent Entity

Total Comprehensive Loss of the Parent Entity

Information Relating to ImpediMed Limited:

4,889

7,457

757

779

219,746

(229,090)

2,960

13,062

6,678

(8,231)

(8,231)

7,077

7,720

2,022

2,044

219,493

(220,858)

1,847

10,920

11,402

(8,380)

(8,380)

The Parent has not entered into any guarantees 
in relation to the debts of its subsidiaries. The 
Parent has not entered into any contractual com-
mitments for the acquisition of property, plant or 
equipment.

Details of any commitments and any operating 
leases of the Parent entity are described in note 23 
and any contingent liabilities of the Parent entity 
are described in note 24.

21. Related Party Disclosure

Subsidiaries

The consolidated financial statements include the 
financial statements of ImpediMed Limited and 
the subsidiaries listed in the following table:

United States

Greece

United States

100

100

100

100

100

100

ImpediMed Incorporated

ImpediMed Hellas

XiTRON Technologies Incorporated

2018 2017

Country of IncorporationName % Equity Interest

Ultimate Parent

ImpediMed Limited is the ultimate Australian par-
ent entity.

Details relating to Directors, including remuner-
ation paid, are included in the Directors’ Report. 

For the year ended 30 June 2018, and for the prior 
year, no transactions with Directors occurred that 
would be considered related party transactions. 
Transactions with these and all related parties are 
made at arm’s length both at normal market prices 
and on normal commercial terms.
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ImpediMed Limited 23. Commitments

Terms and Conditions of Transactions 
with Related Parties:

Sales to and purchases from related parties are 
made in arm’s length transactions both at normal 
market prices and on normal commercial terms.

Key Management Personnel (KMP)

Details relating to key management personnel, in-
cluding remuneration paid, are included in note 17.

For the year ended 30 June 2018, there were no 
other transactions with KMP that would be con-
sidered related party transactions.

22. Auditor’s Remuneration

2018 
$000 

2017
$000  

Amounts Received or Due and Receivable By Ernst & Young 
Australia for:

Audit and Review of Financial Report of the Entity

Information Relating to ImpediMed Limited:

232,462 

232,462

205,563 

205,563

23. Commitments

Operating Lease Commitments

The Group is under lease for one (1) Austra-
lian-based headquarters, two (2) US-based oper-
ating facilities, and one (1) Greece-based facility. 
The leases have a total range of less than one-
year to four-years remaining. Several of the leases 
contain a termination option prior to the end of 
the lease, leaving a range of less than one-year 
to three-years remaining under the minimum 
lease obligations. In April 2017, the Group signed 

a three-year commercial lease extension for the 
Brisbane-based headquarters of the Parent enti-
ty.  Commitments for facilities include base rental 
fees and an estimate for common-area-mainte-
nance (CAM) fees, where applicable.

There are no restrictions placed on the Group for 
entering into these leases.

Future minimum rentals payable under non-can-
cellable operating leases as at 30 June 2018 are 
as follows:

2018 
$000 

2017
$000  

Within One Year (i)

After One Year but not More Than Five (ii)

More Than Five Years

334

862

-

1,196

502

997

-

1,499

(i) At 30 June 2018, $68,000 related to commitments of the Parent entity (2017: $68,000) are due within one-year.
(ii) At 30 June 2018, $51,000 related to commitments of the Parent entity (2017: $121,000) are due after one-year but not  
	 more	than	five-years.	

2018 
$000 

2017
$000  

Within One Year (i) 2,153

2,153

2,223

2,223

Finance Lease Commitments

The	Group	does	not	currently	have	any	open	fi-
nance leases.

Expenditure Commitments

At 30 June 2018, the Group has commitments 
of $2.2 million (2017: $2.2 million) relating to the 

funding of future product builds, clinical trials, 
advertising and promotional activities, and other 
activities. The expenditure commitments primarily 
relate to the commercialisation of the SOZO de-
vice with L-Dex technology in the US marketplace, 
as well as the PREVENT and CHF clinical trials.

(i) At 30 June 2018, $166,000 related to commitments of the Parent entity (2017: $1,797,000).

Royalty Commitments

At 30 June 2018, the Group has commitments for 
the payment of royalties, which are provided on 
product sales and are accrued and recognised for 
the year ended 30 June 2018.

Accounting Policies for Onerous 
Contracts

An onerous contract provision is recognised for 
contracts that are deemed onerous. Contracts are 
demed onerous if the unavoidable costs of meet-
ing the obligations under the contract exceed the 
benefits	expected	to	be	received.

Accounting Policies for Commitments 
and Leases

The determination of whether an arrangement is 
or contains a lease is based on the substance of 
the arrangement and requires and assessment of 
whther	the	fulfilment	of	the	arrangement	is	depen-
dent	on	the	use	of	a	specific	asset	or	assets	and	
the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset.

Group as a Lessee

Finance leases, which transfer to the Group sub-
stantially	all	the	risks	and	benefits	incidental	to	
ownership of the leased item, are capitalised at 
the inception of the lease at the fair value of the 

leased asset or, if lower, at the present value of the 
minimum lease payments. Lease payments are 
apportioned	between	the	finance	charges	and	re-
duction of the lease liability to achieve a constant 
rate of interest on the remaining balance of the 
liability. Finance charges are recognised as an ex-
pense	in	profit	or	loss.	The	Group	had	no	material	
finance	leases	at	30	June	2018	(30	June	2017:	nil).

Capitalised leased assets are depreciated over the 
shorter of the estimated useful life of the asset or 
the lease term if there is no reasonable certainty 
that the Group will obtain ownership by the end 
of the lease term.

Operating lease payments are recognised as an 
expense in the statement of comprehensive in-
come on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 
Operating lease incentives are recognised as a lia-
bility when received and subsequently reduced by 
allocating lease payments between rental expense 
and reduction of the liability.

Group as a Lessor

Leases in which the Group retains substantially all 
the	risks	and	benefits	of	ownership	of	the	leased	
asset	are	classified	as	operating	leases.	When	
material, initial direct costs incurred in negotiat-
ing an operating lease are added to the carrying 
amount of the leased asset and recognised as an 
expense over the lease term on the same basis 
as rental income.
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ImpediMed Limited 25. Events after the Balance Sheet Date

Impact of AASB 16 Leases

The AASB issued a new accounting standard, 
called AASB 16 Leases. It replaces the previous 
accounting standard, AASB 117 Leases, which 
was introduced more than 30 years ago and is no 
longer considered fit for purpose. AASB 16 is effec-
tive 1 January 2019. Early application is permitted 
for companies that also apply AASB 15 Revenue 
from Contracts with Customers. The objective of 
the new standard is to set out the principles that 
both parties to a contract [customer (lessee) and 
supplier (lessor)] apply, in order to provide relevant 
information about leases. The changes to the ac-
counting standard don’t represent major changes 
for the lessor, but it does mean that the lessee is 
required to recognise assets and liabilities arising 
from a lease on its balance sheet.

Consistent with the Group’s current accounting 
policies for leases, leases under AASB 117 to 
date have been categorised as either ‘finance 
leases’ (which are reported on the balance sheet) 
or ‘operating leases’ (which are disclosed only in 
the notes to the financial statements). The new 
standard looks to provide transparency on the 
lessee’s lease assets and liabilities by requiring 
that they be brought on to the balance sheet, and 
eliminates the classification of leases as either 
operating leases or finance leases for a lessee.

The key changes related to AASB 16, as they relate 
to the Group, are as follows:

• Lessees will no longer be required to classify  
	 leases	as	either	operating	or	finance	leases.

• Lessees will recognise all leases in the balance  
	 sheet	in	a	similar	manner	to	existing	finance	 
 leases by recognising a ‘right-of-use’ asset and  
 a lease liability for the present value of the obli- 
	 gation.

• If the lease contract is for a period of 12 months  
 or less, or it is a lease of a low value asset, then  
 the lessee may elect to apply recognition  
	 exemption	to	this	lease.	Under	this	exemption	 
 you can recognise the lease payments as an  
	 expense	in	profit	or	loss	on	either	a	straight-line	 
 basis, or another systematic basis that rep- 
	 resents	the	pattern	of	your	expected	benefits.	

• Lessees will no longer recognise straight-line  
	 expenses	for	operating	lease	costs.	All	leases	 
 will incur a front-end loaded expense, compris- 
 ing depreciation on the right-of-use asset, and  
	 interest	on	the	lease	liability.

• Lessees will no longer recognise the lease ex- 
	 pense	as	an	operating	expense	in	EBITDA.	The	 
 expense will be depreciation/amortisation and  
	 interest	expense	outside	of	EBITDA.

The Group has continued to progress its assess-
ment of the impact adoption of the standard will 
have. This assessment has been focused on 
reviewing the contractual terms of the Group’s 
various leases, which are currently designated as 
operating leases. 

For the period ended 30 June 2018, the Group has 
assessed that, if early adopted, IFRS 16 would 
have likely resulted in a right-to-use asset and cor-
responding lease liabilities being brought on to the 
Balance Sheet. In addition, while there would have 
likely been an immaterial change to Total Compre-
hensive Loss for the Period, early adoption of IFRS 
16 would have likely resulted in a positive impact 
on EBITDA.

The Group will continue to assess the impact that 
adoption of this standard will have on the Balance 
Sheet and EBITDA moving forward.

24. Contingencies

Legal Claims

At 30 June 2018, the Group has no known open 
claims or lawsuits against it.

Contingent Liabilities

The Group had no contingent liabilities as at 30 
June 2018 or 2017. 

Cross Guarantees

As a policy, the Group does not undertake any 
cross guarantees.

25. Events after the Balance 
Sheet Date

On 2 July 2018, the Group hired Shashi Tripathi as 
Chief Technology Officer.  

On 23 August 2018, PREVENT trial results pub-
lished with outstanding initial data. The authors 
from the PREVENT trial concluded that L-Dex is 
very sensitive in the assessment of sub-clinical 
lymphoedema in patients with a history of breast 
cancer. The paper also supports the recommen-
dation for an aggressive measurement protocol 
consisting of an L-Dex assessment every three 
months, especially during the first 6 to 12 months 
post-surgery to facilitate identification of sub-clin-
ical lymphoedema.

On 24 August 2018, BIS and L-Dex suggested as 
new standard of care for cancer survivors at risk 
of developing lymphoedema at the first education-
al seminar to be presented by the Principal Investi-
gator of the PREVENT trial – “Removing the Mys-
tery Around Bioimpedance – Moving Towards a 
New Standard of Care”. The presentation was the 
first in a series of seminars to take place across 
the US and Australia and included top-line results 
from the interim analysis of the PREVENT trial.
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26. Financial Risk Management 
Objectives and Policies

The Group’s principal financial instruments com-
prise receivables, payables, cash and short-term 
deposits.

Risk Exposures and Responses

The Group has various financial instruments such 
as trade debtors and trade creditors, which arise 
directly from its operations. It is, and has been 
throughout the period under review, the Group’s 
policy that no trading in financial instruments 
shall be undertaken.

The Group manages its exposure to risks in accor-
dance with the Group’s financial risk management 
policy. The objective of the policy is to support 
the delivery of the Group’s financial targets while 
protecting future financial security. The Board re-
views and agrees to policies for managing these 
risks which are summarised below.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial 
instruments are credit risk, interest rate risk, for-
eign currency risk and liquidity risk. The Group 
uses different methods to measure and manage 
different types of risks to which it is exposed. 
These include monitoring levels of exposure to 
interest rate and foreign exchange risk and as-
sessments of market forecasts for interest rate 
and foreign exchange. Ageing analyses and moni-
toring of specific credit allowances are undertaken 
to manage credit risk. Liquidity risk is monitored 
through the development of future rolling cash 
flow forecasts.

Interest Rate Risk

At balance date, the Group had the following mix 
of financial assets exposed to Australian and US 
interest rate risk that are not designated in cash 
flow hedges:

2018 
$000 

2017
$000  

Financial Assets

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Restricted Cash, Current and Non-current

Net Exposure

31,345

95

31,440

54,884

92

54,976

The Group does not enter into interest rate swaps, 
designated to hedge underlying assets or debt ob-
ligations, to manage the interest rate risk.

The Group consistently analyses its interest rate 
exposure. Within this analysis, consideration is 
given to potential renewals of existing positions, 

alternative financing, and the mix of fixed and vari-
able interest rates.

At 30 June 2018, if interest rates had moved, as  
illustrated in the table below, with all other vari-
ables held constant, post-tax loss and equity 
would have been affected as follows:

2018 
$000 

Post Tax Loss 
Higher / (Lower)

2017
$000  

+1.0% (100 Basis Points)

-0.5% (50 Basis Points)

314

(157)

550

(275)

The movements in loss are due to higher/lower 
interest income from variable rate cash balances. 
Significant assumptions used in the interest rate 
sensitivity analysis include:

• Reasonably possible movements in interest  
 rates were determined based on the Group’s cur 
	 rent	credit	rating	and	relationships	with	finan- 
 cial institutions and economic forecaster’s  
 expectations.

• The net exposure at the balance sheet date  
 is representative of what the Group was and  
 is expecting to be exposed to in the next twelve  
 months from the balance sheet date.

Foreign Currency Risk

As a result of operations in the US and purchases 
of inventory denominated in United States dollars 
(USD), the Group’s balance sheet can be affected 
by movements in the USD/AUD exchange rates. 
The Group has transactional currency exposure 

related to USD, EUR, and GBP resulting from sales 
activities into the US and Europe. 

The Group holds the majority of its funds in the 
functional currency of the entity where the funds 
are expected to be spent. Only funds held in cur-
rencies other than an entity’s functional currency 
are considered at risk of foreign currency fluctu-
ations.

The Group does not enter into any forward con-
tracts or any other instrument to hedge the curren-
cy exposure, as the Group maintains a significant 
portion of available funds in USD to match USD 
expected expenses. 

Whilst the Group commenced operations in Eu-
rope during the prior year, the amounts that are 
sensitive foreign currency risk are deemed imma-
terial, other than the financial assets denoted.

At 30 June 2018, the Group had the following ex-
posure to foreign currency:

2018 
$000 

2017
$000  

Financial Assets

Cash and Cash Equivalents - USD

Cash and Cash Equivalents - EUR

Cash and Cash Equivalents - GBP

Trade and Other Receivables - USD

Trade and Other Receivables - EUR (i)

Trade and Other Receivables - GBP (ii)

Trade and Other Receivables - NZD (iii)

Financial Liabilities

Trade and Other Payables - USD

Net Exposure

210

7

1

109

-

-

-

327

-

327

364

-

-

9

252

208

-

833

51

782

(i) EUR is Euro
(ii) GBP is Great Britain Pound
(iii) NZD is New Zealand Doller
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At 30 June 2018, had the Australian dollar moved 
against the US dollar, as illustrated in the table 
below, with all other variables held constant, post-

tax loss and equity would have been affected as 
follows:

2018 
$000 

Post Tax Loss 
Higher / (Lower)

2017
$000  

AUD to Foreign Currency + 15% (2017: +15%)

AUD to Foreign Currency  - 15% (2017: -15%)

(96)

414

(41)

102

 

26. Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies

Significant assumptions used in the foreign cur-
rency exposure sensitivity analysis include the 
following:

• Reasonable possible movements in foreign ex- 
 change rates were determined based on a re- 
 view of the last two years’ historical movements  
 and economic forecasters’ expectations.

• The reasonably possible movement was calcu- 
 lated by taking the USD spot rates at balance  
 date, moving this spot rate by the reasonably  
 possible movements and then re-converting  
 the USD into AUD with the “new spot-rate”.  This  
	 methodology	reflects	the	translation	methodol- 
 ogy undertaken by the Group.

• The net exposure at balance date is represen- 
 tative of what the Group was and is expecting  
 to be exposed to in the next twelve months from  
 balance date.

•	 The	sensitivity	analysis	does	not	include	finan- 
 cial instruments that are non-monetary items as  
 these are not considered to give rise to currency  
 risk.

Sensitivities were only calculated on USD balanc-
es in instances where the functional currency is 
not the USD.

Credit Risk

Credit risk arises from the financial assets of the 
Group, which comprise cash and cash equivalents, 
trade and other receivables and other financial as-
sets. The Group’s exposure to credit risk arises 
from potential default of the counter party, with a 

maximum exposure equal to the carrying amount 
of these instruments. Exposure at balance date is 
addressed in each applicable note.

The Group does not hold any credit derivatives to 
offset its credit exposure.

The Group seeks to trade only with recognised, 
creditworthy third parties, and as such collateral is 
typically not requested nor is it the Group’s policy 
to securitise its trade and other receivables.  

In addition, receivable balances are monitored on 
an ongoing basis with the result that the Group’s 
experience of bad debts is not significant.

With respect to credit risk arising from other finan-
cial assets of the Group, the exposure to credit 
risk arises from default of the counter party, with a 
maximum exposure equal to the carrying amount 
of these instruments.

There are no significant concentrations of cred-
it risk within the Group and only $75,000 in out-
standing term deposits held at the end of the  
financial year (2017: $1,500,000). The Group holds 
a large percentage of cash in Money Market ac-
counts through Bank of America in the US. These 
accounts are not federally insured, but are highly 
rated and highly regulated investment funds that 
carry low risk of default.

The Parent has a policy of lending to its wholly 
owned subsidiaries ensuring their continued oper-
ations. The subsidiaries are continually monitored 
and should there be any risk that they are unable 
to repay the debt appropriate steps will be taken 
to remedy this situation.

Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk arises from the financial liabilities 
of the Group and the Group’s subsequent ability 
to meet their obligations to repay their financial 
liabilities as and when they fall due.

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance be-
tween continuity of funding and flexibility through 
the use of bank overdrafts, bank loans and finance 
leases. The Group has no bank overdrafts or bank 
loans at 30 June 2018.

The table below reflects all contractually fixed pay-
ments and receivables for settlement, repayments 
and interest resulting from recognised financial 
assets and liabilities as of 30 June 2018. Cash 
flows for financial assets and liabilities without 
fixed amount or timing are based on the condi-
tions existing at 30 June 2018.

Maturity Analysis of Financial Assets 
and Liabilities

The risk implied from the values shown in the ta-

ble below, reflects a balanced view of cash inflows 
and outflows. Trade payables, and other financial 
liabilities mainly originate from the financing of 
assets used in ongoing operations such as prop-
erty, plant, equipment and investments in working 
capital e.g. inventories and trade receivables.

These assets are considered in the Group’s overall 
liquidity risk. To monitor existing financial assets 
and liabilities as well as to enable an effective con-
trolling of future risks, the Group has established 
comprehensive risk reporting covering their world-
wide business unit that reflects expectations of 
management of expected settlement of financial 
assets and liabilities.

Liquid assets comprising cash and cash equiva-
lents, restricted cash, trade and other receivables, 
and other financial assets are considered in the 
Group’s overall liquidity risk. The Group monitors 
that sufficient liquid assets are available to meet 
all the required short-term cash payments.

31,345

4,113

-

35,458

2,121

33,337

54,884

3,804

-

58,688

2,392

56,296

-

-

95

95

-

95

-

-

92

92

-

92

-

193

-

193

395

(202)

-

-

65

65

185

(120)

31,345

4,306

95

35,746

2,516

33,230 

54,884

3,804

157

58,845

2,577

56,268 

Liquid Financial Assets

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Trade and Other Receivables

Other Financial Assets

Subtotal

Financial Liabilities

Trade and Other Payables

Net Flow

Liquid Financial Assets

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Trade and Other Receivables

Other Financial Assets

Subtotal

Financial Liabilities

Trade and Other Payables

Net Flow

	≤	6	months 
$000

	≤	6	months 
$000

 Year Ended 30 June 2018

 Year Ended 30 June 2017

 1–5 years 
$000

 1–5 years 
$000

6–12 months 
$000

6–12 months 
$000

Total
$000

Total
$000

The Group monitors rolling forecasts of liquidity on the basis of expected cash flow.
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27. Financial Instruments

Fair Values

Fair values have been determined as follows:

Cash and cash equivalents: 
The carrying amount approximates fair value be-
cause of the short-term maturity and/or because 
the interest rates applied are variable interest 
rates.

Restricted cash: 
The carrying amount approximates fair value be-
cause the interest rates applied are variable in-
terest rates.

Trade receivables and payables: 
The carrying amount approximates fair value  
because of the short-term maturity.

Other financial assets: 
By reference to the current market value of anoth-
er instrument which is substantially the same or 
is calculated based on expected cash flows of the 
underlying net asset base of the financial asset.

Management have assessed that the fair values 
of the following assets approximate their carrying 
amounts: 

31,345

31

3,306

64

35,746

2,516

2,516

31,345

31

3,306

64

35,746

2,516

2,516

54,884

31

3,804

127

58,846

2,577

2,577

54,884

31

3,804

127

58,846

2,577

2,577

Financial Assets

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Restricted Cash

Trade and Other Receivables

Other Financial Assets

Financial Liabilities

Trade and Other Payables

 2018
$000

Carrying Amount Fair Value

 Year Ended 30 June 2018  2018
$000

2017 
$000

2017
$000

28. Significant Accounting  
Policies

Significant Accounting Judgements,
Estimates and Assumptions

The preparation of the Group’s consolidated fi-
nancial statements requires Management to 
make judgements, estimates and assumptions 
that affect the reported amounts in the financial 
statements. Management continually evaluates 
its judgements and estimates in relation to assets, 
liabilities, contingent assets and liabilities, com-
mitments, revenue and expenses. Management 
bases its judgements and estimates on historical 
experience and on other various factors it believes 

to be reasonable under the circumstances, the  
results of which form the basis of the carrying  
values of assets and liabilities that are not readily 
apparent from other sources.

Management has identified the following critical 
accounting policies for which significant judge-
ments, estimates and assumptions are made. 
Actual results may differ from these estimates 
under different assumptions and conditions and 
may materially affect financial results or the finan-
cial position reported in future periods.

Further details of the nature of these assumptions 
and conditions may be found in the relevant notes 
to the financial statements.

Impairment of Non-Financial Assets 
Other than Goodwill

The Group assesses impairment of all assets at 
each reporting date by evaluating conditions spe-
cific to the Group and to the particular asset that 
may lead to impairment. These include product 
and manufacturing performance, technology, eco-
nomic and political environments and future sales
expectations. If an impairment trigger exists, the 
recoverable amount of the asset is determined.  

For assets other than inventory, the impairment 
triggers used by the Group did not show any in-
dication of impairment as at 30 June 2018. As a 
result, no impairment has been formally estimat-
ed and no impairment loss has been recognised 
for these assets for this financial period. Refer 
to Note 12 for the complete details regarding  
impairment testing. 

Impairment of Goodwill and Intangibles 
with Indefinite Useful Lives

The Group determines whether goodwill and intan-
gibles with indefinite useful lives are impaired at 
least on an annual basis. This requires an estima-
tion of the recoverable amount of the cash gener-
ating units, using a value in use discounted cash 
flow methodology, to which the goodwill and in-
tangibles with indefinite useful lives are allocated. 
Management determined that no impairment loss 
should be recognised for this financial reporting 
period. The assumptions used in this estimation 
of goodwill and intangibles with indefinite useful 
lives are discussed in Note 12.

Inventory Impairment

The Group reviews the value of inventories held to 
determine if inventories are being held at the low-
er of cost and net realisable value. This requires 
a determination by Management of the cost of  
inventories held and the subsequent recognition 
of these items as expenses, including any write-
down to net realisable value. The review applied at 
30 June 2018 showed that due to the commercial 
availability of SOZO, an obsolescence indicator is 
likely to be present for legacy BIS measurement 
devices. An impairment loss of approximately 
$709,000 was recognised during this financial 
reporting period related to BIS measurement  
devices and components. 

Taxation

The Group’s accounting policy for taxation re-
quires management’s judgement as to the types 
of arrangements considered to be a tax on income 
in contrast to an operating cost. Judgement is 
also required in assessing whether deferred tax 
assets and certain deferred tax liabilities are rec-
ognised on the balance sheet. Deferred tax assets, 
including those arising from un-recouped tax loss-
es, capital losses and temporary differences, are 
recognised only where it is considered more like-
ly than not that they will be recovered, which is 
dependent on the generation of sufficient future 
taxable profits. Deferred tax liabilities arising from 
temporary differences in investments, caused 
principally by retained earnings held in foreign tax 
jurisdictions, are recognised unless repatriation of 
retained earnings can be controlled and are not 
expected to occur in the foreseeable future.

Assumptions about the generation of future tax-
able profits and repatriation of retained earnings 
depend on management’s estimates of future 
cash flows. These depend on estimates of future 
production and sales volumes, operating costs, 
capital expenditure, dividends and other capital 
management transactions. Judgements are also 
required about the application of income tax leg-
islation. These judgements and assumptions are 
subject to risk and uncertainty, hence there is a 
possibility that changes in circumstances will  
alter expectations, which may impact the amount 
of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities 
recognised on the balance sheet and the amount 
of other tax losses and temporary differences not 
yet recognised. Refer to Note 19 for the complete 
details regarding deferred tax assets and deferred 
tax liabilities.
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Development Costs

Under AASB 138 Intangible Assets, Management 
must determine the degree to which items are rec-
ognised as intangible assets, whether those items 
are purchased or self-created (at cost). Items are 
capitalised, as opposed to expensed, if, and only if 
(1) it is probable that the future economic benefits 
that are attributable to the asset will flow to the 
entity and (2) the cost of the asset can be mea-
sured reliably and other criteria outlined in respect 
of development costs are met.

This requires Management to make judgements 
as to the probability of future economic benefits of 
development project costs incurred by the Group, 
as well as to determine when technical and com-
mercial feasibility of the assets for sale of use 
have been established. 

Onerous Contracts

The Group recognises onerous contract provisions 
when the benefits of the contract are not expected 
to exceed the costs to be incurred. Judgement is 
required in determining the future benefits to be 
obtained from a contract as assumptions must be 
made regarding future events, including the level 
and pricing of future sales.

Research and Development Tax Incentive

The Group measures the amount of refund from 
the Australian Tax Office in relation to the research 
and development tax incentive on an annual  
basis. This requires an estimation by Management 
of the eligible expenses under the AusIndustry 
guidelines of self-assessment for the tax credit. 
Management works in conjunction with registered 
tax agents and AusIndustry to determine the eligi-
bility of expenses and recognises a receivable and 
other income when there is reasonable assurance 
such amounts will be received.

Share-based Payment Transactions

The Group measures the cost of equity-settled 
transactions with employees and consultants 
by reference to the fair value of the equity instru-
ments at the date at which they are granted. The 
fair value is determined by management. The 
Black Scholes model is used for option grants 

without conditions, while the Monte Carlo model 
is used for option grants with conditions. The as-
sumptions are detailed in Note 18. The accounting 
estimates and assumptions relating to equity-set-
tled share-based payments would have no impact 
on the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
within the next annual reporting period but may 
impact expenses and equity.
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Basis of Preparation

The financial report of the Group for the year end-
ed 30 June 2018 was authorised for issue in ac-
cordance with a resolution of the Directors on 30 
August 2018.

ImpediMed Limited is a for profit company lim-
ited by shares incorporated in Australia whose 
shares are publicly traded on the Australian Stock 
Exchange. The nature of the operations and prin-
cipal activities of the Group are described in the 
Directors’ Report.

The financial report is a general-purpose financial 
report, which has been prepared in accordance 
with the requirements of the Corporations Act 
2001, Australian Accounting Standards and other 
authoritative pronouncements of the Australian 
 
Accounting Standards Board. The financial report 
has also been prepared on a historical cost ba-
sis. The financial report is presented in Australian 
dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest 
thousand dollars ($000) unless otherwise stated.

Compliance with IFRS

The financial report complies with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued 
by the International Accounting Standards Board.

New Accounting Standards 
and Interpretations

Changes in Accounting Policies 
and Disclosures

The accounting policies adopted are consistent 
with those of the previous financial year except 
as follows: 

There were no new or amended Australian Ac-
counting Standards and AASB interpretations that 
the Group adopted as of 1 July 2017 that had a 
material impact on the financial statements.

Accounting Standards and Interpretations 
Issued but not yet Effective

Australian Accounting Standards and Interpreta-
tions that have recently been issued or amended 
but are not yet effective and have not been adopt-
ed by the Group for the annual reporting period 
ended 30 June 2018. 

These standards and interpretations are outlined 
in the table below: 

28. Significant Accounting Policies

Application date 
of standard*

TitleReference Application date 
for Group*

AASB 9

AASB 15

AASB 16

AASB 22

1 January 2018

1 January 2018

1 January 2019

1 January 2018

Financial Instruments

Revenue from Contracts with Customers

Leases

Foreign Currency Transactions 
and Advance Consideration

1 July 2018

1 July 2018

1 July 2019

1 July 2018

* Designates the beginning of the applicable annual reporting period.F
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During the year, the Group conducted an assess-
ment of the impact of AASB 9. AASB 9 replaces 
AASB 139 Financial Instruments - Recognition 
and Measurement. The Group assessed the po-
tential impact of credit risk as it relates to trade 
receivables stemming from long-term contracts 
with customers. The Group does not expect a 
significant impact on its balance sheet or equity 
on applying the classification and measurement 
requirements of AASB 9.

AASB 15 establishes a five-step model to account 
for revenue arising from contracts with custom-
ers. This new revenue standard will supersede all 
current revenue recognition standards under the 
Australian Accounting Standards. A full retrospec-
tive application or a modified retrospective appli-
cation is required for annual periods beginning 
on or after 1 January 2018. The Group plans to 
adopt the new standard using the full retrospec-
tive method. During the 2018 financial year, the 
Group performed a full assessment of AASB 15. 
Further detail as to the impact of AASB 15 is avail-
able in note 5.

During the year, the Group also completed an 
assessment of the impact of AASB 16. Further 
details as to the potential impact AASB 16 on the 
Group is available in note 23. 

Basis of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise 
the financial statements of ImpediMed Limited 
and its subsidiaries (as outlined in note 21) as 
at and for the period ended 30 June each year 
(the Group). Control is achieved when the Group 
is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from 
its involvement with the investee and has the abil-
ity to affect those returns through its power over 
the investee. Specifically, the Group controls an 
investee if and only if the Group has:

• Power over the investee,

• Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its  
 involvement with the investee, and

• The ability to use its power over the investee to  
 affect its returns.

When the Group has less than a majority of the 
voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group 
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in 
assessing whether it has power over an investee, 
including:

• The contractual arrangement with the other vote  
 holders of the investee,

• Rights arising from other contractual 
 arrangements,

• The Group’s voting rights and potential voting  
 rights.

The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls 
an investee if facts and circumstances indicate 
that there are changes to one or more of the three 
elements of control. Consolidation of a subsidi-
ary begins when the Group obtains control over 
the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses 
control of the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other com-
prehensive income (OCI) are attributed to the eq-
uity holders of the parent of the Group and to the 
non-controlling interests, even if this results in 
the non-controlling interests having a deficit bal-
ance. When necessary, adjustments are made to 
the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring 
their accounting policies into line with the Group’s 
accounting policies. All intra-group assets and lia-
bilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows 
relating to transactions between members of the 
Group are eliminated in full on consolidation. 

Foreign Currency Translation

Functional and Presentation Currency

Both the functional and the presentation currency 
of the Parent are Australian dollars ($ or AUD). The 
US subsidiaries’ functional currency is the United 
States dollar (USD) which is translated to the pre-
sentation currency.

Transactions & Balances 

Transactions in foreign currencies are initially re-
corded in the functional currency by applying the 
exchange rates ruling at the date of the transac-
tion. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated 
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rate of 
exchange ruling at the balance sheet date.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms 
of historical cost in foreign currency are translated 
using the exchange rate as at the date of the initial 
transaction. Non-monetary items measured at fair 
value in a foreign currency are translated using 
the exchange rates at the date when the fair value 
was determined.

Differences arising on settlement or translation 
of monetary items are recognised in profit or loss 
with the exception of monetary items that are 
designated as part of the hedge of the Group’s 
net investment of a foreign operation. These are 
recognised in other comprehensive income until 
the net investment is disposed of, at which time 
the cumulative amount is reclassified to profit 
or loss. Tax charges and credits attributable to 
exchange differences on those monetary items 
are also recorded in other comprehensive income.

Translation of Group Companies Functional 
Currency to Presentation Currency 

The results of the US subsidiaries are translated 
into Australian Dollars (presentation currency) 
as at the average monthly exchange rate each 
month. Assets and liabilities are translated at ex-
change rates prevailing at balance date. Exchange 
variations resulting from the translation are rec-
ognised in the foreign currency translation reserve 
in equity.  

On consolidation, exchange differences arising 
from the translation of the net investment in US 
subsidiaries are taken to the foreign currency 
translation reserve. If a US subsidiary were sold, 
the proportionate share of exchange differences 
would be transferred out of equity and recognised 
in profit or loss.

Comparatives

Where applicable, comparatives have been adjust-
ed to disclose them on the same basis as current 
period figures.

In accordance with a resolution of the Directors 
of ImpediMed Limited, I state that:

1. In the opinion of the Directors of ImpediMed  
 Limited:

(a) the consolidated financial statements and  
 notes and the Remuneration Report in the Di- 
 rectors’  Report are in accordance with the  
 Corporations Act 2001, including:
 (i) giving a true and fair view of the consolidat- 
   ed entity’s financial position as at 30 June  
   2018 and of its performance for the year  
   ended on that date; and
 (ii) complying with Australian Accounting  
   Standards (including the Australian Ac- 
   counting Interpretations) and the Corpora- 
   tions Regulations 2001; 

(b)  the consolidated financial statements and  
notes also comply with International Financial 
Reporting Standards as disclosed in note 28.

(c) there are reasonable grounds to believe that  
 the Company will be able to pay its debts as and  
 when they become due and payable. 

2.  This declaration has been made after receiving 
the declarations required to be made to the  
Directors in accordance with section 295A of 
the Corporations Act 2001 for the financial 
year ending 30 June 2018.

On behalf of the Board

28. Significant Accounting Policies
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ImpediMed Limited 28. Significant Accounting Policies / Directors’ Declaration

Directors’ Declaration

Scott Ward 
Chairman

Judith Downes 
Director

30 August 2018
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Shareholder Information (Unaudited)
Additional information required under ASX Listing Rule 4.10 and not shown elsewhere in this Annual Report 
is as follows. This information is current as at 3 August 2018.

(A) DISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDERS

The distribution of Issued Capital is as follows:

(B) DISTRIBUTION OF OPTIONS HOLDERS

The distribution of Issued Capital is as follows:

(C) DISTRIBUTION OF PERFORMANCE RIGHTS HOLDERS
The distribution of unquoted Performance Rights on issue are:

(D) LESS THAN MARKETABLE PARCELS OF ORDINARY SHARES

There are 495 shareholders with unmarketable parcels totaling 260,730 shares.

Ordinary  
Shares

Unlisted 
Options

Unlisted 
Options

Number of  
Shareholders

Number 
of Holders

Number 
of Holders

Size of Holding

Size of Holding

Size of Holding

% of Issued 
Capital

% of Options

% of Options

315,309,536

54,191,245

6,066,699

3,256,098

170,077

378,993,655

31,259,968

966,070

-

-

-

32,226,038

4,056,500

375,000

-

-

-

4,431,500

279

1,776

774

1,030

418

4,277

31

19

-

-

-

50

8

6

-

-

-

14

100,001 and Over

10,001 to 100,000

5,001 to 10,000

1,001 to 5,000

1 to 1,000

Total

100,001 and Over

10,001 to 100,000

5,001 to 10,000

1,001 to 5,000

1 to 1,000

Total

100,001 and Over

10,001 to 100,000

5,001 to 10,000

1,001 to 5,000

1 to 1,000

Total

83.20%

14.30%

1.60%

0.86%

0.04%

100.00%

97.00%

3.00%

-

-

-

100%

91.54%

8.46%

-

-

-

100%
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(E) 20 LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS

The twenty largest shareholders of quoted equity securities are as follows:

(F) SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

The names of the Substantial Shareholders listed in the Group’s Register as at 24 August 2018:

Shareholder % of Issued 
Capital

Number of Fully Paid 
Ordinary Shares

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

14.32%

9.50%

9.24%

7.98%

6.41% 

5.56%

5.14%

1.42%

0.89% 

0.79% 

0.75%

0.59%

0.58%

0.51%

0.39%

0.37% 

0.33%

0.31%

0.30%

0.29%

65.68%

54,263,027

36,005,473

35,024,509

30,254,787

24,285,465

21,067,272  

19,470,768 

5,380,151

3,363,322

3,011,288 

2,827,711

2,250,000  

2,186,286 

1,948,624

1,496,628 

1,400,334

1,250,000

 1,193,783

1,122,368

 1,105,117 

248,906,913

  378,993,655

ImpediMed Limited Shareholder Information (Unaudited)

HSBC CUSTODY NOMINEES (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED

CITICORP NOMINEES PTY LIMITED 

J P MORGAN NOMINEES AUSTRALIA LIMITED

NATIONAL NOMINEES LIMITED

STARFISH TECHNOLOGY FUND 1 LP

HSBC CUSTODY NOMINEES (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED - A/C 2

BNP PARIBAS NOMINEES PTY LTD

HSBC CUSTODY NOMINEES (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED

BNP PARIBAS NOMS PTY LTD

THORPE ROAD NOMINEES PTY LTD

SANDHURST TRUSTEES LTD

MOORE FAMILY NOMINEE PTY LTD

PAKASOLUTO PTY LIMITED

CITICORP NOMINEES PTY LIMITED

SUNLORA PTY LTD

MS NICOLA JAGUSCH

PASAGEAN PTY LIMITED

THORPE ROAD NOMINEES PTY LTD

SUNLORA PTY LIMITED

MERRILL LYNCH (AUSTRALIA) NOMINEES PTY LIMITED

Total

Total Quoted Equity Securities

Number of fully paid 
Ordinary Shares

Shareholder % of Issued 
Capital

Allan Gray Australia Pty Ltd and its related bodies corporate

FIL Limited and its related bodies corporate

Starfish Technology Fund 1, Lp and related persons and 
bodies corporate

Macquarie Group Limited

Paradice Investment Management Pty Ltd

Kinetic Investment Partners Ltd

Total

63,713,308 

28,013,479  

25,238,045

23,496,932

22,763,711

19,466,639

182,692,114

16.96%

7.46%

6.77%

6.19%

6.06%

5.13%

48.57%
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(G) RESTRICTED SECURITIES

The Company had no restricted securities on  
issue as at 3 August 2018.

(H) VOTING RIGHTS

In accordance with the Constitution, each mem-
ber present at a meeting, whether in person, or 
by proxy, or by power of attorney, or in a duly  
authorised representative in the case of a corpo-
rate member, shall have one vote on a show of 
hands, and one vote for each fully paid ordinary 
share, on a poll. Performance rights and Options 
have no voting rights.

(I) ON-MARKET BUY-BACKS

There is no current on-market buy-back in relation 
the Group’s securities.

Shareholder Information (Unaudited)
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